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Petitioner proved that respondent violated the City Charter and 

petitioner’s rules by using City funds for campaign-related travel 

expenses.  Fine of $155,000 and restitution of $319,794.20 

recommended.   

 

Respondent sought judicial review, alleging violations of his First 

and Fourteenth Amendment rights and that the underlying Report 

and Recommendation was arbitrary and capricious.  The Court 

found respondent’s claims to be meritless and that his 

constitutional claims were unpreserved for review, ultimately 

granting the agency’s motion to dismiss respondent’s petition.   

______________________________________________________ 

 

NEW YORK CITY OFFICE OF 

ADMINISTRATIVE TRIALS AND HEARINGS 

 

In the Matter of 

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST BOARD 

Petitioner 

- against – 

BILL DE BLASIO 

Respondent 

______________________________________________________ 

 

REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION 

KEVIN F. CASEY, Administrative Law Judge 

Petitioner, the Conflicts of Interest Board (“the Board”), brought this proceeding against 

respondent Bill de Blasio, former Mayor of New York City, under Chapter 68 of the New York 

City Charter and Title 53 of the Rules of the City of New York.  The petition alleges that 

respondent violated section 2604(b)(2) of the City Charter and section 1-13(b) of the Board’s rules 

by having the City pay the out-of-state travel expenses incurred by respondent’s New York City 

Police Department (“NYPD”) security detail in 2019, during respondent’s presidential campaign 

(ALJ Ex. 1).  Respondent denies any wrongdoing (ALJ Ex. 2).   

At trial on December 20, 2022, held remotely via videoconference, petitioner relied on 

testimony from two witnesses and documentary evidence, including a transcript of an interview 
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with respondent.  Respondent offered documentary evidence and testimony from two witnesses.  

The record was closed on February 2, 2023, following receipt of post-trial submissions. 

For the reasons below, I find that petitioner proved the charges and recommend that 

respondent be fined $155,000 and ordered to reimburse the City for $319,794.20. 

   

 

BACKGROUND 

The material facts are undisputed.  When respondent was Mayor, from 2014 through 2021, 

NYPD provided him and his immediate family with police security.  From May 2019 to September 

2019, NYPD security accompanied respondent or his wife on 31 out-of-state trips in connection 

with respondent’s presidential campaign.  Neither respondent nor his presidential campaign 

reimbursed the City for $319,794.20 in travel costs incurred by NYPD for those campaign trips.   

Petitioner, the independent agency responsible for interpreting and enforcing the City’s 

conflicts of interest laws, contends that requiring the City to pay out-of-state travel expenses 

incurred by NYPD for respondent’s presidential campaign violates the ban against using City 

resources for a non-City purpose (ALJ Ex. 1).  Respondent disagrees and contends that the travel 

costs were for a City purpose (ALJ Ex. 2).  Because out-of-state travel costs incurred by NYPD 

for respondent’s presidential campaign were not for a City purpose, respondent violated the 

Charter and petitioner’s rules by failing to reimburse the City for those costs. 

 

Petitioner’s Evidence 

 The Board’s May 15, 2019, advisory letter 

On May 8, 2019, Kapil Longani, Counsel to the Mayor, wrote to the Board and stated that 

“we would greatly appreciate” guidance on two questions based on “the assumption that NYPD 

has determined that security is required” (Pet. Ex. 1).  First, “[C]an the City pay all costs associated 

with providing NYPD-approved security for the Mayor on a political trip?” (Id.).  Second, “[C]an 

the City pay all costs associated with providing security for the Mayor’s immediate family 

members on a political trip?” (Id.).     

On May 15, 2019, the Board sent a written response to Longani (Pet. Ex. 2).  The Board 

stated that section 2604(2) of the Charter, as interpreted by section 1-13 of petitioner’s rules, 

“prohibits a public servant’s use of City time or City resources for any non-City purpose, including 
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to advance a political campaign” (Id. at 1).  After noting that Longani’s questions were of “first 

impression” and “not clearly covered by any Board Rules or prior advisory opinions,” the Board 

said that Advisory Opinion No. 2009-1 was the closest that it had come to addressing this issue 

(Id. at 2).  Summarizing the 2009 opinion, the Board stated, where NYPD determines that a car 

and security personnel are required to protect an elected official, the elected official could use the 

car and NYPD personnel for any lawful purpose, “including pursuit of outside business and 

political activities, without any reimbursement to the City, provided that the Elected Official is in 

the vehicle for all such use” (Id., quoting Conflicts of Interest Bd. Advisory Opinion No. 2009-1 

at 17 (Mar. 12, 2009)).  

The Board cautioned, however, that the 2009 Advisory Opinion addressed the proper use 

of official City vehicles and accompanying personnel, “and the kind of travel that could be 

accomplished by using a City vehicle, that is, presumably travel within driving distance of the 

City” (Pet. Ex. 2 at 2).  Recognizing the need to protect the Mayor at official, private, or political 

events, wherever they occur, the Board found that the City was obligated to pay for the salaries 

and overtime for NYPD security personnel (Id. at 3). 

 According to the Board, “the more difficult question” was whether the City must pay the 

additional costs associated with travel at a distance from the City in connection with a Mayor’s 

campaign for a non-City office (Id.).  The Board observed that the extra costs of providing police 

security at a distance from the City differ from a local event and “may require substantial public 

expenditure to support purely political activity” (Id.).  In the Board’s view, requiring the City to 

pay those additional non-salary costs would be using City resources for a non-City purpose and 

using an official position for financial gain or “personal or private” advantage in violation of the 

petitioner’s rules and the Charter (Id.).  The Board concluded that, when the Mayor or the Mayor’s 

family travels outside of the City seeking non-City elective office on behalf of the Mayor, the City 

may pay for the salary and overtime of NYPD security personnel, but “[a]ll other costs associated 

with such travel—such as airfare, rental cars, overnight accommodations, meals, and other 

reasonable incidental expenses—must not be borne by the City.  Rather, these costs must be paid 

or reimbursed by the Mayor’s campaign committee” (Id. at 4-5). 

On May 16, 2019, the day after the Board responded to Longani’s request for guidance, 

respondent announced his campaign for President of the United States (ALJ Ex. 1 ¶ 6).  During 

respondent’s four-month campaign, NYPD paid $319,794.20 for travel-related expenses 
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associated with providing security details for respondent and his wife on their out-of-town 

campaign trips (Pet. Ex. 18 at 5).  Those expenses included airfare, car rentals, overnight 

accommodations, meals, and other incidentals (Id. at 1).  Members of the security detail used 

NYPD credit cards, submitted expense reports and receipts, and received approval for all expenses, 

which NYPD deemed “for official NYPD business” (Pet. Ex. 5 at 2). 

 

Department of Investigation (“DOI”) investigation 

A few months after respondent launched his presidential campaign, petitioner asked DOI 

to investigate the costs of cars, hotels, food, and ancillary items incurred by the NYPD’s security 

detail for respondent’s presidential campaign (Tr. 38).  DOI Senior Inspector General Eleonora 

Rivkin and Inspector General Juve Hippolyte testified about their investigation (Rivkin: Tr. 38; 

Hippolyte: Tr. 56-57, 71-72).  Because DOI was already investigating reports regarding 

respondent’s use of NYPD security personnel, and the inquiries involved many of the same 

witnesses, DOI combined petitioner’s request with the existing investigations (Tr. 38). 

From September 2019 to April 2020, NYPD sent DOI hundreds of documents related to 

travel expenditures (Tr. 42, 44; Pet. Ex. 6).  As of April 2020, when NYPD redeployed staff due 

to the COVID pandemic, DOI was still missing information about a few campaign trips in 

September 2019 (Tr. 45-47, 50-52, 77, 81-82).  In July and October 2020, an attorney for 

respondent’s presidential campaign provided DOI with a list of all of respondent’s campaign trips, 

stated that respondent’s campaign had not reimbursed or made any payments to NYPD, and 

referred DOI to public disclosure reports that the campaign filed with the Federal Elections 

Commission (“FEC”) (Pet. Ex. 19).  In January and April 2021, DOI sent follow-up emails to 

NYPD regarding outstanding document requests (Tr. 52).  By May 28, 2021, DOI received all the 

documents that it had requested from NYPD (Tr. 54-55, 78, Pet. Exs. 9, 10).  DOI also interviewed 

15 to 20 people, including each member of respondent’s security detail, NYPD supervisors, City 

Hall staff, and federal security officials (Tr. 56-57). 

In July 2021, DOI interviewed respondent and his wife (Tr. 96).1  Petitioner introduced 

transcripts of those interviews at trial (Pet. Exs. 3, 4).  During her interview, respondent’s wife 

 
1 On July 22, 2021, one week before DOI interviewed respondent and his wife, Longani wrote to the Board 

asking it to reconsider its May 2019 advisory letter (Resp. Ex. 5).  The Board declined the request for 

reconsideration because it was untimely (Resp. Ex. 9).  See Charter § 2603(c)(2) (“Advisory opinions shall 

be issued only with respect to proposed future conduct or action by a public servant.”). 
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stated that she went on three or four campaign trips, including two trips without respondent, to 

South Carolina (Pet. Ex. 4 at 73-75).  She acknowledged that she was repeatedly told and it was 

“commonly known” that “government resources are not to be used for campaign purposes” (Id. at 

77-78).  However, she said that she did not know whether the campaign was obligated to reimburse 

the City for the NYPD security detail’s travel costs and she asserted that neither she nor respondent 

received guidance regarding reimbursement for those costs (Id. at 78). 

During respondent’s DOI interview, he stated that NYPD Inspector Howard Redmond and 

Deputy Commissioner John Miller advised him about security issues (Pet. Ex. 3 at 8, 27, 36, 78).  

Threats to respondent and his family increased after President Trump commented on respondent’s 

campaign (Id. at 69).  Respondent deferred to NYPD regarding the amount of security to be 

provided (Id. at 8-9, 31). 

Respondent told the interviewers that if he had questions about the City’s conflicts of 

interest laws, he checked with the Corporation Counsel or Mayor’s Counsel Longani (Id. at 11).  

As for using his NYPD security detail on campaign trips, respondent repeatedly told the 

interviewers that he had received conflicting advice and he suggested that it was an issue for others 

to resolve.  For example, when asked if he received any guidance on how to use the security detail 

in connection with his presidential campaign, respondent replied, “I certainly talked to my counsel, 

[Kapil] Longani,” and possibly the Corporation Counsel, and “it was obviously incumbent upon 

my counsel to advise what steps were appropriate” (Id. at 66-67). 

After clarifying that he was referring to Mayor’s Counsel Longani as “my counsel,” 

respondent said that there were many conversations between Longani and the attorney for the 

presidential campaign and “other members of the campaign team” regarding the security detail’s 

travel (Id. at 67).  Respondent said that Longani reported having a “very clear” conversation with 

the Board’s counsel and that Longani reported “what he viewed as absolutely contradictory or 

different” guidance (Id. at 67-68).  At that point, respondent’s personal attorney, Jonathan Bach, 

interrupted the interview and said that he wanted to be careful that no privilege was being waived 

(Id.).   

Respondent continued and said that, as far as he could tell, there was “very different 

guidance” and “an unresolved issue” (Id. at 68).  DOI’s Commissioner told respondent, that unlike 

privileged communications between respondent and his personal or campaign attorneys, any 

privilege regarding conversations between respondent and Longani “belongs to the City” (Id.).  
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Conversations between respondent and Longani could not be disclosed to the public or a third 

party without Corporation Counsel’s approval; however, respondent was authorized to disclose 

those conversations during the DOI interview (Id.).  Bach expressed his appreciation for that 

explanation and asked for a brief break to confer with respondent (Id.). 

When the interview resumed, an interviewer asked respondent about the guidance that 

Mayor’s Counsel had received and respondent replied that he “obviously” remembered “broad 

discussions” about security (Id. at 69).  The interviewer followed up and asked respondent, “Did 

you seek any guidance about the cost of traveling with a security detail on your presidential 

campaign?” (Id.).  Respondent replied that it was the job of campaign staff and campaign counsel 

“to figure out everything that would be entailed and how to handle it” (Id.).  After acknowledging 

that there were “efforts to get clarity on that front,” respondent stated, “[F]rom my point of view 

that was something that lawyers obviously had to work out” (Id. at 69-70).  Respondent said that, 

in addition to his campaign’s attorney, the “specific role” of Mayor’s Counsel was to “liaise” with 

the Board and “to understand in this unusual situation what was appropriate” (Id. at 70).  According 

to respondent, he did not receive what he “felt was a fully clear understanding,” he still did “not 

have a 100% clear understanding,” and it remained “an unresolved issue” (Id.). 

Asked whether he was aware of any correspondence between Longani and the Board 

regarding the travel costs of the security detail, respondent said that he was aware of a “dialogue,” 

but he did not know what was written (Id. at 74-75).  When the DOI interviewer showed respondent 

the Board’s May 2019 letter to Longani, respondent said that he was unsure whether he recognized 

the document, but he knew that there was written guidance and he had discussed it with NYPD 

(Id. at 75, 77-78).  Asked if he was aware the Board had advised Longani that NYPD had to be 

reimbursed for the security detail’s travel costs, respondent replied that it was his understanding 

that there was “more than one type of guidance provided” and it was “still an open question” (Id. 

at 76).  Respondent said that he had received “multiple points of information from multiple 

agencies, plus a historic record, wherein different pieces were in conflict.  Including how previous 

mayors had been treated” (Id. at 77).   

Based on information provided by NYPD and respondent or his campaign, DOI prepared 

a spreadsheet with all of the travel costs incurred by NYPD’s security detail on trips to Iowa, South 

Carolina, and other destinations for respondent’s presidential campaign (Tr. 101-02; Pet. Ex. 18).  
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It is unrebutted that the total travel cost of the security detail for the campaign was $319,794.20 

(Pet. Ex. 18 at 5). 
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Respondent’s evidence 

 Respondent did not testify at trial.  Instead, he called two witnesses: John Miller and Henry 

Berger.  Miller, who previously worked as an assistant director for the FBI and NYPD Deputy 

Commissioner for Intelligence and Counterterrorism, oversaw respondent’s security detail in 2019 

and testified about those security arrangements (Tr. 131-32).  According to Miller, NYPD made 

ongoing threat assessments for mayors and other elected officials (Tr. 134).  Those elected officials 

never received a bill from NYPD for security details (Tr. 145).  Miller emphasized that mayors are 

always on duty and expected to conduct the City’s business wherever they travel (Tr. 140-41).  For 

example, when respondent and his family traveled to Italy in 2014, NYPD paid the salaries and 

travel expenses of the security detail (Tr. 136).  Miller recalled that in 2019 threats across the 

country were “extraordinarily high” from militias and other groups (Tr. 136).  In Miller’s view, 

requiring an elected official to pay the costs associated with security would create a risk that the 

official would ignore NYPD’s advice and forego security (Tr. 142-43).  That, in turn, would pose 

a threat to safety and continuity of government (Tr. 143, 145). 

 Berger, an attorney who previously served as chair of the State’s Commission on Judicial 

Conduct, a member of the City Council, an attorney for numerous campaigns, and Special Counsel 

to the Mayor from February 2014 to July 2018, testified about other campaigns and respondent’s 

travel (Tr. 149-51).  For example, he recalled that he was an attorney on then Council Speaker 

Vallone’s campaigns for New York Governor in 1998 and New York City Mayor in 2001, and 

Vallone had the same security personnel for each campaign (Tr. 164-66).  According to Berger, 

the Board did not distinguish between those state and city campaigns when it came to the use of 

city resources (Id.).  

Prior to 2019, Berger served as Mayor’s Counsel and he spoke with the Board’s general 

counsel if there were questions regarding compliance with the City’s conflicts of interest laws (Tr. 

151).  When respondent and his family vacationed in Italy in 2014, Berger and the Board’s general 

counsel had a general discussion regarding staffing and security (Tr. 152).  Respondent and his 

family paid their own expenses for that trip and the City paid all of the costs for the NYPD security 

detail, a press secretary, and two other aides (Tr. 158; Resp. Ex. 5).   

 Berger acknowledged that the City’s conflicts of interest laws restricted the use of City 

resources and personnel for political activity (Tr. 163).  He said that there was a “bright line test” 

regarding political activity and respondent had received “a couple” of warning letters, including 



 - 9 - 

one regarding the use of his Blackberry to comment on political issues (Tr. 164).  According to 

Berger, the only exception to that rule related to security (Id.).  In his view, the Board’s rules and 

prior advisory opinions were “fairly clear” and the Board’s 2009 advisory opinion authorizes 

security for respondent’s political activity and campaigning outside of the City (Tr. 152-53, 156).  

He recalled that respondent went on political trips to England in 2014, Iowa in 2015, Wisconsin 

in 2016, and the Democratic National Convention in Philadelphia in 2016, and there was never 

any issue about the cost of the security detail (Tr. 152, 154, 156-57, 159-162).2 

  

The Charges   

 New York City’s conflicts of interest laws prohibit any public servant from engaging “in 

any business, transaction or private employment” or having “any financial or other private interest, 

direct or indirect, which is in conflict with the proper discharge of his or her official duties.”  

Charter § 2604(b)(2) (Lexis 2023).  Petitioner’s rules state that the use of City personnel or 

resources for a non-City purpose violates the Charter.  53 RCNY 1-13 (Lexis 2023); see NY 

Const., art. VIII, § 1 (prohibiting local governments from using public funds for a “private 

undertaking”); see also Stern v. Kramarsky, 84 Misc. 2d 447, 452-53 (Sup. Ct. N.Y. Co. 1975) 

(“Public funds are trust funds” and they may only be used for government operations).  

Petitioner alleges that, by requiring the City to pay for travel expenses incurred by NYPD’s 

security detail on 31 campaign-related trips, respondent violated the City’s conflicts of interest 

laws (ALJ Ex. 1 at 3).  First, petitioner contends that respondent acted in conflict with the proper 

discharge of his duties, in violation of section 2604(b)(2) of the Charter.  Second, petitioner alleges 

that respondent used City resources for a non-City purpose, in violation of section 2604(b)(2) of 

the Charter, pursuant to section 1-13(b) of the Board’s rules.  Petitioner proved both charges.   

 The Mayor is responsible for the “effectiveness and integrity of city government 

operations” (Pet. Mem. at 9, citing Charter § 8(a)).  Respondent violated section 2604(b)(2) of the 

Charter because his failure to reimburse the City for his security team’s travel expenses conflicted 

with his duty to prevent the misuse of City resources.  Respondent also violated section 2604(b)(2) 

 
2 Two days before trial, respondent sought to adjourn the proceedings because one of his witnesses, 

Longani, was out of town (Tr. 166).  I denied respondent’s request to adjourn the trial for one witness and 

offered to schedule a second day of trial to accommodate Longani’s schedule, but respondent rested after 

calling two witnesses and declined to call Longani as a witness (Tr. 166-67).  
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of the Charter, pursuant to section 1-13(b) of the Board’s Rules by using City resources for a non-

City purpose: his presidential campaign. 

 In its May 2019 advisory letter, responding to the request for guidance, the Board agreed 

that salaries and overtime for NYPD’s security detail serve the City’s purpose of protecting the 

Mayor.  However, the Board explained that requiring the City to pay additional out-of-town travel 

costs incurred by NYPD’s security detail for respondent’s presidential campaign, would be a use 

of City resources for a non-City purpose, within the meaning of section 1-13(b) of the Board’s 

Rules (Pet. Ex. 2 at 4).  The Board’s conclusion turned on three factors: 1) salaries and overtime 

for the NYPD security detail would generally be the same wherever the Mayor and the Mayor’s 

immediate family were located; 2) additional costs to put security in place at a distance from the 

City (including airfare, hotels, rental cars) may require substantial public expenditure to support 

purely political activity; and 3) ordinarily, those additional costs would not be incurred for political 

travel within the City, “but would be incurred as part of the Mayor’s campaign for non-City 

elective office for himself” (Id.).   

 Despite the Board’s clear guidance, respondent failed to reimburse the City for 

$319,794.20 in travel costs incurred by his security detail for 31 campaign trips.  As a result, he 

used City resources for a non-City purpose, in violation of the Charter and the Board’s rules.  See, 

e.g., Conflicts of Interest Bd. v. Peterson, OATH Index No. 2275/19 (May 14, 2020), modified on 

penalty, COIB Case No. 2016-126 (Jan. 29, 2021) ($2,500 fine imposed for using City resources 

to operate an unauthorized senior trip program); Conflict of Interest Bd. v. Kuczinski, OATH Index 

No. 1305/19 (Apr. 20, 2020), adopted, COIB Case No. 2017-156c (Mar. 12, 2021) ($15,500 fine 

imposed where a Department of Correction deputy commissioner used a City vehicle for personal 

trips that were unrelated to his commute or City work, in violation of section 2604(b)(2) of the 

Charter and section 1-13(b) of the Board’s rules); see also Matter of Hynes, COIB Case No. 2013-

771 (Mar. 23, 2018) ($40,000 fine imposed for violating section 2604(b)(2) of the Charter and 

section 1-13(b) of the Board’s rules, where District Attorney used City resources for a non-City 

purpose by using office computers, email, and personnel for his re-election campaign).  

 Among other claims, respondent contends that the charges should be dismissed because 

the Board acted too hastily and failed to engage in formal rulemaking (Resp. Mem. at 8, 12, 16, 

18); the Board’s May 2019 advisory letter is contrary to its 2009 Advisory Opinion (Id. at 2, 8); 

the Board failed to defer to NYPD expertise (Id. at 12, 33); and this proceeding is barred by the 



 - 11 - 

doctrine of laches because the Board acted too slowly by not commencing this action while he was 

still in office (Id. at 42).  Respondent’s claims are unavailing. 

 

The Board is not required to engage in additional rulemaking 

Respondent contends that the Board seeks to “enforce the May 2019 advice letter” without 

first conducting required rulemaking (Id. at 12).  On the contrary, the Board already has a rule 

prohibiting respondent’s conduct.  No additional rulemaking is required. 

Section 1-13(b) of the Board’s rules prohibit public servants from using City resources “for 

any non-City purpose.”  That provision covers a wide range of conduct.  See, e.g., Conflicts of 

Interest Bd. v. Allen, OATH Index No. 1791/07 at 5 (June 12, 2017), adopted, COIB Case No. 

2006-411 (Sept. 11, 2017) (excessive use of a City vehicle for personal business violates section 

1-13(b) of the Board’s rules); Conflicts of Interest Bd. v. Oberman, OATH Index No. 1657/14 

(Sept. 4, 2014), adopted, COIB Case No. 2013-609 (Nov. 6, 2014), aff’d, 148 A.D.3d 598 (1st 

Dep’t 2017) (using work phone to solicit donations for political campaign violates section 1-13(b) 

of the Board’s rules); see also Conflicts of Interest Bd. v. Powery, COIB Case No. 2004-466 (Apr. 

7, 2005) (school custodian violated section 1-13(b) of the Board’s rules by directing a secretary to 

type and edit private business documents on City time, using City equipment); Dep’t of Parks & 

Recreation v. Softleigh, OATH Index No. 1545/15 at 12 (July 24, 2015) (park worker violated 

Rule 1-13(b) by using City truck to pick up wood from a private residence without authorization).  

The Board is not required to issue a new rule to address every possible scenario where a public 

servant misuses City resources for a non-City purpose.  Public servants can seek guidance from 

the Board, which will provide advice based on the facts presented.  See Charter § 2603(c).  That is 

what happened here.  

The City’s Administrative Procedure Act (“CAPA”) requires agencies to provide public 

notice and an opportunity to comment on new rules before they are issued.  Charter 1043[b].  

CAPA defines a rule as “any statement or communication of general applicability that (i) 

implements or applies law or policy, or (ii) prescribes the procedural requirements of an agency.” 

Charter 1041(5).  However, the public notice and comment requirement does not apply to a 

statement or communication of “general policy, which in itself has no legal effect but is merely 

explanatory.”  Id. at 1041[5][b][i]-[ii].   
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In its confidential May 2019 advisory letter, the Board made clear that it was addressing 

the specific questions before it.3  It was not creating a new rule of general applicability.  See Charter 

§ 2603(2)(c)(1) (the Board’s advisory opinions only apply to the public servant who requested 

advice).  After reviewing the facts presented and analyzing a prior advisory opinion, the Board 

interpreted its existing rule [1-13(b)] as it applied to respondent’s prospective conduct.  The Board 

was not required to engage in rulemaking.  See De Jesus v. Roberts, 296 A.D.2d 307, 310 (1st 

Dept. 2002) (CAPA rulemaking process only required when an agency establishes precepts that 

remove its discretion by dictating specific results in specific circumstances; rulemaking is not 

mandated for “ad hoc decisions based on individual facts and circumstances”).  

 

Advisory Opinion No. 2009-1 does not require a different result  

 Respondent claims that the Board’s May 2019 response to Longani, “ignores and 

essentially reverses” the 2009 Advisory Opinion (Resp. Mem. at 10).  The Board did not ignore 

the 2009 Advisory Opinion.  Indeed, the Board’s May 2019 advisory letter explains at length how 

the 2009 Advisory Opinion, entitled “Use of City-owned Vehicles,” addressed a limited and 

different issue.  The 2009 Advisory Opinion states, where NYPD determines that security “in the 

form of a car and security personnel is required,” an elected official “may make any lawful use of 

the official vehicle and personnel prescribed by the NYPD for personal purposes that are not 

otherwise a conflict of interest, including pursuit of outside business and political activities, 

without reimbursement to the City” as long as the elected official is in the vehicle (Resp. Ex. 3 at 

15).  That Advisory Opinion does not create a blanket exception to the ban on using City resources 

for a non-City purpose. 

In a 2012 Advisory Opinion, the Board stated that “political activities always fall within 

the prohibition on use of City time or resources” for any non-City purpose (Resp. Ex. 4, Advisory 

Op. 2012-5 at 2).  The Board noted, the “exception to this flat ban, enunciated in Advisory Opinion 

No. 2009-1” allows some elected officials to use “a City-owned car” for personal purposes, 

including political activities, “provided that the elected official is in the vehicle during all such 

use” (Id. at 2 n. 1).  The 2012 opinion further demonstrates that the 2009 Advisory Opinion’s 

exception for political activity is limited to the use of City-owned vehicles. 

 
3 It appears that the Board’s letter was confidential because public disclosure, even with redactions, would have 

disclosed respondent’s identity.   
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The Board’s May 2019 letter did not “reverse” the 2009 Advisory Opinion.  Instead, the 

Board’s May 2019 letter responded to the specific questions presented and distinguished between 

the use of a car and personnel for local activities and the substantial additional travel costs 

associated with a presidential campaign.  The Board concluded that the City should not be required 

to pay additional travel costs resulting from the Mayor’s presidential campaign because that would 

be for a non-City purpose.  And the Board emphasized, “this advice has addressed only one type 

of political travel—travel by the Mayor or members of his immediate family in connection with 

the Mayor’s candidacy for non-City elective office” (Pet. Ex. 2 at 6) (emphasis added).   

Respondent points to Council Speaker Vallone’s campaigns two decades ago as if they 

established a binding precedent (Resp. Mem. at 26-27).  But respondent offered no evidence to 

show that out-of-town travel expenses were incurred by NYPD security for those campaigns or 

the amount of such expenses.  Similarly, respondent poses several hypotheticals about future 

actions by the Board.  For example, respondent expresses concern that officers on his security 

detail could face liability as accomplices (Id. at 14).  There is no basis for believing that NYPD 

officers, who are subordinate to the Mayor, would be liable for respondent’s failure to reimburse 

the City.  The remote specter of possible action against others does not excuse respondent’s 

actions.  Respondent also asks whether NYPD security would be limited if members of the City 

Council went to Buffalo to announce their candidacy for state office (Id. at 16).  Such candidates 

should not assume that the City will pay the travel expenses for their NYPD security details.  If 

those candidates have specific questions, they should seek the Board’s guidance and they should 

recognize the risk of ignoring that guidance.  

This case does not concern a Council Speaker’s gubernatorial campaign two decades ago 

or hypothetical Councilmembers’ future campaigns for the state legislature.  Rather, it is limited 

to the question of whether the travel costs incurred by NYPD for respondent’s presidential 

campaign served a City purpose.  As the Board explained in its May 2019 advisory letter, a 

presidential campaign is fundamentally different in scope than a run for local office and it involves 

a significant expenditure of resources.  And, unlike a campaign for local office, where it may be 

difficult to distinguish between the travel costs associated with City and non-City business, the 

travel costs of providing out-of-town security for a presidential campaign are readily identifiable.   
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The Board does not question the need for security 

Respondent contends that petitioner is “throwing out deference to decades of NYPD 

practice” and has “abandoned deference to NYPD security decisions” (Resp. Mem. at 12, 30).  

There is no dispute regarding the need for security.  The Board has not interfered with NYPD’s 

assessments of security threats or questioned NYPD’s security expertise.  There is also no dispute 

that the City will pay the salaries of the Mayor’s security detail.  However, the Board maintains 

that respondent should not expect the City to assume the substantial additional travel expenses 

caused by his presidential campaign.    

In respondent’s view, the Board’s position creates the risk that a Mayor would forego 

NYPD security to avoid having to reimburse the City for travel expenses (Id. at 33-34).  Thus, 

respondent reasons, the possibility that a future Mayor might exercise exceedingly poor judgment 

and disregard NYPD’s security advice gives him the authority to ignore the Board’s advice and 

compel the City to pay for all costs related to security no matter where and why he travels. 

The Board is responsible for interpreting and enforcing the City’s conflicts of interest laws.  

In its 2019 advisory letter, the Board rationally distinguished between costs associated with local 

security needs and substantial out-of-state travel costs associated with a presidential campaign.  

The Board found that those additional costs were for a non-City purpose.  That conclusion is 

consistent with the Board’s long-standing interest in limiting the extent to which public servants 

use City resources for political activity.  See Hynes, Conflicts of Interest Bd. Case No. 2013-771 

at 5 (imposing a fine for elected official’s using office computers, email, and personnel for his re-

election campaign); Oberman, OATH 1657/14 at 14 (fine imposed where agency attorney used 

office phone to perform work on his political campaign); see also Golden v. Clark, 76 N.Y.2d 618, 

623 (1990) (discussing factors that led to Charter revision “to protect public against corruption and 

undue influence of a business or political nature”).  

Respondent contends that the Board’s position conflicts with its earlier treatment of the 

travel costs incurred by NYPD security for respondent’s other political trips and his family 

vacations (Resp. Mem. at 28).  He further argues that it is contradictory for the Board to treat the 

salaries of security personnel differently than travel costs (Id. at 22, 24).  In reply, petitioner argues 

that seeking broader support for policies may serve a City purpose and a Mayor can be re-

invigorated by vacations, but a candidate’s personal quest for the presidency does not serve a City 

purpose and “a successful campaign would deprive the City of its duly elected leader” (Pet. Mem. 
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at 15-16).  The Board also asserted that security personnel salaries would be similar wherever the 

Mayor was located, but the significant out-of-town travel costs incurred to provide security for 

respondent’s presidential campaign only served his personal endeavor (Id. at 7).   

Not all of petitioner’s arguments are persuasive.  For example, the City might derive more 

benefit from a Mayor’s participation in a policy discussion at a campaign forum than would result 

from the Mayor’s beach vacation.  And the City might benefit from having a former Mayor in the 

White House.  Some may argue that the City must cover all travel expenses incurred by NYPD 

security, regardless of the distance, frequency, or purpose of the travel.  However, the fact that 

reasonable people may interpret the Charter and Board’s rules differently does not render the 

Board’s analysis irrational or unreasonable.  See Molinari v. Bloomberg, 596 F. Supp.2d 546, 579 

(E.D.N.Y.) (“The advisory opinions of the Board should be given considerable weight by the 

courts”), aff’d, 564 F.3d 587 (2d Cir. 2009) (citation omitted); Elcor Health Services, Inc. v. 

Novello, 100 N.Y.2d 273, 278-280 (2003) (agency interpretation of a regulation “will not be 

disturbed in the absence of weighty reasons,” and the fact that a regulation could be interpreted 

differently does not make that interpretation irrational) (citations omitted); Matter of Schuss, 

OATH Index No. 2066/12 at 14 (Mar. 25, 2013) (“An agency’s interpretation of a statute which it 

is charged with enforcing is entitled to deference,” as long as that interpretation is not irrational or 

unreasonable). 

It is within the Board’s authority to conclude that using City funds to pay out-of-state travel 

costs associated with a presidential campaign does not serve a City purpose and violates section 

1-13 of the Board’s rules.  Hence, the City should be reimbursed for those costs.  To hold otherwise 

would give respondent, rather than the Board, the sole power to decide that City resources can be 

expended for his presidential campaign.     

    

This proceeding is not barred by laches 

 Laches is an equitable doctrine that bars enforcement where there has been an unreasonable 

and inexcusable delay that causes prejudice to a party.  See Office of the City Clerk v. Metropolitan 

New York Coordinating Council on Jewish Poverty, OATH Index No. 1940/12, mem. dec. at 4 

(Aug. 30, 2012) (citing Cortlandt Nursing Home v. Axelrod, 66 N.Y.2d 169, 177 (1985)).  

Respondent contends that petitioner unreasonably and unjustifiably delayed the commencement 

of this action for three years, which created “substantial prejudice,” compromised his 
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“constitutional right to receive and rely on legal counsel,” and deprived him of “his right to due 

process prior to the ordering of any penalty” (Resp. Mem. at 45).  

 As a preliminary matter, respondent failed to show that petitioner, rather than DOI, was 

responsible for the bulk of any delay.  See Dep’t of Correction v. Roman, OATH Index Nos. 

1026/05, 1926/05 at 22 (Feb. 10, 2006), appeal dismissed, NYC Civ. Serv. Comm’n Item No. 

CD07-22-D (Mar. 5, 2007) (rejecting claim that disciplinary action for fraud committed by a 

correction officer was barred by laches and finding that five-year delay was caused by DOI rather 

than the agency that brought the charges).  Moreover, petitioner presented credible evidence that 

DOI acted diligently.  Respondent launched his presidential campaign in May 2019.  Less than 

four months later, petitioner asked DOI to investigate.  DOI acted reasonably when it combined 

this investigation with two other similar investigations; DOI made diligent efforts to obtain 

documents from NYPD, at the height of the pandemic, for all of respondent’s campaign trips; and 

DOI acted prudently by interviewing 15 to 20 witnesses.  DOI completed its investigation by 

interviewing respondent and his wife in July 2021, DOI issued a 47-page report in October 2021, 

and petitioner served respondent with the petition less than one year later (ALJ Ex. 1; Tr. 19, 40). 

Respondent contends that DOI’s investigation was redundant because respondent’s FEC 

filings showed that his campaign had not reimbursed NYPD (Resp. Mem. at 45).  Thus, respondent 

suggests, there was no need for a thorough and independent investigation; DOI should simply have 

relied on respondent’s FEC filings (Id.).  That argument lacks merit.  Respondent’s campaign 

filings did not show the travel expenses that NYPD incurred.  For that information, DOI needed 

documents from NYPD and it needed to compare the information that it received from NYPD with 

the information provided by respondent and his campaign.    

 According to respondent, he relied on advice from Mayor’s Counsel Longani (Id. at 42).  

The Law Department asserted that if there were privileged communication between Mayor’s 

Counsel and the Mayor, the privilege belongs to the City and cannot be waived by respondent (Pet. 

Ex. 3 at 68; Resp. Ex. 11).  Respondent suggests, without citing any authority, that he could have 

waived that privilege if he was still Mayor.  Thus, respondent contends, he was prevented from 

presenting evidence regarding the advice he received from Longani because petitioner did not 

bring this proceeding until after he left office (Resp. Mem. at 45). 

The central flaw in respondent’s argument is that a public servant who uses City resources 

for a non-City purpose cannot blame that conduct on bad or inadequate advice from counsel.  When 
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Longani sought the Board’s guidance in May 2019, he was doing so as Mayor’s Counsel and on 

respondent’s behalf.  One week later, the Board replied.  Without equivocation, the Board advised 

that travel costs incurred by respondent’s security detail for a presidential campaign would 

constitute the use of City resources for a non-City purpose in violation of the Charter and the 

Board’s rules.   

Based on the answers that he gave during the DOI interview, where he conceded that he 

knew that there was written guidance and he claimed he had received conflicting information, it 

can be inferred that respondent was aware of the Board’s response.  If respondent had any doubt 

or uncertainty about the Board’s advice, he could have done what any other City employee is 

expected to do—he could have asked the Board himself.  Instead of seeking clarification from the 

Board or promptly requesting reconsideration, respondent launched his presidential campaign, 

used City resources for a non-City purpose, and waited two years before submitting an untimely 

request for reconsideration (Resp. Ex. 1).      

As respondent acknowledged, he knew that Longani had communicated with the Board 

and that there was written guidance.  Respondent knew or should have known of the Board’s 

response, which was quite clear, and he chose to ignore it.  Deliberate indifference to the Board’s 

response is not a defense.  See Holtzman v. Oliensis, 91 N.Y.2d 488, 498 (1998) (rejecting former 

Comptroller’s contention that she lacked actual knowledge of personal benefit she received from 

a bank’s dealings with the City, where evidence showed that staff members, including a top aide 

and former campaign manager, were aware of the bank’s dealings, and Comptroller knew that she 

had received a personal advantage or exhibited a “studied indifference” to evidence that she had 

been insulated from such knowledge).  As the Court recognized in Holtzman, to allow high-ranking 

public servants to insulate themselves from awareness of conflicts of interest, or to allow them to 

shift blame to subordinates, “would inevitably undermine enforcement of this important statutory 

scheme ‘to preserve the trust placed in public servants of the city . . . and to protect the integrity 

of government decision-making.’”  Id. (citing Charter § 2600).   

Even if respondent’s attempt to shift blame to Longani could constitute a defense, which it 

does not, he was not prevented from raising it.  During the DOI interview, which took place while 

respondent was in office and represented by his personal attorney, DOI’s Commissioner told 

respondent that the Law Department allowed him, during that investigative interview, to reveal 

any communication that he had with Longani.  Respondent did not do so.  Instead, he told the 
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interviewers that he was aware that the Board had provided written guidance, he recalled that he 

had discussed it with NYPD, and he stated his belief that there was “more than one type of 

guidance provided” (Pet. Ex. 3 at 75-58).  Notably, even though he was free to tell the interviewers 

everything that Longani had told him, respondent offered vague generalities about the specific 

advice that he supposedly relied upon. 

 

The charges are sustained 

The facts of this case are unique.  Prior to respondent, it had been 50 years since another 

incumbent mayor ran for president; long before the Board existed (Tr. 137).  But the legal 

principles are not unique.  In response to an inquiry on respondent’s behalf, the Board 

unequivocally advised that the proposed course of action would involve the use of City resources 

for a non-City purpose.  Respondent elected to ignore that advice.  As respondent correctly notes, 

it does not violate the Charter for a public servant to disagree with the Board (Resp. Mem. at 2-3, 

4 n. 3).  However, the Board acted within its authority and the advice that it provided is consistent 

with the Charter and its rules.  Thus, the charges that respondent acted in conflict with his official 

duties and used City resources for a non-City purpose should be sustained. 

 

FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

 

1. Respondent violated section 2604(b)(2) of the Charter by 

acting in conflict with his official duties, as alleged in the 

petition.  

 

2. Respondent violated section 2604(b)(2) of the Charter, 

pursuant to section 1-13(b) of the Board’s rules, by using 

City resources for a non-City purpose, as alleged in the 

petition. 
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RECOMMENDATION 

 Petitioner seeks the maximum allowable fine of $775,000 ($25,000 x 31 campaign trips) 

for each occasion that respondent used City resources for a non-City purpose (Pet. Mem. at 19).  

See Charter § 2606(b) (authorizing fines up to $25,000 for violations of the conflicts of interest 

law).  In addition, petitioner seeks reimbursement to the City for $319,794.20, the value of 

campaign-related travel expenses incurred by the security detail (Pet. Mem. at 16, 19).  Respondent 

contends that fines are unauthorized because the alleged violation did not involve conduct 

prohibited by the Board’s rules; the Board failed to comply with the statute’s consultation 

requirement; reimbursement is not authorized; and he cannot be held personally liable (Resp. 

Mem. at 19-20, 35-36).  

 

Because respondent’s conduct violated the Board’s rules, a fine may be imposed 

Section 2606(d) of the Charter states: 

Notwithstanding the provisions of subdivisions a, b and c of this section, no 

penalties shall be imposed for a violation of paragraph two of subdivision b 

of section twenty-six hundred four unless such violation involved conduct 

identified by rule of the board as prohibited by such paragraph.  

 

Respondent emphasizes that “fairness to public servants dictates that no punishment be 

imposed for actions not previously identified as prohibited” (Resp. Mem. at 19), quoting Charter 

Revision Commission, Report of the NYC Charter Revision Commission (1988).   

In support of his contention that his conduct violated no rule, respondent places great 

weight on one line in the May 2019 advisory letter (Resp. Mem. at 11, 19, 31).  The Board began 

its discussion by stating, “The questions you have asked are ones of first impression for the Board, 

not clearly covered by any Board Rules or prior advisory opinions” (Pet. Ex. 2 at 3).  That isolated 

quote ignores the Board’s analysis and conclusion.  After reviewing relevant provisions of the 

Charter and the Board’s rules, and weighing competing considerations, the Board concluded, 

“Therefore, requiring the City to pay these additional costs for out-of-City travel incurred as part 

of the Mayor’s campaign for non-City elective office would be a use of City resources for a non-

City purpose within the meaning of Board Rules Section 1-13(b)” (Id. at 4). 

Read in its entirety, the May 2019 advisory letter unequivocally states the Board’s position 

that requiring the City to pay NYPD travel expenses for respondent’s presidential campaign 
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violates Rule 1-13(b).  Consistent with section 2606(d) of the Charter, the Board fairly identified 

the specific rule that prohibited respondent’s proposed conduct.  Though respondent may disagree 

with the Board’s position, he cannot earnestly maintain that the Board did not identify the relevant 

rule or prohibited conduct.  Thus, the Board may impose a fine. 

 

Consultation requirement 

Section 2606(b) of the Charter states: 

Upon a determination by the board that a violation of section twenty-six 

hundred four or twenty-six hundred five of this chapter has occurred, the 

board, after consultation with the head of the agency involved, or in the case 

of an agency head, with the mayor, shall have the power to impose fines of 

up to twenty-five thousand dollars . . . . 

 

Respondent contends that no fine can be imposed against him because petitioner failed to 

consult with the “head of the agency involved” or the Mayor (Resp. Mem. at 36).  According to 

respondent, that requirement cannot be satisfied by consulting with him now, because he is no 

longer a public servant (Id. at 37).  Respondent also claims that consultation with a current Mayor 

about a former Mayor would be “equivalent of inviting a fox into a henhouse” (Id. at 39 n. 19).  

Apparently, respondent takes the view that petitioner can never fine a former Mayor, Comptroller, 

or Borough President without consulting with them before they leave office.  The law does not 

require such an illogical result, which would enable high-ranking elected officials to use the 

consultation requirement to evade fines.  See Jenkins v. Fieldbridge Assoc., 65 A.D.3d 169, 173 

(2d Dep’t 2009) (declining to interpret the Administrative Code in a manner that would lead to an 

absurd result). 

The obvious design of the consultation requirement is to allow for input from the City 

official responsible for overseeing a public servant’s work.  Respondent acknowledges that 

agencies have a compelling interest in disciplining their employees (Resp. Mem. at 38).  Though 

not required to adopt an agency’s recommendation, the Board may wish to consider the agency’s 

input before imposing a fine (Id.).  When a Mayor, Comptroller, or Borough President violates the 

conflicts of interest laws, there is no higher-ranking person to consult.  Like any other public 

servant, however, those elected officials may submit comments to the Board before imposition of 

any penalty.  53 RCNY § 2-03(h) (Pet. Mem. at 18 n. 14).  See Conflicts of Interest Bd. v. 

Markowitz, Conflicts of Interest Bd. Case No. 2009-181 at 4 (July 21, 2011), aff’g OATH Index 
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No. 1400/11 (May 5, 2011) (consultation requirement “plainly not intended to include elected 

officials,” such as a Borough President, who is not appointed by or subject to oversight by the 

Mayor); Conflicts of Interest Bd. v. Holtzman, Conflicts of Interest Bd. Case No. 93-121 at n. 3 

(Apr. 3, 1996) (consultation requirement does not apply to Comptroller, an elected official who 

does not report to the Mayor or an agency head). 

 

A $155,000 fine is appropriate 

 In support of its request for the maximum allowable fine, petitioner correctly contends that 

repayment alone would be inadequate because it would leave respondent in the same position that 

he would be in if he had followed the Board’s advice from the outset (Pet. Mem. at 17-18).  A 

substantial fine is necessary because respondent, as the City’s highest-ranking official, should be 

held to a strict standard of ethical conduct.  Respondent chose to ignore the Board’s explicit 

guidance and violated the Charter and the Board’s Rules on 31 occasions.  It is also troubling that 

during his DOI interview respondent repeatedly attempted to shift blame to his lawyers and 

campaign staff, while failing to recognize his personal responsibility for following the law.  

The penalties for high-level officials who violate the conflicts of interest laws range from 

approximately $1,000 to $7,500 per violation.  See Conflicts of Interest Bd. v. Katsorhis, Conflicts 

of Interest Bd. Case No. 94-3451 (Sept. 17, 1998), aff’g in part, modifying in part, OATH Index 

No. 1531/97 (Feb. 12, 1998) ($84,000 fine imposed upon City Sheriff for 17 violations of the 

Charter, including repeatedly using City resources, including letterhead, for his private law 

practice, for an average penalty per violation of nearly $5,000); Markowitz, Conflicts of Interest 

Bd. Case No. 2009-181 ($20,000 fine imposed on Borough President who, despite the Board’s 

warning, accepted free travel and accommodations for his wife on three trips to Europe); Matter 

of Holtzman, COIB Case No. 93-121 ($7,500 fine imposed for single violation of the Charter); see 

also Conflicts of Interest Bd. v. Sanders OATH Index No. 747/19 (Dec. 17, 2019), adopted, COIB 

Case No. 2017-110 (Dec. 8, 2020) ($15,000 fine imposed where former City Council Member 

violated conflicts of interest laws by accepting prohibited valuable gifts on 18 occasions); Matter 

of Hynes, COIB Case No. 2013-771 (Mar. 23, 2018) ($40,000 fine imposed for violating section 

2604(b)(2) of the Charter and section 1-13(b) of the Board’s rules, where District Attorney used 

City resources for a non-City purpose by using office computers, email, and personnel for his re-

election campaign).  Respondent, as the highest-ranking official in the City, repeatedly violated 
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the Charter and the Board’s rules despite specific advice regarding prohibited conduct.  Thus, a 

substantial fine is necessary.   

 However, petitioner has not shown that it is necessary or appropriate to impose the 

maximum available penalty of $25,000 for each violation.  Unlike the respondents in Katsorhis, 

Markowitz, and Holtzman, who directly benefited from their violations, respondent received an 

indirect benefit.  Imposing a significant penalty for each violation along with an order to repay 

$319,794.20 for the misused funds will be a powerful deterrent to other high-ranking elected 

officials.  Contrary to petitioner’s suggestion, respondent should not receive an enhanced penalty 

for “dragging out his repayment for years” (Pet. Mem. at 18).  Though respondent ignored the 

Board’s advice, he should not be unfairly penalized for exercising his right to trial.  Thus, I 

recommend a fine of $5,000 for each violation, for a total fine of $155,000.     

 

Repayment  

 Petitioner seeks an order directing respondent to repay the City $319,794.20 for the 

campaign-related travel expenses incurred by NYPD’s security detail (Pet. Mem. at 16).  

Repayment is authorized by section 2606(b-1) of the Charter, which states: 

In addition to the penalties set forth in subdivisions a and b of this 

section, the board shall have the power to order payment to the city 

of the value of any gain or benefit obtained by the respondent as a 

result of the violation in accordance with rules consistent with 

subdivision h of section twenty-six hundred three. 

 

Respondent argues that “in addition” means that reimbursement can only be required where 

a penalty is imposed and it is not a “standalone sanction.”  To support this argument respondent 

relies on language from the 2010 Charter Revision Commission’s report discussing the rationale 

for increasing the maximum fine from $10,000 to $25,000.  The Commission noted, “The 

increased fine, along with the disgorgement requirement, may also have a deterrent effect, and 

ensure that individuals will not benefit financially from activities that violate Chapter 68” (Resp. 

Mem. at 35, quoting Charter Revision Commission, Final Report of the 2010 NYC Charter 

Revision Commission at 33-34 (2010).4 

 
4 www.nyc.gov/assets/charter/downloads/pdf/final_report_of_the_2010_charter_revision_commission_9-

1-10.pdf. 
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 Here, the Board has authority to impose a fine and one has been recommended.  Thus, even 

under respondent’s reading of the statute, the Board may order reimbursement.  If no civil penalty 

or fine is imposed, repayment of the misused City resources can still be ordered.  Petitioner 

correctly contends that repayment is different than a fine or penalty (Pet. Mem. at 17).  A penalty 

is designed to punish a wrongdoer and deter future violations; repayment is designed to make the 

victim whole.   

Respondent’s interpretation of section 2606(b-1) of the Charter and the phrase “in addition 

to” is mistaken.  “In addition to” does not mean that a fine is a prerequisite to reimbursement.  On 

the contrary, “in addition to” is synonymous with “besides.”  See Adelman v. Adelman, 191 

Misc.2d 281, 285 (Kings Co. Sup. Ct. 2002) (where a statute authorizes punitive damages “in 

addition” to pecuniary damages, court relied upon dictionary definitions to find that “in addition” 

means “besides” or “over and above” and rejected construction of the statute that would require 

pecuniary award as a prerequisite to punitive damages); see also Mount Lemmon Fire Dist. v. 

Guido, 139 S. Ct. 22, 25 (2018) (finding that “also” means “in addition” or “besides”).  Repayment 

can be ordered even if the Board is unable or declines to impose a fine. 

Respondent also argues that he cannot be held personally liable for repayment because he 

did not receive “any gain or benefit,” the Board’s May 2019 advice letter did not mention that he 

could be held personally liable, and NYPD never sent him a bill (Resp. Mem. at 25, 32, 36; Tr. 

111-12, 136).  Those arguments are similarly mistaken.   

As petitioner notes, presidential campaigns are very expensive.  Making the City pay for 

the travel costs incurred by his security team benefited respondent because it left him and his 

campaign with more money to spend elsewhere.  Thus, respondent indirectly received a substantial 

benefit from the misuse of City resources. 

In response to Longani’s specific request (“[C]an the City pay all costs associated with 

providing” NYPD security for the Mayor and his family on a political trip?) the Board advised that 

all other costs associated with the security team’s travel for respondent’s presidential campaign, 

“must not be borne by the City.  Rather, these costs must be paid or reimbursed by the Mayor’s 

campaign committee” (Pet. Ex. 2 at 5-6).  Seizing on the reference to the “campaign committee,” 

respondent claims that he cannot be held personally liable for his security team’s travel expenses 

because the letter  does not refer to personal liability (Resp. Mem. at 20). 
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The Board’s letter should not be construed as a waiver of its authority to seek repayment 

of City resources.  Respondent ignored the Board’s guidance and used City resources for a non-

City purpose.  He knew or should have known that one of the remedies for violating the Charter 

and the Board’s Rules is that he would be required to repay the City.  Requiring repayment from 

one who benefits from the misuse of City resources for a non-City purpose is consistent with the 

statute and Board’s precedents.  See Conflicts of Interest Bd. v. Martinez, OATH Index No. 

1354/18 (Feb. 23, 2018), adopted, Conflicts of Interest Bd. Case No. 2016-162 (May 14, 2018) 

(school payroll secretary order to pay $10,000 fine and $2,040 in restitution for misappropriating 

school funds); Conflicts of Interest Bd. v. Ponte, Conflicts of Interest Bd. Case No. 2017-156 (July 

12, 2018) (enforcement action brought against former Commissioner of Department of Correction 

(“DOC”) who used his City vehicle for 30 personal trips that were unrelated to a City purpose; 

settlement reached where former Commissioner agreed to an $18,500 fine after reimbursing DOC 

for $1,043 for gasoline and $746 for tolls that were paid for with DOC-issued card and E-Z Pass); 

Conflicts of Interest Bd. v. Brann, Conflicts of Interest Bd. Case No. 2017-156b (Nov. 8, 2017) 

(enforcement action brought against former Deputy Commissioner of DOC who used her City 

vehicle for a non-City purpose on 16 occasions; settlement reached where former Deputy 

Commissioner agreed to a penalty of $6,000, to forfeit eight personal days valued at $5,824, and 

to reimburse DOC for the mileage incurred during the personal trips, valued at $493.67). 

 The Board issued a specific warning that respondent’s conduct would constitute the use of 

City resources for a non-City purpose, prohibited by section 1-13(b) of the Board’s Rules.  

Petitioner did not have to send respondent a bill before commencing an enforcement action.  

Rather, respondent should be held to the same ethical standard as a school payroll secretary or 

DOC official who misuses City resources for a non-City purpose. 

In support of his argument that he should not be held personally liable, respondent relies 

on cases interpreting the City’s Campaign Finance Act (Resp. Mem. at 20).  See e.g. Fields v.  NYC 

Campaign Finance Bd., 81 A.D.3d 441, 446 (1st Dept 2011) (Campaign Finance Act does not 

require candidate to use personal assets to repay Campaign Finance Board for unspent funds).  

However, the cited subsection specifically refers to “excess funds” left over after an election.  

Admin. Code § 3-170(2)(c) (“candidate and committee shall use such excess funds to reimburse 

the fund”) (emphasis added).  Thus, courts have interpreted the express language of that statute to 
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limit liability to excess public matching funds received by a campaign.  That statute has no 

application here.   

Respondent also suggests that federal election law preempts the Board’s authority to order 

repayment (Resp. Mem at 46 n. 23; ALJ Ex. 2 at ¶69, citing 52 U.S.C. § 30143(a)).  In the May 

2019 advisory letter, the Board acknowledged its lack of expertise in federal election law while 

stating that FEC regulations “appear instructive” and require a campaign or campaign traveler to 

repay a local government for the use of a private vehicle (ALJ Ex. 2 at ¶ 67; Pet. Ex. 2 at 3, citing 

11 CFR § 100.93(e)(3)).  Respondent points out that the regulation cited by the Board refers to 

non-commercial travel aboard government aircraft and a different regulation applies for 

commercial travel used by respondent’s security detail (ALJ Ex. 2 at ¶¶ 67-68, citing 11 CFR § 

100.93(a)(2)).  According to respondent, the FEC does not require campaigns to reimburse state 

or local governments for the cost of security personnel who travel with a candidate and do not 

engage in political activity (Resp. Ex. 2 at 20, citing First General Counsel’s Report, In re Bush, 

MUR 5135 at 8 (Mar. 28, 2002), available at www.fec.gov/data/legal/search/enforcement (finding 

that the State of Texas, then-Governor Bush, and campaign committees did not violate Federal 

Election Campaign Act (“FECA”) by failing to report the value of security personnel provided by 

Texas during the 2000 primary and presidential campaign). 

Rejecting a similar preemption argument, the Court of Appeals has held that FECA did not 

limit the Board’s ability to enforce violations of the City’s conflicts of interest laws.  Holtzman, 

91 N.Y.2d at 494.  Even if federal campaign finance regulations do not require reporting or 

repayment of the travel expenses incurred by respondent’s security detail, the Board has broad 

authority to seek repayment for “the value of any gain or benefit obtained by the respondent as a 

result of a violation.”  Charter § 2606(1-b).  The Board has acted within that authority to seek 

reimbursement from respondent.  

In sum, respondent received a substantial benefit by failing to reimburse the City for travel 

expenses incurred by NYPD security for his presidential campaign, in violation of the Charter and 

the Board’s Rules.  Accordingly, I recommend a $155,000 fine and an order directing respondent 

to repay the City $319,794.20.    
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THE CITY OF NEW YORK 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST BOARD 
_________________________________________x 
 
In the Matter of  
 
 
        COIB Case No. 2019-503 
  BILL DE BLASIO 
        OATH Index No. 587/23 
 
 
 
    Respondent. 
 
__________________________________________x 
 

FINAL FINDINGS OF FACT, 
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, AND ORDER 

 
Upon consideration of all the evidence presented in this matter, and of the full 

record, and all papers submitted to, and rulings of, the Office of Administrative Trials 
and Hearings (“OATH”), including the annexed Report and Recommendation (the 
“Report”) of OATH Administrative Law Judge (“ALJ”) Kevin F. Casey dated May 4, 2023, 
in the above-captioned matter, the Board hereby adopts in full the findings of fact and 
conclusions of law contained in the Report, which finds that Respondent violated Charter 
Section 2604(b)(2), pursuant to Board Rules Section 1-13(b).  The Report recommends 
the Board impose a fine of $155,000 pursuant to Charter Section 2606(b) and, in 
addition, order payment to the City of $319,794.20 pursuant to Charter Section 2606(b-
1), which recommendation the Board adopts. 

 
Both parties were reminded of their right, pursuant to Board Rules Section 2-

03(h), to submit a post-hearing comment on the Report; neither party submitted such a 
comment within the time period provided for in the rule. 

 
Without limiting the foregoing, and in summary of its findings and conclusions, 

the Board notes the following: 
 
Between May 2019 and September 2019, while serving as Mayor, Respondent 

was a candidate for President of the United States.  During this time, Respondent had 
the City pay the travel expenses for an NYPD security detail to accompany Respondent 
or his spouse on 31 out-of-state trips in connection with his presidential campaign.  This 
NYPD security detail incurred $319,794.20 in travel costs, excluding NYPD salary and 
overtime, during these 31 trips.   
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The City’s conflicts of interest law, codified in Chapter 68 of the City Charter, 

exists to “preserve the trust placed in the public servants of the city, to promote public 
confidence in government, to protect the integrity of government decision-making and 
to enhance government efficiency.”  Charter Section 2600.  Charter Section 2604(b)(2), 
as implemented in Board Rules Section 1-13(b), forwards this critical purpose by 
prohibiting public servants from using City resources for any non-City purpose.  When a 
public servant uses City resources for private purposes, it erodes the public’s trust and 
makes City government less efficient.  For this reason, the Board has routinely enforced 
this prohibition, particularly where a public servant uses City resources for the non-City 
purpose of advancing a campaign for elective office or other political activity.1 

 
Respondent’s conduct plainly violates this prohibition.  Although there is a City 

purpose in the City paying for an NYPD security detail for the City’s Mayor, including the 
security detail’s salary and overtime, there is no City purpose in paying for the extra 
expenses incurred by that NYPD security detail to travel at a distance from the City to 
accompany the Mayor or his family on trips for his campaign for President of the United 
States.  The Board advised Respondent to this effect prior to his campaign; Respondent 
disregarded the Board’s advice. 
 

Having found the above-stated violations of the City Charter, and for the reasons 
set forth in the Report, the Board adopts the Report’s recommended fine of $5,000 for 
each of Respondent’s 31 violations of Chapter 68, for a total fine of $155,000 pursuant 
to Charter Section 2606(b), and payment to the City of $319,794.20 pursuant to Charter 
Section 2606(b-1), the value of the gain or benefit obtained by the Respondent as a 
result of the violation. 

 
Respondent claims that the Board cannot impose a penalty upon Respondent 

because of the requirement, contained in Charter Section 2606(b), that the Board 
consult “with the head of the agency involved, or in the case of an agency head, with 
the mayor” before imposing a fine for violations of Charter Section 2604. Charter Section 
2603(h)(3) contains a similar provision.  As discussed in the Report, and as the Board 
has held previously, because Respondent was an executive branch elected official, this 
requirement does not apply here.  Report at 19-20.  See COIB v. Holtzman, COIB Case 
No. 93-121 (1996), OATH Index No. 581/94 at 41 n. 3, aff’d Holtzman v. Oliensis, 91 

 
1  See, e.g., COIB v. Oberman, COIB Case No. 2013-609, OATH Index No. 1657/14 
(2014), affirmed 148 A.D.3d 598 (1st Dept., 2017) (imposing $7,500 fine against former 
Executive Agency Counsel at the New York City Taxi and Limousine Commission who used his 
City phone during business hours to work on his campaign for the New York City Council); COIB 
v. Hynes, COIB Case No. 2013-771 (2018) (imposing $40,000 fine against District Attorney who 
used City computers, email, and personnel for his re-election campaign); COIB v. Mosley, COIB 
Case No. 2013-004 (2013) (imposing $2,500 fine against an administrative manager at the New 
York City Office of the Comptroller who used her City computer and email account to perform 
campaign work for a candidate for the New York State Assembly). 
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N.Y.2d 488 (1998); COIB v. Markowitz, COIB Case No. 2009-181, OATH Index No. 
1400/11 at 4. 
 

WHEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Respondent be assessed a fine 
of $155,000 pursuant to Charter Section 2606(b) and payment to the City of 
$319,794.20 pursuant to Charter Section 2606(b-1), a total of $474,794.20, to be paid 
to the Conflicts of Interest Board within 30 days of service of this Order.   

 
Respondent has the right to appeal this Order to the Supreme Court of the State 

of New York by filing a petition pursuant to Article 78 of the Civil Practice Law and Rules.  
  

The Conflicts of Interest Board 
       

 
By:  Milton L. Williams Jr., Chair  

 
Fernando A. Bohorquez Jr. 
Wayne G. Hawley 
Ifeoma Ike 

 
Georgia M. Pestana did not participate in the consideration or decision of this matter. 

 
Dated:  June 15, 2023 
 
Attachment 
 
cc: Laurence D. Laufer, Esq. 
 Counsel for Respondent 
 49 Mount Pleasant Rd. 
 Mount Tremper, New York 12457  
 
 Arthur L. Aidala, Esq. 

Aidala, Bertuna & Kamins PC 
 Counsel for Respondent 
 546 Fifth Avenue 
 New York, New York 10036 
 

Administrative Law Judge Kevin F. Casey  
 Office of Administrative Trials and Hearings 

100 Church Street 
New York, New York 10007 
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SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK  

NEW YORK COUNTY 

PRESENT: HON. SHAHABUDDEEN ABID ALLY  

      Justice 

PART 16 

BILL DE BLASIO, 

 

 Petitioner, 

 

 -against- 

 

NEW YORK CITY CONFLICT OF INTEREST BOARD and 

THE CITY OF NEW YORK, 

 

 Respondents. 

INDEX NO. 155404/2023 

MOTION DATE 4/30/2024 

MOTION SEQ. NO. 002 

 

DECISION, ORDER & 

JUDGMENT 

 

The following e-filed documents, listed by NYSCEF document number, were read 

on this motion (Seq. No. 2) to DISMISS:  1, 15–46, 48 

 

Petitioner BILL DE BLASIO (“Petitioner”) was Mayor of New York City from 2014 to 2021. 

In May 2019, Petitioner announced that was he running for President of the United States. Four 

months later, in September 2019, Petitioner suspended his campaign. During his campaign, Peti-

tioner or members of his immediate family took 31 out-of-state trips on which they were assigned 

and accompanied by a full-time security detail of officers of the New York City Police Department 

(the “NYPD”). 

Shortly before announcing his candidacy, Petitioner consulted respondent NEW YORK 

CITY CONFLICT OF INTEREST BOARD (the “Board”) on whether respondent THE CITY OF 

NEW YORK (the “City”; and, together with the Board, “Respondents”) could pay all costs asso-

ciated with providing Petitioner and his immediate family an NYPD security detail during polit-

ical trips. By written confidential advisory opinion dated May 15, 2019 (the “2019 AO”), the Board 

opined that while the City could indeed pay the officers’ salaries and overtime, it could not pay 

the officers’ out-of-City travel-related costs. Payment of those costs by the City, the Board advised, 

would violate the City’s conflict-of-interest laws, specifically, § 2604(b)(2) and (3) of the New York 

City Charter (the “Charter”) and § 1-13(b) of Title 53 of the New York City Rules and Regulations 

(the “Board Rules”), because it would constitute a prohibited use of City resources for a non-City 
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purpose as well as Petitioner’s use of his official position for his own financial gain or personal 

advantage. 

Contemporaneously with the end of Petitioner’s campaign, the Board requested that the 

New York City Department of Investigation (the “DOI”) investigate whether the City had been 

paying for Petitioner’s security detail’s campaign-related travel costs. The DOI’s investigation of 

the matter, which was consolidated with investigations of separate questions involving the pro-

priety of the use of NYPD security details by members of Petitioner’s immediate family and lasted 

for approximately two years, involved review of documents provided by the NYPD and Peti-

tioner’s campaign, as well as interviews with more than a dozen individuals, including Petitioner 

and his wife and the members of their security detail. In its report, issued in October 2021, the 

DOI found that the NYPD had incurred $319,794.20 in unreimbursed out-of-City travel-related 

costs for the security detail, including the officers’ airfare, hotel accommodations, and meals, dur-

ing Petitioner’s campaign. 

In August 2022, the Board commenced an enforcement action against Petitioner before the 

New York City Office of Administrative Trials and Hearings (“OATH”), charging Petitioner with 

violating Charter § 2604(b)(2) and Board Rules § 1-13(b). In a Report and Recommendation dated 

May 4, 2023 (the “OATH R&R”), issued after an evidentiary hearing held virtually on December 

20, 2022, OATH upheld the charges and recommended that Petitioner be required to fully reim-

burse the City for the NYPD’s travel-related costs and pay a fine of $155,000. The Board fully 

adopted OATH’s recommendations in a Final Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order 

dated June 15, 2023 (the “COIB Order”). 

On the same day of the COIB Order, Petitioner commenced this special proceeding by 

filing a Verified Petition and Notice of Petition. In the Verified Petition, Petitioner alleges two 

causes of action:  (1) the first, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, alleges violations of Petitioner’s First 

and Fourteenth Amendment rights; and (2) the second, pursuant to CPLR Article 78, alleges that 

the 2019 AO, the OATH R&R, and the COIB Order are arbitrary and capricious. As relief, Peti-

tioner seeks:  (1) a declaration that the City will pay all of Petitioner’s NYPD security detail’s 

expenses; (2) an order vacating the 2019 AO, the OATH R&R, and the COIB Order; (3) a judgment 

in favor of Petitioner and against Respondents pursuant to Article 78; and (4) an award of attor-

neys’ fees, costs, and disbursements. 



155404/2023 Bill de Blasio v. New York City Conflict of Interest Board et al. Page 3 of 81 

Mot. Seq. No. 002 

On November 17, 2023, Respondents moved to dismiss the Verified Petition pursuant to 

CPLR § 7804(f) and Rule 3211(a)(7). Petitioner filed opposition to the motion on December 15, 

2023, and Respondents filed a reply on January 19, 2024. The Court heard oral argument on the 

motion virtually on April 30, 2024. 

The Court now grants the motion. For the reasons that follow, the Court determines that 

Respondents have demonstrated that Petitioner’s claims that Respondents acted arbitrarily and 

capriciously and in violation of law are meritless. The Court further determines, for the reasons 

that follow, that Petitioner’s constitutional claims are unpreserved for review and, in any event, 

meritless. Accordingly, Respondents’ motion to dismiss is granted, and the Verified Petition is 

dismissed. 

I. BACKGROUND 

A. The Board’s Creation, Purpose, and Powers 

The Board was created as part of the December 1986–to–November 1988 New York City 

Charter Revision (the “1988 Charter Revision”). (See Aff. of Emily Reisbaum in Supp. of Mot. to 

Dismiss, dated Nov. 17, 2023 (“Reisbaum Aff.”) (NYSCEF Doc. 30), Ex. A (“Charter Revision Re-

port”) (NYSCEF Doc. 31) at 148, 154-56) In adopting the proposals of the 1988 Charter Revision, 

City voters replaced the Board’s predecessor agency, the Board of Ethics, with a new, strength-

ened agency tasked with overseeing compliance with the City’s conflict-of-interest laws, codified 

in Chapter 68 of the Charter. (Id.) Rosenblum v. N.Y.C. Conflicts of Interest Bd., 18 N.Y.3d 422, 425 

(2012). 

Under Chapter 68, the Board is expressly empowered and directed to, among other things: 

(1) issue rules interpreting and implementing the provisions of Chapter 68, Charter 

§ 2603(a); 

(2) issue advisory opinions on the application of Chapter 68 and the Board Rules to 

specific contemplated actions, id. § 2603(c); 

(3) direct the DOI to investigate any matter over which the Board has jurisdiction, id. 

§ 2603(f); and 
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(4) conduct hearings to enforce the provisions of Chapter 68 and the Board Rules, id. 

§ 2603(h). 

(Charter Revision Report at 156-61, 163-67) Chapter 68’s prohibitions and the Board’s jurisdiction 

for its rules and enforcement actions extend to all “public servants,” defined as “all officials, of-

ficers and employees of the city,” Charter § 2601(19), including “former public servants,” id. 

§ 2603(c)(5), (e)(3), (g)(3), (h)(7). (Charter Revision Report at 153) 

As relevant to this dispute, Charter § 2604(b)(2) was among the provisions adopted as part 

of the 1988 Charter Revision. That section provides that “[n]o public servant shall engage in any 

business, transaction or private employment, or have any financial or other private interest, direct 

or indirect, which is in conflict with the proper discharge of his or her official duties.” Charter 

§ 2604(b)(2). According to the Charter Revision Report, this provision is a “‘catchall’ prohibition” 

that was retained “in recognition of the fact that the specific prohibitions set forth in the chapter 

cannot address all conflict of interest situations which may arise in the future and that the board 

must retain the flexibility to handle new situations as they arise.” (Charter Revision Report at 175) 

Pursuant to its rulemaking authority under Chapter 68, the Board adopted Board Rules § 1-13(b) 

interpreting and implementing Charter § 2604(b)(2). Section 1-13(b) provides that “it shall be a 

violation of City Charter § 2604(b)(2) for any public servant to use City letterhead, title, personnel, 

equipment, resources, supplies, or technology assets for any non-City purpose.” 53 R.C.N.Y. § 1-

13(b). 

Under the 1988 Charter Revision, the Board also retained its authority and obligation to 

issue advisory opinions. See Charter § 2603(c). (Charter Revision Report at 158) Those opinions, 

however, may now be issued only at the request of a public servant or supervisory official,1 

whereas, under the previous charter, advisory opinions could be issue by the Board of Ethics on 

its own initiative. (Charter Revision Report at 160) “Advisory opinions are to be used to provide 

advice and guidance to public servants who are uncertain of the application of the conflict of 

interest standards to specific contemplated actions.” (Id. at 159) In other words, advisory opinions 

 
 1 A “supervisory official” is defined as “any person having the authority to control or direct the work of a public 

servant.” Charter § 2601(22). 
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may be sought concerning only future conduct, not past or ongoing conduct. See Charter 

§ 2603(c)(2). (Charter Revision Report at 159) 

“[A]dvisory opinions have a binding effect on future conduct,” so that “a public servant 

cannot be penalized for any action taken in accordance with an advisory opinion.” (Charter Re-

vision Report at 160) Charter § 2603(c)(2). A significant limitation on that principle, however, is 

that advisory opinions apply only to the individuals who sought them and only to the specific 

facts considered by the Board in rendering them. Charter § 2603(c)(1). (Charter Revision Report 

at 160-61 (“Advisory opinions apply only to the individual in question and to the set of facts con-

sidered.”)) Thus, no public servant other than the one who requested the opinion may rely on it 

as anything but nonbinding guidance, although others may still cite advisory opinions in enforce-

ment actions and the Board may still consider them in reaching its decisions. (Charter Revision 

Report at 160-61) 

Because an advisory opinion is individual- and fact-specific, “if the [B]oard determines 

that an opinion reflects a general principal which may be applied more broadly to other public 

servants, it should embody the content of the opinion in a rule.” (Id. at 161) To that end, Charter 

§ 2603(c)(4) provides that each year the Board shall publicly identify in its annual report any ad-

visory opinions issued during the prior year that “establish[] a test, standard or criterion” or “will 

be the subject of future advisory opinion requests from multiple persons” and “shall initiate a 

rulemaking to adopt any such opinion, or part of an opinion, so determined.” 

The 1988 Charter Revision further empowered the Board, for the first time, to adjudicate 

disputes, where previously “violations of the code of ethics [were] enforced, if at all, as part of 

disciplinary actions at the agency level or by criminal prosecution.” (Charter Revision Report at 

163) Charter § 2603(h); Rosenblum, 18 N.Y.3d at 432. The Board exercises its adjudicatory power 

through enforcement actions, which are governed by the procedures set forth in Charter § 2306(h) 

and Board Rules §§ 2-02 and 2-03. 

If, through a complaint, investigation, or other information, the Board makes an initial 

determination that there is probable cause to believe that a public servant violated Chapter 68, 

the Board must first notify that individual by service of a Notice of Initial Determination of Prob-

able Cause. Charter § 2306(h)(1); 53 R.C.N.Y. § 2-02(a); Rosenblum, 18 N.Y.2d at 426. The public 
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servant may then submit a response. Charter § 2306(h)(1); 53 R.C.N.Y. § 2-02(b); Rosenblum, 18 

N.Y.2d at 426. Based on the public servant’s response, the Board must determine whether to dis-

miss the action or sustain its initial probable-cause determination. Charter § 2306(h)(2); 53 

R.C.N.Y. § 2-02(b)(3). 

If the Board sustains its initial probable-cause determination, it 

shall hold or direct a hearing to be held on the record to determine 

whether such violation has occurred, or shall refer the matter to the ap-

propriate agency if the public servant is subject to the jurisdiction of any 

state law or collective bargaining agreement which provides for the con-

duct of disciplinary proceedings, provided that when such a matter is re-

ferred to an agency, the agency shall consult with the board before issuing 

a final decision. 

Rosenblum, 18 N.Y.2d at 426 (quoting Charter § 2603(h)(2)). The Board has, by rule, designated 

OATH to conduct hearings on alleged violations for which the accused public servant is not enti-

tled to alternative disciplinary rights under state law or a collective-bargaining agreement. 53 

R.C.N.Y. §§ 2-02(c)(1)-(2), 2-03(a). (See Charter Revision Report at 165 (“Hearings shall be heard 

by [OATH], unless the [B]oard determines by rule that it should conduct its own adjudications.”)) 

At the hearing before OATH, the Board bears the burden of proof by a preponderance of the 

evidence. 53 R.C.N.Y. § 2-03(f)(1). After the hearing, OATH must issue a report recommending 

“findings of fact, conclusions of law and a proposed disposition for the Board’s review and final 

action.” Rosenblum, 18 N.Y.2d at 426; 53 R.C.N.Y. § 2-03(g). The parties to the enforcement action 

have an opportunity to submit comments to the Board “to explain, rebut, or provide information 

concerning OATH’s recommended findings of fact, conclusions of law, and disposition.” 53 

R.C.N.Y. § 2-03(h). 

If, based on OATH’s report, documents admitted into evidence during the evidentiary 

hearing, the transcript of the hearing, and the parties’ post-hearing written comments, if any, the 

Board determines, by a preponderance of the evidence, that a violation of Chapter 68 has oc-

curred, it 

shall, after consultation with the head of the agency served or formerly 

served by the public servant, or in the case of an agency head, with the 

mayor, issue an order either imposing such penalties provided for by this 

[Chapter 68] as it deems appropriate, or recommending such penalties to 

the head of the agency served or formerly served by the public servant, or 

in the case of an agency head, to the mayor . . . . 



155404/2023 Bill de Blasio v. New York City Conflict of Interest Board et al. Page 7 of 81 

Mot. Seq. No. 002 

Charter § 2603(h)(3); see also 53 R.C.N.Y. § 2-03(i) (“If the Board determines that it has proven by 

a preponderance of the evidence that the respondent violated a provision of a law identified in 

53 RCNY § 2-01(a), the Board will issue an order stating its final findings of fact and conclusions 

of law and imposing a penalty.”). The requirement that the Board consult with the head of the 

agency at which the public servant is employed, or if the public servant who is the subject of the 

enforcement action is an agency head, with the mayor, “recognizes that agencies have a strong 

interest in disciplining of their officers and employees.” (Charter Revision Report at 166) “While 

the [B]oard is not required to adopt the views expressed by the agency, an agency head may raise 

issues or concerns the [B]oard will wish to consider in rendering a decision concerning the impo-

sition of penalties.” (Id.) In any event, if the agency independently decides to take disciplinary 

action against the public servant, that action does not preclude the Board from exercising its own 

powers and duties under Chapter 68, or vice versa. Charter § 2603(h)(6). (Charter Revision Report 

at 166) 

For any violation of Charter § 2604, the Board has the authority, under Charter § 2606, to 

“order payment to the city of the value of any gain or benefit obtained by the respondent as a 

result of the violation” and, after satisfying the same consultation requirement set forth in Charter 

§ 2603(h)(3), to impose fines of up to $25,000 and recommend the public servant’s suspension or 

removal from office or employment. Charter § 2606(b), (b-1). The Board may not seek or impose 

a penalty for a violation of § 2604, however, unless “such violation involved conduct identified 

by rule of the [B]oard.” Id. § 2606(d). 

B. The Board’s Relevant Prior Advisory Opinions 

Two of the Board’s advisory opinions pre-dating the 2019 AO and the events underlying 

this proceeding are central to the parties’ dispute, those advisory opinions having been examined 

closely by the Board in the 2019 AO and relied upon by the parties in constructing and advancing 

their arguments both here and before OATH. The advisory opinions in question, both of which 

were issued publicly, are Advisory Opinion No. 2009-1 (Reisbaum Aff., Ex. E ( “2009 AO”) 

(NYSCEF Doc. 35)) and Advisory Opinion No. 2012-5 (id., Ex. B ( “2012 AO”) (NYSCEF Doc. 32)). 

The Court summarizes both below. 
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i. The 2009 AO 

On March 12, 2009, at the request of “certain elected officials,” the Board issued the 2009 

AO, entitled “Use of City-Owned Vehicles.” (2009 AO) As its title suggests, the 2009 AO addresses 

whether and under which circumstances elected New York City officials who have use of City-

owned vehicles2 may use them and City personnel as drivers for purposes other than official 

business. The Board analyzed that issue under Charter § 2604(b)(2) and (3)3 and Board Rules § 1-

13, which “specifie[s] certain conduct that constitutes a violation of [§] 2604(b)(2).” (See id. at 1, 3-

4) 

The Board structured its analysis by dividing the elected officials to which the 2009 AO 

applies into two categories and addressing each category in turn. The first category—“Category 

1”—comprises “Elected Officials for whom the [NYPD] has determined that requirements of per-

sonal security dictate, at a minimum, that provision of a City-owned car and security personnel 

is necessary.” (Id. at 2) The second category—“Category 2”—comprises “all other Elected Officials 

who currently have use of a City-owned car and, in some cases, a City employee as a driver.” (Id.) 

The distinguishing factor between Category 1 and Category 2 is, therefore, whether the NYPD 

has determined that the official requires personal security. If the NYPD has made such a deter-

mination, the elected official will “conclusively” fall within Category 1 for purposes of the Board’s 

analysis. (Id. at 9) 

In the 2009 AO, with respect to Category 1 elected officials, the Board determined that 

“any use of a City-issued car and security personnel by that public servant, whether for official or 

for personal purposes or for any combination of the two, is consistent with Chapter 68, and no 

reimbursement to the City for such use is required.” (Id. at 10-11 (emphasis in original)) More 

specifically, the Board determined that Category 1 elected officials could “use City vehicles, driv-

ers, and security personnel when they attend political events, such as campaign fundraisers, and 

 
 2 The 2009 AO specifies that, at the time of the opinion, there were only 15 such officials:  the Mayor, the City 

Council Speaker and Minority Leader, the Public Advocate, the Comptroller, the Borough Presidents, and the District 

Attorneys. (2009 AO at 1-2) To safeguard those officials who are not provided security, however, the 2009 AO does not 

specifically identify which of these 15 elected officials use vehicles provided by the NYPD and which do not. (See id. at 

2 n.1) 

 3 Charter § 2604(b)(3) provides that “[n]o public servant shall use or attempt to use his or her position as a public 

servant to obtain any financial gain, contract, license, privilege or other private or personal advantage, direct or indirect, 

for the public servant or any person or firm associated with the public servant.” 
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personal non-City business events, provided that the official’s participation in such activities does 

not otherwise result in a conflict of interest,” and that such elected officials “may even use the car 

and driver to travel outside the City, if consistent with security determinations by the NYPD.” 

(Id. at 9) 

The Board’s analysis underlying its determination concerning Category 1 elected officials 

is based on a number of factors. First, the Board recognized that a Category 1 elected official’s 

“need for protection and security remains the same whether the official ventures forth to perform 

a personal rather than an official task or to attend a private social function rather than a public 

event.” (Id.) Thus, according to the Board, “there can be no effective restriction on these officials’ 

‘personal’ use of City cars and drivers.” (Id.) 

Second, the Board reasoned that its conclusion that Category 1 elected officials can use City 

vehicles and personnel for political and business events and to travel outside the City “reflects 

sound public policy, because it will encourage public officials to follow and adhere to security 

recommendations, and not ignore them in order to avoid violating the ethics law.” (Id.) The Board 

acknowledged that the NYPD strongly advised Category 1 elected officials “to use the security 

personnel assigned to them, in the manner prescribed by the NYPD, whenever they move about, 

whether for public or private purposes.” (Id.) 

Third, the Board reasoned that requiring Category 1 elected officials to reimburse the City 

for unofficial use of City vehicles would be unfair and present significant issues of practicability, 

writing: 

Since officials in this category are subject to security determinations by the 

NYPD requiring them to use City vehicles to the maximum extent possible 

for all local transportation, official or otherwise, it would be unfair to re-

quire them to pay for any use deemed unofficial. Moreover, given these 

officials’ constant use of the required vehicles, an effort to determine what 

use must be reimbursed would require an almost limitless parsing and 

costing to determine how much of that use is ‘official,’ or incidental to of-

ficial business, and how much is in no way related to official business. Any 

such attempt, particularly if applied to officials who . . . are on call essen-

tially every hour of the day and night, seems both an impossible and an 

unfair accounting burden on all involved. 
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(Id. at 10) Nevertheless, the Board opined that elected officials “are free to reimburse the City for 

non-City use of their City vehicles for example [sic], to reimburse with campaign funds for polit-

ical use.” (Id. at 11) 

With respect to Category 2 elected officials, the Board determined that they too may “use 

their City cars for personal as well as official purposes.” (Id. at 12) In reaching that determination, 

the Board recognized that Category 2 elected officials are “regularly require[d] . . . to appear in 

their official capacities at functions and events, to respond to emergencies, or to otherwise attend 

to the needs of their constituents, outside of normal business hours” (id. at 11), so that “[r]equiring 

these public officials to switch from official vehicles to personal vehicles to pursue official duties, 

would defy common sense and might impede their ability to respond expeditiously to the needs 

of their constituents” (id. at 12). 

It was based on this rationale—i.e., “promot[ing] the ready presence of these officials at 

the myriad meetings, functions, events, or emergencies that occupy their official lives” (id.)—that 

the Board determined, however, that a Category 2 elected official’s use of City vehicles is limited 

in a way that a Category 1 elected official’s use is not. According to the Board, a “City car may be 

used by the Category 2 Elected Official only within the five boroughs or within a sufficiently close 

geographic range thereof to permit timely return to the City in cases of emergencies.” (Id. (em-

phasis added)) 

As to reimbursement for the use of their City vehicles, the Board determined that, like 

Category 1 elected officials, Category 2 elected officials need not reimburse the City for any per-

mitted use of their City vehicles within the five boroughs. (Id.) The reasoning provided by the 

Board was again based primarily on practical considerations:  “a rule requiring these officials to 

keep track daily of the breadth and duration of non-City use ultimately would devolve into a 

complex of such minute detail as to be incomprehensible or unworkable, or both.” (Id. at 12-13) 

However, any Category 2 elected official’s use of a City vehicle for travel outside of the City’s five 

boroughs, but within a range permitting timely return to the City, is “presumptively considered 

personal and will thus require reimbursement to the City,” unless the Category 2 elected official 

can make “a showing that a particular trip outside the City is clearly and exclusively for an official 

purpose.” (Id. at 13, 15-16) 
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ii. The 2012 AO 

On December 19, 2012, after receiving “a number of questions from public servants, in-

cluding in particular from current City elected officials who anticipate being candidates for elec-

tive office in the near future,” the Board issued the 2012 AO, entitled “Political Activities: Cam-

paign Related Activities.” The 2012 AO addresses whether public servants may, in accordance 

with the prohibitions of Chapter 68 and the Board Rules, engage in certain political-campaign-

related activities. The Board analyzed the propriety of the specific activities at issue under a num-

ber of Charter provisions, including Charter § 2604(b)(2), as well as under Board Rules § 1-13(a)4 

and (b). (See 2012 AO at 1-4) 

Initially, the Board stated unequivocally that “political activities always fall within the pro-

hibition on use of City time or resources, that is, there is no ‘incidental use’ exception for political 

activities.” (Id. at 2 (emphasis in original)) In other words, according to the Board, a public serv-

ant’s use of City time or resources for political activities, regardless of how seemingly minor the 

use may appear, always violates Board Rules § 1-13(a) or (b). At the same time, the Board ex-

pressly acknowledged that the 2009 AO—which, as just discussed, permits certain elected offi-

cials to make use of their City-owned vehicles for personal or political purposes without reim-

bursement—constitutes an “exception to this flat ban” on the use of City time or resources of 

political purposes. (Id. at 2 n.1) 

As relevant to Board Rules § 1-13(a) and (b), the 2012 AO goes on to determine, among 

other things, that: 

(1) City schedulers are prohibited from using City time or resources to arrange cam-

paign events (id. at 5); 

(2) City employees who receive telephone calls or email messages concerning an offi-

cial’s election campaign may respond to such inquiries only by providing cam-

paign contact information (id. at 7); 

 
 4 Board Rules § 1-13(a) provides that “it shall be a violation of City Charter § 2604(b)(2) for any public servant to 

pursue personal and private activities during times when the public servant is required to perform services for the 

City.” 53 R.C.N.Y. § 1.13(a). 



155404/2023 Bill de Blasio v. New York City Conflict of Interest Board et al. Page 12 of 81 

Mot. Seq. No. 002 

(3) City employees who act as a “body person” or an “advance person” to an elected 

official may attend campaign events on City time “only if it can reasonably be an-

ticipated that they would be required to perform official City duties at the event 

and if the only duties they in fact perform at the event are official City duties,” and 

because an “advance person” would have few, if any, City duties to perform at 

campaign events, “it would ordinarily violate Chapter 68 for an advance person 

to attend campaign events on City time” (id. at 8-10 (emphasis in original)); and 

(4) photographs of elected officials taken by City employees may only be provided to 

the official’s election campaign if they are also made available to the public, and 

then only on the same terms and by the same process as to the public (id. at 10-11). 

C. Petitioner’s NYPD Security Detail 

Petitioner was elected Mayor of New York City in 2013 and took office in 2014. (Verified 

Pet., dated June 15, 2023 (“Pet.”) (NYSCEF Doc. 1), ¶ 27). He served in that position until his sec-

ond term ended on December 31, 2021. (Id. ¶ 74) 

Throughout his two terms as Mayor, Petitioner and his immediate family were assigned 

an NYPD security detail that provided them with protection seven days a week, 24 hours a day, 

regardless of their location or the activity in which they were engaged, whether official or unoffi-

cial in nature. (See id. ¶¶ 41, 44) For example, Petitioner alleges that, in 2014, he and his family 

traveled to Italy “in part on official City business and in part for a family vacation” and that the 

NYPD provided Petitioner and his family with a security detail for that trip without the City 

seeking to recoup any costs. (Id. ¶ 45) Petitioner also alleges more generally that, during his tenure 

as Mayor, “he . . . travelled outside the City, on overnight trips, for political purposes, including 

political fundraising, support of other candidates or the Democratic Party, and political meet-

ings.” (Id. ¶ 46) According to Petitioner, the “NYPD provided a full-time NYPD protective detail 

to [Petitioner] on all of those occasions, and all of the expenses for this protective detail were 

borne by the City.” (Id.) 

The decision to assign Petitioner and his immediate family a full-time security detail was 

made solely by the NYPD, based on its assessment of the number, seriousness, and credibility of 

the threats that Petitioner and his immediate family faced to their safety. (See id. ¶¶ 39, 42-43) 
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Petitioner alleges that “[i]t is the practice of the NYPD to conduct an ongoing threat assessment 

facing each Mayor and to provide a protective security detail to all designated protectees . . . as it 

deems necessary based on the threats they face.” (Id. ¶ 32) The City provides mayors security 

details like the one provided to Petitioner allegedly “to protect and advance the City’s interests 

in a functioning City government” and to “create a constant channel for City officials, secure in-

formation about City business and operations, and governance during times of crisis.” (Id. ¶ 33) 

The City, Petitioner alleges, “has a compelling interest in securing the safety of its Mayor.” (Id. 

¶ 34) 

During Petitioner’s time in office, the “NYPD’s Intelligence Bureau Threat Management 

Unit recorded at least 292 known threats to [Petitioner] that required investigation, and at times, 

increased security.” (Id. ¶ 40) Petitioner alleges that, based on its analysis of the threats that Peti-

tioner and his family faced, the NYPD designated Petitioner—just like it had designated “all pre-

vious mayors in recent City history”—a so-called “Category 1” elected official requiring around-

the-clock security.5 (Id. ¶ 41) “At no point did [Petitioner] ever question, interrogate, influence, or 

overrule the NYPD’s security determination or attempt to increase, modify, or reject the protec-

tive detail provided by the NYPD;” instead, Petitioner allegedly “deferred to the NYPD’s mission 

and relied upon its professional judgment about the appropriate nature and level of its protective 

services for him and his family.” (Id. ¶ 43) 

Petitioner concedes that the NYPD—allegedly consistent with its past practice—provided 

Petitioner and his immediate family with a full-time protective detail for 31 out-of-state political 

events held during his campaign for the office of President of the United States, which he 

launched on or about May 16, 2019. (See id. ¶¶ 28, 36-38, 50, 67, 69-70) Petitioner alleges that the 

NYPD provided a protective detail on these trips “[u]nder its authority to use its best law en-

forcement judgment to protect the City’s Mayor” and based on its assessment “that the threats 

that [Petitioner] faced throughout his term in office were credible, genuine, and immediate.” (See 

id. ¶¶ 50-51) According to Petitioner, “[i]n 2019, NYPD assessed that the threat to [Petitioner] and 

his family during his presidential campaign was particularly high and credible, exacerbated by 

inflammatory statements made by then-President Donald J. Trump.” (Id. ¶ 47) Specifically, “the 

 
 5 It is unclear whether this alleged Category 1 designation is or is meant to be equivalent to a Category 1 designa-

tion under the 2009 AO. 
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NYPD identified threats or risk to [Petitioner] and his family’s safety and security by various 

militia groups, including the Oath Keepers . . . , the Three Percenters . . . , The Base . . . , and 

QAnon,” as well as by a “self-avowed follower of ISIS” who was allegedly considering an attack 

on Gracie Mansion, Petitioner’s official residence, and a “person who later supported the January 

6 insurrection” who “had been arrested across the street from Gracie Mansion for possessing an 

assault weapon, a shotgun, a pistol, and hundreds of rounds of ammunition.” (Id. ¶¶ 49, 52) These 

threats,” Petitioner emphasizes, “came against the backdrop of a marked rise in violence directed 

at elected officials generally during the past decade,” citing, among other examples, the January 

6 insurrection. (Id. ¶ 53) 

D. The 2019 AO 

On May 8, 2019, eight days before Petitioner announced his campaign for the presidency, 

Kapil Longani, Counsel to the Mayor, wrote to the Board seeking an advisory opinion addressing 

two questions: 

• Under the assumption that NYPD has determined that security is 

required, can the City pay all costs associated with providing 

NYPD-approved security for the Mayor on a political trip? 

• Under the assumption that NYPD has determined that security is 

required for members of the Mayor’s immediate family, can the 

City pay all costs associated with providing security for the 

Mayor’s immediate family members on a political trip? 

(Reisbaum Aff., Ex. C (NYSCEF Doc. 33)) 

On May 15, 2019, the day before Petitioner announced his campaign, the Board sent Mr. 

Longani the 2019 AO, in which the Board answered both of Mr. Longani’s questions in the nega-

tive. (Id., Ex. D (“2019 AO”) (NYSCEF Doc. 34); see also Pet. ¶ 63) Specifically, the Board deter-

mined that while the officers’ salaries and overtime could be paid by the City, any of the officers’ 

ancillary costs associated with campaign trips must be paid by the campaign, writing in conclu-

sion: 

Where NYPD has made the determination that security provided by 

NYPD is necessary to protect the Mayor [or a member of the Mayor’s im-

mediate family] when [they] travel outside of the City as part of a cam-

paign in which [the Mayor] is pursuing non-City elected office for himself, 

the City may pay for the salary and/or overtime of NYPD personnel as-

signed to provide that security for the Mayor [or a member of the Mayor’s 

immediate family] on such a campaign trip. 
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However, the City may pay for only the salary and/or overtime of the 

NYPD personnel on such a campaign trip. All other costs associated with 

such personal campaign travel—including but not limited to airfare, 

rental cars, overnight accommodations, meals, and other reasonable inci-

dental expenses—must not be borne by the City. Rather, these costs must 

be paid or reimbursed by the Mayor’s campaign committee. 

(2019 AO at 4-5 (emphasis in original); see also Pet. ¶¶ 65-66) 

At the outset of the 2019 AO, the Board first acknowledged that Mr. Longani’s questions 

were questions of “first impression for the Board, not clearly covered by any Board Rules or prior 

advisory opinions,” and that the closest the Board had come to addressing the issue on a prior 

occasion was in the 2009 AO. (Id. at 2) Accordingly, the Board’s subsequent analysis of the issue 

in the 2019 AO is preceded by a discussion of what the Board had and had not consider in the 

2009 AO. 

As to what the Board had considered in the 2009 AO, the Board wrote that it had “ad-

dress[ed] the question of the proper use by certain City elected officials of an official City vehicle 

and accompanying personnel, and of the kind of travel that could be accomplished by using a 

City vehicle, that is, presumably travel within driving distance of the City.” (Id. (emphasis added)) 

Similarly, according to the Board, “[i]n evaluating the use of a City vehicle and security personnel 

in connection with political events in [the 2009 AO],” the Board “contemplated events in or near 

the City.” (Id. (emphasis added)) With respect to travel within the City, “when official and political 

business might be mixed,” the Board had, in the 2009 AO, rejected the requirement that “an 

elected official . . . apportion the use of the City vehicle between City and non-City pur-

poses . . . because it would pose ‘an impossible and an unfair accounting burden.’” (Id. (quoting 

the 2009 AO at 10)) But the Board concluded in the 2019 AO that “[t]here would be no great ac-

counting burden in allocating costs for political trips, unrelated to City business, at a distance 

from the City.” (Id.) 

By contrast, the Board wrote that it had not considered in the 2009 AO “the use of City 

resources in connection with purely political travel at a distance from the City.” (Id. (emphasis 

added)) Nor, according to the Board, did the Board’s discussion in the 2009 AO “consider the 

many different kinds of out-of-town political travel in which an elected City official can engage.” 

(Id. at 3) After providing examples of such differing circumstances, the Board chose to limit its 



155404/2023 Bill de Blasio v. New York City Conflict of Interest Board et al. Page 16 of 81 

Mot. Seq. No. 002 

analysis in the 2019 AO to “out-of-City political travel incident to the Mayor’s pursuit of non-City 

elective office for himself.” (Id.) 

Proceeding to the core of its analysis, the Board next reiterated its recognition of the prin-

ciple, earlier recognized by the Board in the 2009 AO, that “the Mayor’s ‘need for protection and 

security remains the same whether the official ventures forth to perform a personal rather than 

an official task or to attend a private social function rather than a political event.’” (Id. (quoting 

the 2009 AO at 9)) The Board further acknowledged that this reasoning “applies to travel to and 

attendance at purely political events, whether in or at a distance from the City.” (Id.) Based on 

this reasoning, the Board concluded that the City could pay the salary and overtime of the 

Mayor’s and his immediately family’s security details during out-of-state political trips. (Id.) 

These costs, the Board observed, “would generally be the same whether the Mayor is at a political 

event in Brooklyn or Des Moines.” (Id.) 

Any ancillary costs of the Mayor’s security detail for trips outside of the City, such as 

airfare, rental cars, hotel accommodations, meals, and other necessary related expenses, were not, 

however, payable by the City. (Id.) Such costs, the Board reasoned, were “not the same as ancillary 

security costs for local political activity and thus may require substantial public expenditures to 

support purely political activity.” (Id.) The Board further reasoned that such additional travel-

related costs were “necessitated by the fact of long-distance travel to accompany the Mayor on a 

purely political trip” and “would not ordinarily be incurred in connection with political travel 

within the City.” (Id.) Thus, the Board concluded, the City’s payment of “these additional costs 

for out-of-City travel incurred as part of the Mayor’s campaign for non-City elective office would 

be” a violation of Charter § 2604(b)(2) and (3). (Id.) The Board noted that such costs, “when in-

curred in the course of a political campaign, would ordinarily be charged to a political or cam-

paign committee.” (Id.) 

Neither Petitioner nor Mr. Longani nor any other individual purporting to represent Pe-

titioner sought reconsideration of the 2019 AO prior to any of Petitioner’s 31 campaign trips—i.e., 

prior to taking the actions that were the subject of the 2019 AO. Rather, Mr. Longani wrote to the 

Board seeking reconsideration on July 22, 2021, long after Petitioner ended his campaign in Sep-

tember 2020. (Reisbaum Aff., Ex. F (“OATH R&R”) (NYSCEF Doc. 36) at 4 n.1) The Board denied 

Mr. Longani’s request as untimely. (Id.) 
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E. The DOI Investigation 

In or about late August or early September 2019, the Board requested, pursuant to its au-

thority under Charter § 2603(f), that the DOI investigate whether the NYPD was bearing any an-

cillary costs—e.g., airfare, rental cars, hotel accommodations, or meals—of Petitioner’s and his 

immediate family’s security details incurred during travel related to Petitioner’s campaign for 

President. (See id., Ex. K (“OATH Hrg. Tr.”) (NYSCEF Doc. 41) at 38:5-23; OATH R&R at 15; see 

also Pet. ¶ 71) That request was made in conjunction with a request that the DOI also investigate 

the separate matter of Petitioner’s daughter’s use of the NYPD in assisting her in an apartment 

move, as had been reported by the New York Daily News. (See OATH Hrg. Tr. 38:14-23) The DOI, 

however, had already opened an investigation into the matter involving Petitioner’s daughter 

after the Daily News article was published and prior to the Board’s referral. (See id. at 38:5-17) The 

two investigations were therefore combined into one, and that investigation was later, in or about 

October 2019, combined with an investigation into a separate third matter:  whether Petitioner’s 

son had improperly used his security detail for transportation to Yale University, where he was 

studying at the time. (Id. at 38:24-39:9; see also OATH R&R at 15) The DOI chose to investigate all 

three matters together, as part of one single investigation, because each matter involved the use 

of the NYPD security detail and would thus involve overlapping witnesses. (See OATH Hrg. Tr. 

at 39:10-22, 71:19-72:3; OATH R&R at 4) 

The DOI first requested that the NYPD produce documents related to their officers’ ex-

penses incurred while providing security to Petitioner and his immediate family during Peti-

tioner’s campaign by letter dated September 19, 2019. (See OATH Hrg. Tr. at 42:1-10, 43:3-44:3) 

That letter also requested documents pertinent to the other aspects of the investigation. (See id. at 

42:11-43:2) Shortly after service of the letter, the NYPD began producing documents responsive 

to the DOI’s requests on a rolling basis, but documents responsive to the DOI’s specific request 

concerning the security details’ campaign-related travel and other ancillary costs would not be 

provided to the DOI until in or about mid-March 2020. (See id. at 45:12-48:18) This initial response 

contained hundreds of documents but, after review, was nevertheless determined by the DOI to 

be incomplete, missing documents relating to two trips by Petitioner’s wife to South Carolina and 

Pennsylvania in September 2019. (See id. at 48:18-24, 51:8-16, 52:5-24, 54:12-19) Subsequently, the 

COVID-19 pandemic put a halt to further NYPD productions of documents responsive to the 
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DOI’s requests. (See id. at 49:17-50:17) After the pandemic had subsided, by email dated April 16, 

2021, and then by letter dated May 6, 2021, the DOI followed up with the NYPD on the outstand-

ing productions. (See id. at 52:5-54:19) On or about May 28, 2021, the NYPD produced the out-

standing documents concerning Petitioner’s wife’s trips to South Carolina and Pennsylvania. (See 

id. at 55:13-16) 

On or about May 11, 2020, the DOI sent a subpoena to Petitioner’s campaign seeking, po-

tentially among other things, documents relating to Petitioner’s campaign trips outside of the City 

between May 1 and September 30, 2019, and any payments made by the campaign to the NYPD 

during that same period. (See id. at 89:3-90:25) On July 2 and October 12, 2020, an attorney for the 

campaign responded to the subpoena by providing the DOI “with a list of all of [Petitioner’s] 

campaign trips, stat[ing] that [Petitioner’s] campaign had not reimbursed or made any payments 

to [the] NYPD, and referr[ing] [the] DOI to public disclosure reports that the campaign filed with 

the Federal Elections Commission (“FEC”).” (OATH R&R at 4; OATH Hrg. Tr. at 91:1-18, 106:6-

107:21) 

Additionally, during the DOI’s investigation, its investigators interviewed a number of 

relevant individuals. The DOI characterized those individuals as falling into four categories:  (1) 

all members of Petitioner’s and his immediate family’s NYPD security details, including their 

supervisors, numbering a total of between 15 and 20 individuals; (2) certain City Hall staffers who 

had interacted with the security details; (3) members of federal agencies (supposedly interviewed 

to determine best practices); and, finally, (4) Petitioner and his wife, Ms. Chirlane McCray. (OATH 

Hrg. Tr. at 56:2-57:23) 

After numerous attempts by the DOI to schedule Petitioner’s and Ms. McCray’s inter-

views, their interviews were finally conducted on July 28 (Ms. McCray) and July 29, 2021 (Peti-

tioner). (See id. at 58:1-64:2, 96:1-4; Aff. of Andrew G. Celli, Jr. in Supp. of Bill de Blasio’s Opp’n to 

Resp’ts’ Mot. to Dismiss, dated Dec. 15, 2024 (“Celli Dec. Aff.”) (NYSCEF Doc. 44), Ex. A (“de 

Blasio Interview Tr.”)) 

During his interview, Petitioner testified that he consulted with the Mr. Longani, the City’s 

Corporation Counsel, or his campaign counsel on questions concerning the City’s conflicts-of-

interest laws. (See de Blasio Interview Tr. at 11:7-8, 66:21-67:7) He also testified that many 
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conversations between his campaign attorney and Mr. Longani occurred. (Id. at 67:10-16) Accord-

ing to Petitioner, he received conflicting advice concerning his use of his NYPD security detail on 

campaign trips. Specifically, Petitioner recalled that Mr. Longani had reported having a “very 

clear” conversation with the Board’s counsel and what Mr. Longani viewed “as absolutely con-

tradictory or different” guidance. (Id. at 67:18-68:3) Petitioner also stated that, to his knowledge, 

there was “very different guidance” and “an unresolved issue.” (Id. at 68:1-3) He stated that he 

did not receive what he “felt was a fully clear understanding,” he still did “not have a 100% clear 

understanding,” and it remained “an unresolved issue.” (Id. at 70:14-17)  

Petitioner further testified that while he was unsure whether he recognized the copy of 

the 2019 AO shown to him during the interview, he knew there was written guidance and had 

discussed it with the NYPD. (Id. at 75:24-76:4, 77-78) When Petitioner was asked if he was aware 

that the Board had advised Mr. Longani that the NYPD had to be reimbursed for the security 

detail’s travel costs, Petitioner answered that it was his understanding that there was “more than 

one type of guidance provided” and it was “still an open question.” (Id. at 76:15-22) He stated 

that he had received “multiple points of information from multiple agencies, plus a historic rec-

ord, wherein different pieces were in conflict.” (Id. at 77:9-15) 

During Petitioner’s interview, the issue of attorney-client privilege was raised concerning 

Petitioner’s conversations with Mr. Longani. DOI Commissioner Margaret Garnett was present 

at and participated in the interview and stated that the privilege belonged to the City and that 

those communications could only be revealed to the public or a third party with the Corporation 

Counsel’s consent. (Id. at 68:4-19) However, because the DOI was incorporated within the City’s 

privilege, the contents of the communications could, according to Commissioner Garnett, be re-

vealed during the interview. (Id.) After a short break, Petitioner’s interview continued, and, de-

spite Commissioner Garnett’s explanation, Petitioner did not disclose any specific details of his 

communications with Mr. Longani. 

In October 2021, the DOI issued a 47-page report summarizing the findings of its investi-

gation. (Pet. ¶ 71; OATH R&R at 15; OATH Hrg. Tr. 67:13, 71:17-72:17) Based on the documents 

provided by the NYPD and Petitioner’s campaign and on the interviews conducted by the DOI, 

the DOI concluded that Petitioner’s NYPD security detail incurred $319,794.20 in campaign-re-

lated travel costs, including “airfare, car rentals, overnight accommodations, meals, and other 
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incidentals,” and that Petitioner’s campaign had not repaid any portion of that amount to the 

NYPD or the City. (OATH R&R at 3, 6; OATH Hr. Tr. 101:14-102:7) Petitioner does not contest this 

amount, but he asserts that neither the City nor the NYPD has ever sent him or his campaign “an 

invoice, statement, or other accounting reflecting” the $319,794.20 or any portion thereof. (Pet. 

¶ 73; OATH Hrg. Tr. at 22:21-23) 

F. The OATH R&R 

On April 22, 2022, pursuant to Charter § 2606(h)(1) and Board Rules § 2-02(a)(1), the Board 

sent Petitioner a Notice of Initial Determination of Probable Cause. (Reisbaum Aff., Ex. G (the 

“PC Notice”) (NYSCEF Doc. 37)) The PC Notice informed Petitioner that “[t]he Board . . . has 

made an initial determination that, by using $319,794.20 in City funds to pay for the travel ex-

penses incurred by [the security detail] accompanying you and your family on Campaign-related 

trips, you used a City resource for a non-City purpose in violation of City Charter § 2604(b)(2), 

pursuant to Board Rules § 1-13(b).” (Id. at 2) As required by Charter § 2606(h)(1) and Board Rules 

§ 2-02(b)(1), the PC Notice also informed Petitioner of his “opportunity to respond to, explain, 

rebut, or provide information concerning the[] allegations within twenty (20) days of [the] service 

of” the PC Notice. (Id. at 3) Through counsel, Petitioner filed a response with the Board on July 

13, 2022. (See id., Ex. H (NYSCEF Doc. 38)) 

On August 26, 2022, after Petitioner had left office, the Board filed a Petition against Peti-

tioner with OATH, indicating that the Board had sustained its initial probable-cause determina-

tion despite Petitioner’s response to the PC Notice. (Id., Ex. I (NYSCEF Doc. 39); see also Pet. ¶ 75) 

The Petition charged Petitioner with one violation of Charter § 2604(b)(2) and 31 violations (one 

for each out-of-City trip during Petitioner’s campaign) of Board Rules § 1-13(b). (Reisbaum Aff., 

Ex. I at 3-4) The Board sought an order requiring Petitioner to reimburse the City for the 

$319,794,20 in campaign-related travel costs incurred by Petitioner’s security detail and imposing 

a fine on Petitioner in the amount of $25,000.00 for each of the 31 alleged violations of Board Rules 

§ 1-13(b). (Id. at 4) 

On December 22, 2022, OATH held an evidentiary hearing remotely by videoconference 

before Administrative Law Judge (“ALJ”) Kevin Casey. (See OATH Hrg. Tr.) The Board and Peti-

tioner, both of whom were represented by counsel, each called two witnesses at the hearing:  (a) 

the Board called Eleonora Rivkin and Juve Hippolyte, a Senior Inspector General and an Inspector 
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General at the DOI, respectively (id. at 35:3-128:22); and (b) Petitioner called John Miller, former 

NYPD Deputy Commissioner for Intelligence and Counterterrorism, and Henry T. Berger, former 

Special Counsel to the Mayor (id. at 130:13-166:10; OATH R&R at 7-8). Ms. Rivkin and Ms. Hip-

polyte were both members of the DOI team that investigated Petitioner’s and his family’s use of 

their security details and testified about that investigation. (OATH Hrg. Tr. at 39:23-40:11, 87:4-7; 

OATH R&R at 4) Mr. Miller oversaw Petitioner’s security detail at the NYPD and testified to is-

sues concerning it. (OATH Hrg. Tr. at 131:21-132:2; OATH R&R at 7) Mr. Berger counseled Peti-

tioner on New York conflict-of-interest issues while Petitioner was Mayor and at times consulted 

with the Board on Petitioner’s behalf. (See OATH Hrg. Tr. at 151:8-152:11; OATH R&R at 7) Mr. 

Berger had also served as counsel to other political campaigns. (OATH Hrg. Tr. at 149:21-150:9; 

OATH R&R at 7) He testified about, among other things, the nature of his communications with 

the Board and his understanding of how the Board’s prior advisory opinions related to political 

travel. (See OATH R&R at 7) 

Neither Petitioner nor Mr. Longani testified at the hearing. (Id.) Prior to the hearing, how-

ever, Petitioner had sought an adjournment because Mr. Longani was out of town and unavaila-

ble to testify. (See OATH Hrg. Tr. at 166:17-167:8; OATH R&R at 8 n.2) ALJ Casey denied the 

request but offered to schedule a second hearing day to allow Mr. Longani to appear. (See OATH 

Hrg. Tr. at 166:17-167:8; OATH R&R at 8 n.2) Petitioner did not take ALJ Casey up on his offer, 

however, instead choosing to rest his case on December 22 without calling Mr. Longani. (OATH 

Hrg. Tr. at 166:11-16; OATH R&R at 8 n.2) 

On May 4, 2023, ALJ Casey issued the OATH R&R. (See OATH R&R; Pet. ¶ 78) Initially, 

ALJ Casey found that the Board had proved its charges against Petitioner because his failure to 

reimburse the City for his security detail’s campaign-related travel expenses:  (a) “conflicted with 

his duty to prevent the misuse of City resources,” which duty derived from his Charter-imposed 

responsibility for the “‘effectiveness and integrity of city government operations’” (id. at 8 (quot-

ing Charter § 8(a))); and (b) constituted the use of City resources for the non-City purpose of his 

presidential campaign (OATH R&R at 8-9). ALJ Casey observed that the Board had, via the 2019 

AO, provided clear guidance to Petitioner as to whether his actions would violate Charter 

§ 2604(b)(2) and Board Rules § 1-3(b), but Petitioner failed to follow it. (See id. at 9) ALJ Casey 

recommended that Petitioner be ordered to reimburse the City for Petitioner’s security detail’s 
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$319,794.20 in campaign-related travel expenses and pay a fine in the total amount of $155,000. 

(Id. at 1, 24; Pet. ¶ 79) 

In the course of making his recommendations, ALJ Casey rejected each of Petitioner’s ar-

guments for dismissal of the charges: 

(1) He first rejected Petitioner’s argument that the Board was required to engage in 

formal rulemaking to enforce the prohibition, on the ground that “the Board al-

ready has a rule prohibiting [Petitioner’s] conduct,” namely, Board Rules § 1-13(b). 

(Id. at 10) ALJ Casey found that, contrary to Petitioner’s contention, the 2019 AO 

“was not creating a new rule of general applicability” but was instead “addressing 

the specific questions before [the Board].” (Id. at 11) 

(2) ALJ Casey next rejected Petitioner’s argument that the 2019 AO “ignores and es-

sentially reverses” the 2009 AO. (Id. at 11-12) The 2019 AO did not ignore the 2009 

AO, ALJ Casey found, because the 2019 AO directly recognized the existence of 

the 2009 AO and explained at length how it “addressed a limited and different 

issue.” (Id. at 11) ALJ Casey found that the 2009 AO “does not create a blanket 

exception to the ban on using City resources for a non-City purpose” but is “lim-

ited to the use of City-owned vehicles,” as further demonstrated by the 2012 AO’s 

express acknowledgment that the 2009 AO was an exception to the flat ban on us-

ing City time or resources for political activities. (Id.) 

Additionally, according to ALJ Casey, the 2019 AO did not reverse the 2009 AO, 

because the 2019 AO “responded to the specific questions presented and distin-

guished between the use of a car and personnel for local activities and the substan-

tial additional travel costs associated with a presidential campaign.” (Id. at 12) ALJ 

Casey pointed in support to the fact that the 2019 AO emphasized that the advice 

it was providing “addressed only one type of political travel—travel by the Mayor or 

members of his immediate family in connection with the Mayor’s candidacy for 

non-City elective office.” (Id. (emphasis in original)) Moreover, ALJ Casey rejected 

the relevance or persuasiveness of the prior political campaigns of other individu-

als running for offices other than President of the United States and the 
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hypothetical future campaigns on which Petitioner relied, finding that this case is 

instead “limited to the question of whether the travel costs incurred by NYPD for 

[Petitioner’s] presidential campaign served a City purpose.” (Id.) Like the 2019 AO, 

ALJ Casey observed that “a presidential campaign is fundamentally different in 

scope than a run for local office and . . . involves a significant expenditure of re-

sources” and that, “unlike a campaign for local office, where it may be difficult to 

distinguish between the travel costs associated with City and non-City business, 

the travel costs of providing out-of-town security for a presidential campaign are 

readily identifiable.” (Id.) 

(3) ALJ Casey next rejected Petitioner’s argument that the Board was “throwing out 

deference to decades of NYPD practice” and had “abandoned deference to NYPD 

security decisions.” (Id. at 13) To the contrary, ALJ Casey held, the Board did not 

dispute the need for Petitioner’s security detail or that the City should pay the 

security detail’s salaries, nor did the Board interfere “with the NYPD’s assessment 

of security threats or question[] NYPD’s security expertise.” (Id.) Rather, the Board 

merely “maintain[ed] that [Petitioner] should not expect the City to assume the 

substantial additional travel expenses caused by his presidential campaign.” (Id.) 

ALJ Casey observed that the Board “is responsible for interpreting and enforcing 

the City’s conflicts of interest laws,” and that it “rationally distinguished between 

costs associated with local security needs and substantial out-of-state travel costs 

associated with a presidential campaign,” consistent with “the Board’s long-stand-

ing interest in limiting the extent to which public servants use City resources for 

political activity.” (Id.) Citing state and federal case law concerning the deference 

afforded to agency decisions, ALJ Casey held that “the fact that reasonable people 

may interpret the Charter and Board’s rules differently does not render the Board’s 

analysis irrational or unreasonable.” (Id. at 14) Finally, ALJ Casey held that it was 

“within the Board’s authority” to reach the conclusions that it did in this case and 

that “[t]o hold otherwise would give respondent, rather than the Board, the sole 

power to decide that City resources can be expended for his presidential cam-

paign.” (Id.) 
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(4) Finally, ALJ Casey rejected Petitioner’s argument that the Board “unreasonably 

and unjustifiably delayed the commencement of this action for three years, which 

[allegedly] created substantial prejudice, compromised his constitutional right to 

receive and rely on legal counsel, and deprived him of his right to due process 

prior to the ordering of any penalty.” (Id. at 14-15 (internal quotation marks omit-

ted)) ALJ Casey found that Petitioner failed to show that the Board was responsible 

for any delay in commencing the enforcement action and that, in any event, the 

Board “presented credible evidence that the DOI acted diligently” in conducting 

its investigation and “reasonably when it combined this investigation with two 

other similar investigations.” (Id. at 15) ALJ Casey further found that, contrary to 

Petitioner’s contention, the DOI’s investigation was not “redundant because [Peti-

tioner’s] FEC filing showed that his campaign had not reimbursed NYPD.” (Id.) 

Petitioner’s “campaign filings did not show the travel expenses that NYPD in-

curred,” and, thus, “[f]or that information,” ALJ Casey concluded that “DOI 

needed documents from NYPD[,] and it needed to compare the information that 

it received from NYPD with the information provided by [Petitioner] and his cam-

paign.” (Id.) 

Petitioner contended that he could have waived the privilege protecting his com-

munications with Mr. Longani from disclosure and presented such evidence as 

part of an advice-of-counsel defense if Petitioner had still been Mayor when the 

evidentiary hearing occurred, but ALJ Casey rejected that contention on multiple 

grounds. Initially, ALJ Casey concluded that the “central flaw in [Petitioner’s] ar-

gument is that a public servant who uses City resources for a non-City purpose 

cannot blame that conduct on bad or inadequate advice from counsel.” (Id.) ALJ 

Casey found that, based on Petitioner’s interview with the DOI, Petitioner knew 

about the 2019 AO and that if he “had any doubt or uncertainty about the Board’s 

advice, he could have done what any other City employee is expected to do—he 

could have asked the Board himself.” (Id. at 16) “Deliberate indifference to the 

Board’s response,” ALJ Casey concluded, “is not a defense.” (Id.) Aside from the 

substantive lack of merit of Petitioner’s contention, ALJ Casey also found that 
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Petitioner was not in fact prevented from raising an advice-of-attorney defense, 

because the DOI Commissioner present during Petitioner’s DOI interview in-

formed Petitioner that the New York City Law Department had permitted Peti-

tioner to reveal his communications with Mr. Longani. (Id. at 16-17) It was Peti-

tioner who chose not to reveal them. (Id.) 

ALJ Casey also addressed and rejected Petitioner’s arguments concerning why the relief 

that the Board sought—i.e., reimbursement to the City of the security detail’s $319,794.20 in cam-

paign-related travel costs and a penalty against Petitioner in the total amount of $775,000—should 

not be awarded: 

(1) He first rejected Petitioner’s argument that, under Charter § 2606(d), the Board 

could not impose a fine because no rule of the Board prohibited the charged con-

duct. (See id. at 18-19) To the contrary, ALJ Casey found, the 2019 AO specifically 

identified Board Rules § 1-13(b) as applying to prohibit Petitioner’s conduct, and 

the 2019 AO’s statement that “[t]he questions you have asked are ones of first im-

pression for the Board, not clearly covered by any Board Rules or prior advisory 

opinions,” was isolated and not reflective of the Board’s analysis and conclusions 

in the remainder of the 2019 AO. (See id.) ALJ Casey concluded that, “[c]onsistent 

with section 2606(d) of the Charter, the Board fairly identified the specific rule that 

prohibited [Petitioner’s] proposed conduct.” (Id. at 19) 

(2) ALJ Casey next rejected Petitioner’s argument that he could not be fined because 

the Board failed to consult with the “head of the agency involved” or with the 

Mayor, as allegedly required under Charter § 2606(b). (See id. at 19-21) ALJ Casey 

concluded that Petitioner’s position—effectively, that the Board “can never fine a 

former Mayor, Comptroller, or Borough President without consulting with them 

before they leave office”—was an illogical interpretation of the statutory text and 

not required under the law. (Id. at 19) According to ALJ Casey, “[t]he obvious de-

sign of the consultation requirement is to allow for input from the City official 

responsible for overseeing a public servant’s work.” (Id.) But, ALJ Casey observed, 

“[w]hen a Mayor, Comptroller, or Borough President violates the conflicts of in-

terest laws, there is no higher-ranking person to consult.” (Id.) These elected 
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officials, ALJ Casey concluded, may, “[l]ike any other public servant,” “submit 

comments to the Board before imposition of any penalty.” (Id.) 

(3) ALJ Casey next rejected Petitioner’s argument that he could not be required to re-

imburse the City under Charter § 2606(b-1). (Id. at 21-22) Petitioner advanced an 

interpretation of that statute that only allowed the Board to seek reimbursement 

where a penalty was first imposed. (Id. at 21) But ALJ Casey rejected that interpre-

tation as mistaken, and further held that even if Petitioner’s interpretation were 

correct, a penalty had properly been imposed so reimbursement could be required 

as well. (See id. at 22) 

(4) Finally, ALJ Casey rejected Petitioner’s argument that he could not be held person-

ally liable for repayment to the City. (Id. at 22-24) Initially, ALJ Casey concluded 

that the Board’s statement in the 2019 AO that Petitioner’s campaign committee 

must pay or reimburse the City for the costs of Petitioner’s security detail’s cam-

paign-related travel “should not be construed as a waiver of [the Board’s] author-

ity to seek repayment of City resources.” (Id. at 22-23) Rather, according to ALJ 

Casey, “[r]equiring repayment from one who benefits from the misuse of City re-

sources for a non-City purpose is consistent with the statute and Board’s prece-

dents.” (Id. at 23) Further, in rejecting Petitioner’s argument that he first needed to 

be served with a bill for the costs before an enforcement action could be main-

tained, ALJ Casey concluded that that was not the case and that Petitioner “should 

be held to the same ethical standard as a school payroll secretary or DOC official 

who misuses City resources for a non-City purpose,” referring to prior Board en-

forcement actions in unrelated cases. (Id.) Moreover, ALJ Casey concluded that the 

City’s Campaign Finance Act was inapplicable and that the Federal Election Cam-

paign Act did not preempt the Board’s “ability to enforce violations of the City’s 

conflicts of interest laws,” relying for that latter point on the New York Court of 

Appeals’s decision in Holtzman v. Oliensis, 91 N.Y.2d 488, 494 (1998). (Id. at 23-24) 

“Even if federal campaign finance regulations do not require reporting or repay-

ment of the travel expenses incurred by [Petitioner’s] security detail,” ALJ Casey 

held, “the Board has broad authority to seek repayment for ‘the value of any gain 
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or benefit obtained by the respondent as a result of a violation.’” (Id. at 24 (quoting 

Charter § 2606(b-1))) 

Ultimately, although ALJ Casey determined that imposition of a penalty against Petitioner 

was authorized and appropriate, he disagreed that the maximum penalty of $25,000 for each of 

the 31 violations, or $775,000 total, was an appropriate amount. (See id. at 20-21) After reviewing 

penalties imposed in prior enforcement actions against high-level City officials and finding that 

they ranged between $1,000 to $7,500 per violation, ALJ Casey determined that, while a substan-

tial penalty was indeed necessary, the appropriate amount of the penalty was $5,000 per violation, 

or $155,000 total. (Id.) 

G. The COIB Order 

On June 15, 2023, the Board issued the COIB Order fully adopting the OATH R&R’s find-

ings of fact and conclusions of law. (Pet., Ex. A (NYSCEF Doc. 1) at 1) The COIB Order also 

adopted the OATH R&R’s recommendations as to the amount of the reimbursement to be re-

quired from and the fine to be imposed on Petitioner. (Id.) 

The Board noted in the COIB Order that both parties had been reminded of their right, 

pursuant to Board Rules § 2-03(h), to submit a post-hearing comment on the OATH R&R but that 

neither party did so within the time allowed. (Id.) 

The Board also included in the COIB Order several observations and conclusions of its 

own, independent of the OATH R&R but expressly without limiting its findings and conclusions: 

The City’s conflicts of interest law, codified in Chapter 68 of the City Char-

ter, exists to “preserve the trust placed in the public servants of the city, to 

promote public confidence in government, to protect the integrity of gov-

ernment decision-making and to enhance government efficiency.” Charter 

Section 2600. Charter Section 2604(b)(2), as implemented in Board Rules 

Section 1-13(b), forwards this critical purpose by prohibiting servants from 

using City resources for any non-City purpose. When a public servant 

uses City resources for private purposes, it erodes the public’s trust and 

makes City government less efficient. For this reason, the Board has rou-

tinely enforced this prohibition, particularly where a public servant uses 

City resources for the non-City purpose of advancing a campaign for elec-

tive office or other political activity. 

[Petitioner’s] conduct plainly violates this prohibition. Although there is a 

City purpose in the City paying for an NYPD security detail for the City’s 

Mayor, including the security detail’s salary and overtime, there is no City 

purpose in paying for the extra expenses incurred by that NYPD security 
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detail to travel at a distance from the City to accompany the Mayor or his 

family on trips for his campaign for President of the United States. The 

Board advised [Petitioner] to this effect prior to his campaign; [Petitioner] 

disregarded the Board’s advice. 

(Id. at 2 (footnote omitted)) The Board, relying in part on Holtzman, 91 N.Y.2d 488, also concluded 

that Charter § 2606(b)’s consultation requirement was inapplicable because Petitioner “was an 

executive branch elected official.” (Id. at 2-3) 

The COIB Order ordered Petitioner to pay a fine of $155,000 and to pay the City 

$319,794.20 within 30 days. (Id. at 3) 

H. The Petition 

Petitioner immediately sought judicial review of the COIB Order, the OATH R&R, and 

the 2019 AO by filing the underlying Verified Petition and Notice of Petition in this proceeding 

on the same day as the COIB Order, June 15, 2023. (Pet.; Notice of Pet., dated June 15, 2023 

(NYSCEF Doc. 2)) 

In the Verified Petition, Petitioner alleges two causes of action. The first cause of action, 

pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, alleges that the Board’s efforts to require Petitioner to reimburse the 

City and pay a fine violate Petitioner’s rights under the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the 

U.S. Constitution. (See Pet. ¶¶ 82-93) Specifically, Petitioner alleges that the Board’s efforts, for 

which it is “relying on” the 2019 AO, are “undue burdens on Petitioner and his federal campaign” 

and “create an unequal burden between candidates who [are] independently wealthy, and those 

like [Petitioner]—a career public servant—who are not.” (Id. ¶ 86) Petitioner further alleges that 

the Board, through its efforts, has allegedly “reversed decades of precedent and practice to the 

contrary.” (Id.) 

Petitioner next alleges that the Board’s efforts to require Petitioner to reimburse the City 

do not, as required under controlling law, further a legitimate substantial or compelling state 

objective. (See id. ¶¶ 87-92) Indeed, Petitioner alleges that the Board’s efforts, rather than further-

ing such an objective, “undermine[] core interests of the City of New York that [the Board] previ-

ously articulated:  promoting the administration of the business of the City of New York and 

protecting its elected leader.” (Id. ¶ 87) Enforcement of the City’s ethics rules is not a compelling 

objective in these circumstances, Petitioner alleges, because “[t]here is no material difference in 
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the ethics of using City funds to protect the Mayor during the day but refusing to spend City 

funds on the NYPD security detail’s hotel room that evening.” (Id. ¶ 92) Further, even if a com-

pelling state objective existed, Petitioner alleges that the Board’s efforts are not reasonably calcu-

lated to achieve it. For example, if the state objective in question is to “protect the public fisc”—

which, according to Petitioner, is not the Board’s mandate—then the Board’s efforts do not 

achieve that objective, Petitioner alleges, because the reimbursement amount “is a small fraction 

of the total resources expended for the NYPD detail of New York City’s Category 1 protectees 

annually” and thus “has no appreciable effect on the budget of the NYPD or the City of New 

York.” (Id. ¶ 90) 

Finally, according to Petitioner’s allegations in the first cause of action, the Board’s “efforts 

to require [Petitioner] to reimburse [the City] . . . , all in the absence of prior notice, a legally-

enforceable rule, or any lawfully-enacted prior condition on his service as Mayor, are unlawful 

and constitute violations of Petitioner’s rights under the First and Fourteenth Amendments.” (Id. 

¶ 93) 

Petitioner’s second cause of action, pursuant to CPLR Article 78, alleges that the 2009 AO, 

the OATH R&R, and the COIB Order are arbitrary and capricious, and should thus be vacated, 

for a number of reasons, each articulated under one of five subheadings presumably in an attempt 

to couch similar ideas: 

(1) Petitioner first alleges that the 2019 AO, the OATH R&R, and the COIB Order are 

arbitrary and capricious because the 2009 AO and the 2019 AO are irreconcilable. 

(See id. ¶¶ 98-100) Petitioner alleges that the 2009 AO “found that affording the 

Mayor, a Category 1 elected official, and his family, a fulltime NYPD protective 

detail at the City’s expense was lawful and consistent with the ethics provisions of 

the New York City Charter,” because a protective detail “furthered the City’s in-

terests in the continuity of City business and protecting the safety of its chief exec-

utive and highest elected official, the Mayor.” (Id. ¶ 98) But, Petitioner further al-

leges, the Board in the 2019 AO contradicts its prior reasoning, “arbitrarily refash-

ion[ing] the City’s interests in Mayoral safety”:  the Board’s “new position was that 

the City’s interest in protecting Category 1 elected officials was overruled by the 

need for the City to collect incidental travel expenses incurred by the NYPD for 
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protective services the NYPD deemed necessary in its professional judgment and 

discretion.” (Id. ¶ 99) 

(2) Petitioner next alleges that 2019 AO, the OATH R&R, and the COIB Order are ar-

bitrary and capricious because “there is no sound logic or reasoning distinguish-

ing coverage of [the security detail’s] incidental expenses by the City . . . from cov-

erage by the city of NYPD salary and overtime” or “between incidental expenses 

incurred by the Mayor’s out-of-state campaigning for President of the United 

States (covered under the 2009 [AO] but supposedly not covered under the [2019 

AO]), out[-]of[-]state campaigning for some other purpose (covered under the 

2009 [AO] and the [2019 AO]), or a personal vacation (covered under the 2009 [AO] 

and the [2019 AO].” (Id. ¶ 104-05) According to Petitioner, the 2009 AO stated that 

“it would not violate the New York City Charter’s ethics rules for the City of New 

York to pay all expenses for the NYPD Mayoral protective detail that the NYPD 

deemed necessary, including transportation and security for official business, un-

official business, political events, and personal events, both inside and outside the 

City of New York.” (Id. ¶ 102) The 2019 AO, by contrast, “reasoned that the City 

should pay all salary and overtime of the NYPD protective detail for the Mayor 

when [Petitioner] took out-of-state trips in connection with a non-City candidacy, 

but not the incidental expenses,” which expenses “would supposedly be for the 

Mayor’s personal benefit to such a degree as to overrule the City of New York’s 

interest in keeping the Mayor safe.” (Id. ¶ 103) Further, Petitioner alleges that the 

2019 AO requires the Board “to make individualized determinations as to the pur-

pose of a Mayor’s political engagements, and whether such purpose was of benefit 

to the City of New York, the Mayor himself, or both to varying degrees,” which 

analysis the 2009 AO allegedly correctly determined was impracticable. (Id. ¶ 106) 

(3) Petitioner next alleges that the 2019 AO and the COIB Order are “arbitrary and 

capricious because the [Board’s] determination as to who pays for what is based 

solely on the geography of the Mayor’s location and type of political engagement,” 

which is allegedly “contrary to the plain language of [Board Rules §] 1-13(b), under 

which the NYPD deploys personnel and resources for the same ‘City purpose’ in 
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other locations, and which does not contemplate the possibility of reimbursement 

as a cure for an alleged violation.” (Id. ¶ 113) Providing around-the-clock protec-

tion to a Category 1 elected official such as the Mayor is a City purpose, according 

to Petitioner, that the “City and the NYPD cannot achieve . . . unless the NYPD’s 

protective detail accompanies the Category 1 elected official at all times.” (Id. 

¶¶ 110-11) Petitioner alleges that the 2019 AO undermines that purpose and is in-

consistent with the language of Board Rules § 1-13(b), which, according to Peti-

tioner, has not been applied in any other context “to prohibit NYPD protection to 

the Mayor or any other Category 1 official.” (Id. ¶ 112) 

(4) Petitioner next alleges that because the Board has offered “shifting views,” embod-

ied in the 2009 AO, the later 2019 AO, and the still later COIB Order, “as to who or 

what entity is responsible for paying” the security detail’s campaign-related travel 

expenses, the Board has “evidence[ed] unsound reasoning and arbitrary and ca-

pricious decision-making.” (Id. ¶¶ 117, 119) The Board’s failure to “promulgate 

rules with clear guidance,” Petitioner alleges, “deprived [Petitioner] of certain of 

his due process rights.” (Id. ¶¶ 115, 119) Specifically, “by initiating enforcement 

action after [Petitioner] had already left office, [the Board] deprived him of timely 

notice and the ability to raise certain defenses only available to the sitting Mayor.” 

(Id. ¶ 119 (emphasis in original)) Additionally, Petitioner alleges that because the 

2019 AO identified Petitioner’s campaign committee, rather than Petitioner him-

self, as the party responsible for reimbursing the City, Petitioner cannot be held 

personally liable for such reimbursement—and nor can the campaign committee 

because the Board did not name the committee as a party in this proceeding. (Id. 

¶¶ 118, 121) 

(5) Petitioner next alleges that the Board exceeded its jurisdiction when it advised, 

through the 2019 AO, that Petitioner’s federal campaign committee should make 

the reimbursement payments. (Id. ¶¶ 122-25) Further, Petitioner alleges that “find-

ing [Petitioner] in violation of the Charter for non-payment of a bill never directed 

to him or his campaign committee is manifestly arbitrary and capricious.” (Id. 

¶ 126). Moreover, Petitioner alleges that “[e]xacting a penalty of $155,000 for this 
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case of first impression would be manifestly unjust and violate the rule of lenity.” 

(Id. ¶ 127) Finally, Petitioner alleges that the 2019 AO “is not an enforceable rule 

and has no force of law,” and that “[a]bsent formal rule-making and proper ad-

vance notice that a rule requires such reimbursement, none of which occurred 

here, the [Board] has no lawful power to order Petitioner or [his campaign] to re-

imburse the City for incidental expenses for the Mayor’s NYPD protective detail, 

or to pay penalties.” (Id. ¶ 128) 

On November 17, 2023, the Board moved to dismiss the Petition pursuant to CPLR 

§ 7804(f) and Rule 3211(a)(7). (Notice of Mot., dated Nov. 17, 2023 (NYSCEF Doc. 28); Mem. of 

Law in Supp. of Mot. to Dismiss, dated Nov. 17, 2023 (“Resp’ts’ Mem.”) (NYSCEF Doc. 29)) Peti-

tioner filed opposition to the motion on December 15, 2023. (Mem. of Law in Opp’n to Defs.’ Mot. 

to Dismiss, dated Dec. 15, 2023 (“Pet’r’s Mem.”) (NYSCEF Doc. 43)) The Board filed its reply on 

January 19, 2024. (Reply Mem. of Law in Further Supp. of Mot. to Dismiss, dated Jan. 19, 2024 

(“Reply Mem.”) (NYSCEF Doc. 48)) The Court held oral argument on the motion virtually via 

Microsoft Teams on April 30, 2024. 

The motion is now decided as follows. 

II. LEGAL STANDARD 

CPLR 3211(a)(7) provides that a court may dismiss a pleading for failure to state a cause 

of action. On a motion to dismiss brought pursuant to CPLR 3211(a)(7), a court “must accept the 

facts as alleged in the complaint as true, accord plaintiffs the benefit of every possible favorable 

inference, and determine only whether the facts as alleged fit within any cognizable legal theory.” 

Goldman v. Metro. Life Ins. Co., 5 N.Y.3d 561, 570-71 (2005) (internal quotation marks and citation 

omitted). When considering such a motion, however, a court need not accept as true “conclusory 

allegations of fact or law not supported by allegations of specific fact.” Wilson v. Tully, 43 A.D.2d 

229, 234 (1st Dep’t 1998). Furthermore, “[i]n assessing the legal sufficiency of a claim, the Court 

may consider those facts alleged in the complaint, documents attached as an exhibit therefor or 

incorporated by reference . . . and documents that are integral to the plaintiff’s claims, even if not 

explicitly incorporated by reference.” Dragonetti Bros. Landscaping Nursey & Florist, Inc. v. Verizon 
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N.Y., Inc., 71 Misc. 3d 1214(A), at *2 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. N.Y. Cty. Apr. 28, 2021) (internal quotation 

marks and citation omitted), aff’d, 208 A.D.3d 1125 (1st Dep’t 2022).  

In the First Department, a defendant moving pursuant to CPLR 3211(a)(7) may rely on 

extrinsic evidence to challenge the pleading: 

A CPLR 3211(a)(7) motion may be used by a defendant to test the 

facial sufficiency of a pleading in two different ways. On the one 

hand, the motion may be used to dispose of an action in which the 

plaintiff has not stated a claim cognizable at law. On the other hand, 

the motion may be used to dispose of an action in which the plain-

tiff identified a cognizable cause of action but failed to assert a ma-

terial allegation necessary to support the cause of action. As to the 

latter, the Court of Appeals has made clear that a defendant can 

submit evidence in support of the motion attacking a well-pleaded 

cognizable claim. 

Basis Yield Alpha Fund (Master) v. Goldman Sachs Grp., Inc., 115 A.D.3d 128, 134 (1st Dep’t 2014) 

(citing Guggenheimer v. Ginzburg, 43 N.Y.2d 268 (1977); Rovello v. Orofino Realty Co., Inc., 40 N.Y.2d 

633 (1976)). “Where extrinsic evidence is used, [and the motion is not converted to one for sum-

mary judgment,] the standard of review under a CPLR 3211 motion is ‘whether the proponent of 

the pleading has a cause of action, not whether he has stated one.’” Biondi v. Beekman Hill House 

Apartment Corp., 257 A.D.2d 76, 81 (1st Dep’t 1999) (quoting Guggenheimer, 43 N.Y.2d at 275), aff’d, 

94 N.Y.2d 659 (2000). “‘[T]he allegations are not deemed true[, and] [t]he motion should be 

granted where the essential facts have been negated beyond substantial question by the affidavits 

and evidentiary matter submitted.’” Id. (quoting Blackgold Realty Corp. v. Milne, 119 A.D.2d 512, 

513 (1st Dep’t 1986), aff’d, 69 N.Y.2d 719). “[I]f the defendant’s evidence establishes that the plain-

tiff has no cause of action (i.e., that a well-pleaded cognizable claim is flatly rejected by the docu-

mentary evidence), dismissal would be appropriate.” Basis Yield Alpha Fund (Master), 115 A.D.3d 

at 135. 
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III. DISCUSSION6 

A. Procedural Issues 

At the outset, the Court must address certain issues that it has observed in the manner in 

which certain documents have been filed here. Petitioner has commenced this proceeding as a 

special proceeding pursuant to CPLR Article 78. The procedure for such proceedings, including 

the documents required, is governed by CPLR Article 4 and Article 78. Under both Articles, a 

petition is required—and it must be verified in the case of an Article 78 proceeding specifically. 

CPLR §§ 402, 7804(d). Both Articles contemplate that the petition may be accompanied by affida-

vits, and Article 78 contemplates that the verified petition may also be accompanied by “other 

written proof.” David D. Siegel, New York Practice § 552 (6th ed. 2024) (“Unlike the complaint in 

an action, the petition in a special proceeding is usually accompanied by affidavits.”). Article 4 

does this through its provision addressing notices of petition, providing therein that a “notice of 

petition shall specify the time and place of the hearing on the petition and the supporting affida-

vits, if any, accompanying the petition.” Id. § 403(a) (emphasis added). Article 78 states more directly 

that affidavits and other written proof, if any, must accompany the verified petition:  “There shall 

be a verified petition, which may be accompanied by affidavits or other written proof.” Id. 

§ 7804(d). 

Both Articles also require a notice of petition (or, alternatively, an order to show cause). 

Id. §§ 403(a), (d), 7804(c). But nowhere does either Article permit affidavits or other written proof 

to accompany the notice. And nowhere does either Article require or permit a memorandum of 

law. Although both Articles also authorize a court to “permit such other pleadings as are author-

ized in an action upon such terms as it may specify,” id. §§ 402, 7804(d), a memorandum of law 

is not considered a “pleading.” Nevertheless, in this Court’s experience, parties routinely file 

memoranda of law in support of their petitions in special proceedings, and courts generally con-

sider them in deciding the petitions. Indeed, the Court so-ordered a stipulation between the par-

ties in this proceeding providing for Petitioner’s filing of a memorandum of law in support of the 

 
 6 When the Court uses any of the terms “public servant,” “official,” or “employee” in this Decision and Order, it 

means, in each instance, unless otherwise expressly stated, the full range of individuals subject to Chapter 68 pursuant 

to Charter § 2601(19). 
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Verified Petition. (NYSCEF Docs. 9, 13) That stipulation, however, makes no mention of support-

ing affidavits and documents.  

This is all relevant because Petitioner has filed an affidavit annexed to which are a number 

of documents. (Aff. of Andrew G. Celli, Jr. in Supp. of Bill de Blasio’s Verified Pet., dated Sept. 22, 

2023 (“Celli Sept. Aff.”) (NYSCEF Doc. 16); id. Exs. A-K (NYSCEF Docs. 17-27)) But the affidavit 

and annexed documents were not filed along with the Verified Petition or the Notice of Petition, 

which were filed simultaneously on June 15, 2023. (See Pet.; Notice of Pet., dated June 15, 2023) 

Instead, they were filed months later, on September 22, 2023, in association with and support of 

Petitioner’s Memorandum of Law in Support of Petitioner’s Article 78 Application (“Petitioner’s 

Article 78 Brief”). (NYSCEF Doc. 15) Clearly, however, these documents are meant to support the 

Verified Petition, as permitted by Article 78. They should, therefore, have been filed with the Ver-

ified Petition. 

Whether the Court considers the affidavit and documents, despite the technical deficiency 

in their filing, has real, practical consequences for the motion under consideration. Because the 

affidavits and documents “supply more detail than a pleading does, the presence of affidavits 

often reduces dependence on the pleadings.” Siegel, New York Practice § 552. Thus, “[t]he suffi-

ciency of a pleading in a special proceeding . . . should be measured by the supporting affidavits 

as well as by the pleading itself; the affidavits can be taken as filling any gaps otherwise discern-

ible in the pleading.” Id. 

Respondents do not object in any way to the manner or timing of Petitioner’s filing of the 

affidavit and documents. Not surprising, given that there is significant overlap in the documents 

annexed to the affidavit and the documents that Respondents rely on to support their motion. 

Common between the two are:  (1) the 2009 AO (Celli Sept. Aff., Ex. I (NYSCEF Doc. 25); 2009 

AO); (2) the 2012 AO (Celli Sept. Aff., Ex. J (NYSCEF Doc. 26); 2012 AO); (3) Mr. Longani’s May 

8, 2019 letter to the Board (Celli Sept. Aff., Ex. A (NYSCEF Doc. 17); Reisbaum Aff., Ex. C); (4) the 

2019 AO (Celli Sept. Aff., Ex. B (NYSCEF Doc. 18); 2019 AO); (5) the transcript of the December 

20, 2022 hearing before OATH (Celli Sept. Aff., Ex. F (NYSCEF Doc. 22); OATH Hrg. Tr.); (6) the 

OATH R&R (Celli Sept. Aff., Ex. G (NYSCEF Doc. 23); OATH R&R); and (7) the COIB Order (Celli 
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Sept. Aff., Ex. G; COIB Order).7 Because Respondents have not objected to the Court’s considera-

tion of the affidavit and documents, and the Court does not perceive any prejudice to Respond-

ents in considering them, the Court overlooks the technical filing deficiency, pursuant to CPLR 

§ 2001, and considers the affidavit and documents as if they were filed simultaneously with the 

Verified Petition and in support thereof. 

Petitioner’s Article 78 Brief is another matter. In determining the instant motion to dismiss, 

the Court typically would consider the Verified Petition and any supporting affidavits and other 

written proof, as well as the parties’ memoranda of law and exhibits thereto filed in connection 

with the motion. This latter category does not include Petitioner’s Article 78 Brief, which the Court 

would typically only consider after it denied the instant motion, in connection with deciding the 

petition. Petitioner is given an opportunity to present his legal arguments in opposition to Re-

spondents’ motion in an opposition memorandum of law, which Petitioner has in fact filed. 

(Pet’r’s Mem.) The Court, therefore, only considers Petitioner’s Article 78 Brief to a limited extent, 

if at all—specifically, if Respondents directly address an argument that is made in Petitioner’s 

Article 78 Brief, then the Court may also address it herein. 

B. Article 78 

Power and policy—these concepts tend to lurk in the background of every Article 78 pro-

ceeding. Here, however, they are thrust toward the foreground. Petitioner, who was the elected 

head of the executive branch of City government, challenges the authority of a City agency, the 

Board, to interpret and enforce against Petitioner the statute that the Board was entrusted by City 

voters to implement and the administrative rules that it enacted to do so. Broadly speaking, Peti-

tioner argues that the Board’s interpretation of the relevant Charter conflict-of-interest provision 

and Board rule exceeds the Board’s authority because it:  (a) is inconsistent and irreconcilable 

with the Board’s own prior interpretation and application of the same provision and rule; (b) is 

internally illogical and unsupported by the text of the rule; and (c) supersedes the NYPD’s Char-

ter-granted authority and discretion over the deployment of NYPD personnel and resources to 

provide security for Category 1 elected officials like Petitioner. Petitioner also argues that certain 

prerequisites to the Board’s ability to enforce the prohibition at issue were not satisfied and that 

 
 7 The Court also notes that both the OATH R&R and COIB Order are directly incorporated into the Verified Peti-

tion as Exhibit A thereto. (See Pet. at pp. 31-59) 
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the Board lacked the requisite authority for its actions in certain other ways. The Board counters 

that accepting Petitioner’s arguments would amount to a diminution of the Board’s power to 

interpret and enforce the City’s conflict-of-interest laws and a concomitant transfer of that power, 

at least in part, to Petitioner, who then, as ALJ Casey concluded in the OATH R&R, would wield 

“the sole power to decide that City resources can be expended for his presidential campaign.” 

(OATH R&R at 14) Through the dispute in this proceeding, the powers of the Mayor, the NYPD, 

and the Board are thus in conflict. 

Policy stands in the foreground of this proceeding as well. All parties hereto appear to 

agree that protecting a mayor from harm is an important City policy, one that applies wherever 

the mayor is located and no matter the activity in which he or she is engaged. Mayors (including 

Petitioner) generally defer to the NYPD’s security decisions; however, a mayor can choose to de-

cline security for any reason. The parties’ dispute, therefore, raises the question:  If a mayor is 

responsible for paying the travel costs of his NYPD security detail when he or she travels out of 

the City to campaign for political office, will that discourage the mayor from accepting the 

NYPD’s security recommendations or from accepting security at all? If so, there are obvious pol-

icy implications. 

The Court, however, does not concern itself with policymaking. Whether it would ulti-

mately be better policy for the City to bear the travel costs of a mayor’s security detail when he or 

she travels at a distance from the City to campaign for non-City office is beyond the Court’s man-

date to decide. This is because, in this Article 78 proceeding, the Court’s review of Respondents’ 

actions is limited to determining whether they were affected by an error of law or are arbitrary or 

capricious. CPLR § 7803(3); Kent v. Lefkowitz, 27 N.Y.3d 499, 505 (2016); W. 58th St. Coalition, Inc. 

v. City of N.Y., 188 A.D.3d 1, 8 (1st Dep’t 2020). Review of an agency’s actions for arbitrariness or 

capriciousness “is deferential for it is not the role of the courts to weigh the desirability of any 

action or choose among alternatives.” Save America’s Clocks, Inc. v. City of N.Y., 33 N.Y.3d 198, 207 

(2019) (internal quotation marks omitted). “[E]ven if different conclusions could be reached as a 

result of conflicting evidence,” a reviewing court may not substitute its own judgment for that of 

the agency making the determination. Partnership 92 LP v. N.Y.S. Div. of Hous. & Community Re-

newal, 46 A.D.3d 425, 429 (1st Dep’t 2007). “[T]he courts cannot interfere unless there is no rational 

basis for the exercise of discretion” or “the action is without sound basis in reason . . . and taken 
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without regard to the facts.” Save America’s Clocks, 33 N.Y.3d at 207 (quoting Pell v. Bd. of Educ. of 

Union Free Sch. Dist. No. 1 of Towns of Scarsdale & Mamaroneck, Westchester Cty., 34 N.Y.2d 222, 231 

(1974)). 

Here, City voters delegated the relevant policy determination to the Board, to be made 

consistent with the Charter. By issuing the 2019 AO, prosecuting the underlying enforcement ac-

tion against Petitioner, and adopting in full in the COIB Order the OATH R&R’s findings of fact 

and conclusions of law and its recommendations, the Board made the policy choice, consistent 

with its view of the law. The Court’s only task is to decide whether the Board’s choice—irrespec-

tive of whether the Court would have made the same choice in the Board’s place—is within the 

permissible bounds of the law. In other words, whether its choice is support by fact and reason 

and not otherwise prohibited by law. If its choice meets those criteria, the Board unquestionably 

possessed the power to make it. The Court’s discussion below is guided by this well-established 

principle. 

For the reasons that follow, the Court determines that none of the 2019 AO, the OATH 

R&R, or the COIB Order are so bereft of support in fact or reason as to be invalid as arbitrary and 

capricious. Nor, the Court determines, do any of the three violate any other provision of the Char-

ter. 

i. Respondents’ Actions Did Not Conflict With Precedent 

Among Petitioner’s many challenges to Respondents’ actions under Article 78, the Court 

first addresses Petitioner’s contention that Respondents’ actions conflict, in one or more ways, 

with the Board’s precedent, as reflected in its prior advice in the 2009 AO, the 2012 AO, and its 

prior practice. ALJ Casey and the Board rejected these arguments, and the Court concludes that 

they acted reasonably and rationally in doing so. 

1. The 2019 AO Is A Binding Advisory Opinion 

As an initial matter, Petitioner appears to suggest, without outright making the argument, 

that the 2019 AO is something altogether different from an advisory opinion because it was issued 

confidentially. The Court rejects this notion. 

The 2019 AO is a Board advisory opinion within the meaning of Charter § 2603(c). It has 

all the hallmarks of an advisory opinion:  it was rendered at the request of a public servant; it 
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offers the Board’s interpretation and advice on the application of the Charter and Board Rules to 

the specific proposed conduct and factual scenario raised in the request; it includes a statement 

concerning the limitations of the scope of the advice; and it is signed by the Board chair on behalf 

of the entire Board. 

The Board explained to ALJ Casey that 2019 AO was not issued publicly, as required by 

Charter § 2603(c)(3), because “public disclosure, even with redactions, would have disclosed [Pe-

titioner’s] identity.” (OATH R&R at 11 n.3) This does not strike the Court as an unreasonable 

course of action. In any event, a reading of Charter § 2603(c)(3) that renders an advisory opinion 

issued by the Board not an advisory opinion unless and until it is released publicly is meritless. 

That subsection does not make public release a precondition to a Board opinion actually consti-

tuting an advisory opinion under Charter § 2603(c). 

2. There Is No Conflict Between the 2009 AO and the 2019 AO 

Next, Petitioner misreads the 2009 AO and misapprehends—or else misstates—the pur-

pose, scope, and effect of the Board’s advisory opinions. As to the 2009 AO, Petitioner attributes 

determinations to the Board that it never made and—ignoring an advisory opinion’s limited ap-

plicability to the party who requested it and to the facts presented in the request—contends that 

the 2009 AO applies beyond its stated scope. Specifically, Petitioner claims that the 2009 AO 

“found that affording the Mayor, a Category 1 elected official, and his family, a fulltime NYPD 

protective detail at the City’s expense was lawful and consistent with the ethics provisions of the 

New York City Charter” and that the 2009 AO stated that “it would not violate the . . . Charter’s 

ethics rules for the City . . . to pay all expenses for the NYPD Mayoral protective detail that the 

NYPD deemed necessary, including transportation and security for official business, unofficial 

business, political events, and personal events, both inside and outside the City of New York.” 

(Pet. ¶¶ 98, 102) 

Neither of these statements is accurate. The 2009 AO does not opine broadly on whether 

providing a mayor and his family with a fulltime NYPD security detail at the City’s expense is 

lawful and consistent with Chapter 68 or the Board Rules. Rather, the 2009 AO addresses only 

the more limited question of whether and under which circumstances elected City officials who 

have use of City-owned vehicles may use them and City personnel as drivers for purposes other 

than official business. Indeed, the 2009 AO opens by asking, simply, “[U]nder what circumstances 
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may such cars and drivers be used for other than official business purposes?” (2009 AO at 1) The 

Board then specifically states that, “[i]n this opinion, we limit our guidance to those elected offi-

cials who currently have use of City-owned cars and, where applicable, City employees as driv-

ers.” (Id.) Review of the substance of the 2009 AO demonstrates that its analysis is limited as stated 

and that it answers only the question posed therein by the Board. Certainly, the 2009 AO is prem-

ised on the fact that a Category 1 elected official requires security at all times and is thus assigned 

a fulltime security detail that will accompany the official on the trips he or she takes by City-

owned vehicle, either as or in addition to a driver. There would otherwise have been no need for 

the Board to create separate categories of officials in its analysis. But the 2009 AO never purports 

to render formal advice on the fundamental question of an NYPD security detail’s compliance 

with the City’s conflicts-of-interest laws or, critically, the many circumstances in which such a 

detail could be used in compliance with those laws without reimbursement to the City other than 

in connection with travel in a City-owned vehicle. As ALJ Casey found, the 2009 AO does not create 

a “blanket exception to the ban on using City resources for a non-City purpose,” as articulated in 

the 2012 AO. (OATH R&R at 11) Petitioner’s attempts to extend the 2009 AO to other circum-

stances is based on perceived implication alone, not on the actual text of the advisory opinion. 

Nor does the 2009 AO determine that the City must pay all expenses for a Category 1 

official’s security detail in all circumstances. True, the 2009 AO concludes that, even for travel 

outside of the City, a Category 1 official may use a City-owned vehicle and accompanying secu-

rity personnel for any reason without reimbursement. (2009 AO at 10-11) But that conclusion con-

tains its own limitation:  the travel must involve a City-owned vehicle. Context and reasoning 

further demonstrate the limitation. The relevant context is the 2009 AO’s express focus on the use 

of City-owned vehicles and accompanying personnel. Given that context, the Board’s conclusion 

can reasonably be interpreted as applying only to travel that one would expect to be accomplished 

by car—i.e., travel within driving distance, as that phrase is commonly understood. As for rea-

soning, one justification relied upon by the 2009 AO for not requiring a Category 1 official to 

reimburse the City for unofficial use of a City-owned vehicle is that such a requirement would be 

unfair “[s]ince officials in this category are subject to security determinations by the NYPD re-

quiring them to use City vehicles to the maximum extent possible for all local transportation.” (Id. 
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at 10 (emphasis added)) The Board, therefore, clearly contemplated that City-owned vehicles 

would only be used by Category 1 elected officials locally. 

The Board itself interpreted the 2009 AO in just this manner. In the 2019 AO, the Board 

wrote that the 2009 AO addressed “the kind of travel that could be accomplished by using a City 

vehicle, that is, presumably travel within driving distance of the City,” but did not address “the 

use of City resources in connection with purely political travel at a distance from the City.” (2019 

AO at 2) The entity best suited to interpreting the meaning and scope of the 2009 AO is its author, 

the Board. Cf. Mantilla v. N.Y.C. Dep’t of Hous. Pres. & Dev., 230 A.D.3d 1006, 1008 (1st Dep’t 2024) 

(“[A court] must defer to the administrative agency’s rational interpretation of its own regulations 

in its area of expertise.”); Molinari v. Bloomberg, 596 F. Supp. 2d 546, 579 (E.D.N.Y. 2009) (“The 

advisory opinions of the Board ‘should be given considerable weight by the courts.’” (quoting Di 

Lucia v. Mandelker, 110 A.D.2d 260, 263 (1st Dep’t 1985))), aff’d, 564 F.3d 587 (2d Cir. 2009). Here, 

the Board’s interpretation of the 2009 AO does not exceed the bounds of reason or rationality. 

Indeed, the Board’s interpretation strikes this Court, for the reasons just explained, as the correct 

one. 

Petitioner’s insistence before and during this proceeding that the 2009 AO speaks defini-

tively on the relevant issue—i.e., who bears responsibility for paying the ancillary costs of a 

mayor’s NYPD security detail incurred during out-of-state campaign trips—is perplexing. That 

position is not supported by the opinion’s text, for the reasons just discussed, or by the Charter 

or its history. Even if the 2009 AO bore on the relevant issue by anything other than implication, 

the New York City Charter Revision Commission (the “Commission”) expressly cautioned that, 

“[w]hile advisory opinions may be instructive and of some guidance to other public servants [i.e., 

other than the public servant who requested it], they may not be relied upon by such other public 

servants as permission to engage in any particular conduct and cannot constitute a defense to any 

action taken.” (Charter Revision Report at 160) Thus, Petitioner could have, in accordance with 

the Charter, used the 2009 AO and whatever implications he may have gleaned from it to guide 

his actions. But if Petitioner desired an official, definitive answer from the Board and the legal 

protections that attend such an answer, it was incumbent upon Petitioner—just like any other 

public servant—to obtain an advisory opinion from the Board addressing the specific factual sce-

nario in question. Otherwise, Petitioner ran the risk that his interpretation of the 2009 AO was 
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faulty and that any actions he took in reliance thereupon could be found contrary to the require-

ments of the City’s conflicts-of-interest laws. It appears that Petitioner or his counsel at least sus-

pected that the 2009 AO did not sufficiently address the particular scenario in question, because 

Mr. Longani sought and received the Board’s advice in the 2019 AO. Indeed, Mr. Longani appears 

in this regard to have only been following the Board’s advice in the 2009 AO, where it advised 

that, “[t]o the extent that a particular situation does not fit clearly within [these] guidelines [set 

forth in the 2009 AO], public servants are urged to contact the Board for guidance.” (2009 AO at 

16) The Board subsequently agreed, in the 2019 AO, that Mr. Longani’s questions had not been 

directly addressed by any of the Board’s prior advisory opinions, finding only that the 2009 AO 

came the closest. Nevertheless, for reasons known only to him or his counsel, Petitioner chose to 

ignore the Board’s advice in the 2019 AO. 

In light of the foregoing, Petitioner’s contention that the 2019 AO somehow ignores, con-

tradicts, or overturns the 2009 AO can easily be put to rest. Initially, as ALJ Casey noted in the 

OATH R&R, the 2019 AO directly addresses, interprets, and distinguishes the 2009 AO, so any 

contention that the Board ignored the 2009 AO when it drafted the 2019 AO is meritless. (OATH 

R&R at 11) 

Meritless, too, is the contention that the 2019 AO is irreconcilable with the 2009 AO. These 

opinions are, in fact, reconcilable on the grounds that the Board itself relied upon in the 2019 AO:  

they simply address two different, although somewhat related, topics. As discussed, the 2009 AO 

advises on an elected official’s use of City-owned vehicles and accompanying personnel for local 

travel relating to unofficial business and whether the elected official must reimburse the City for 

such use of City resources. While the 2019 AO, by contrast, expressly limits its analysis to whether 

the City must be reimbursed for the costs incurred by Petitioner’s security detail during “out-of-

City political travel incident to the Mayor’s pursuit of non-City elective office for himself.” (2019 

AO at 3) As the Board observed, travel costs for a Mayor’s security detail during local political 

activity are essentially guaranteed to be significantly less than similar costs during a campaign 

for non-City office, especially one such as President of the United States. As the Board further 

observed, although distinguishing between costs related to official and unofficial business during 

local travel may be impracticable, that difficulty effectively disappears during purely political 

travel outside of the City. Significantly, the difficulty in distinguishing such costs during local 
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travel was one of the primary reasons that the Board, in the 2009 AO, declined to require Category 

1 elected officials to reimburse the City for the use of City-owned vehicles during unofficial busi-

ness in or near the City. It stands to reason, as Respondents themselves argue, that if distinguish-

ing between a Category 1 elected official’s official and unofficial business during local travel was 

practicable, then the Board may have required reimbursement for the costs related to unofficial 

business. 

While these distinctions refute the contention that any conflict exists between the 2009 AO 

and the 2019 AO, a key similarity between the two opinions reinforces the point. As mentioned 

above, in the 2009 AO, the Board recognized that a Category 1 elected official’s “need for protec-

tion and security remains the same whether the official ventures forth to perform a personal ra-

ther than official task or to attend a private social function rather than a public event.” (2009 AO 

at 9) Because of that ever-present need for security, the Board concluded that there could be “no 

effective restriction on these officials’ ‘personal’ use of City cars and drivers,” including with re-

gard to their use for the officials’ attendance at political events. (Id.) This inescapable conclusion 

formed the basis for the Board’s exception of the use of City-owned vehicles and accompanying 

security personnel from the flat ban on the use of City time and resources for political activity 

articulated in the 2012 AO. The Board relied on the very same 24-7-365 security needs, which it 

reasoned applied equally to travel and attendance at political events near or far, when it con-

cluded in the 2019 AO that the City could foot the bill for the salary and overtime costs of Peti-

tioner’s security detail incurred during his campaign travel. (2019 AO at 3) In doing so, the Board 

effectively extended the limited exception to the flat ban that it had recognized in the 2009 AO to 

include Petitioner’s use of his security detail during out-of-City campaign-related travel. The crit-

ical differences between the two opinions remain the differences discussed above, namely, the 

ancillary costs associated with the two types of travel and an official’s practical ability to account 

for them. 

In summary, after the 2019 AO, two exceptions exist to the 2012 AO’s flat ban on the use 

of City time and resources for political activity, with both founded in the same reasoning that 

Category 1 elected officials require fulltime security:  (1) as recognized in the 2009 AO, the use of 

City-owned vehicles and accompanying personnel for unofficial business, including political ac-

tivity, without reimbursement, during a Category 1 elected official’s travel within driving 
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distance of the City; and (2) as recognized in the 2019 AO, Petitioner’s use of his security detail, 

without reimbursement for their salary or overtime, during out-of-City travel incident to Peti-

tioner’s campaign for non-City elective office. 

ALJ Casey found the foregoing distinctions and similarities between the 2009 AO and the 

2019 AO compelling when upholding the Board’s charges in the OATH R&R. The Court, in turn, 

finds them to be, at the very least, rational. The 2019 AO, the OATH R&R, and the COIB Order 

are not arbitrary or capricious, then, because of any irreconcilability between the Board’s advice 

in the 2019 AO and its prior advice in the 2009 AO. 

3. There Is No Conflict With Respondents’ Practice 

Nor are the 2009 AO, the OATH R&R, or the COIB Order arbitrary and capricious because 

they conflict with Respondents’ practice. Petitioner points to the vacation that he and his family 

took to Italy in 2014, arguing that neither the City nor the NYPD sought reimbursement for the 

security detail’s travel costs for that trip and that the Board did not subsequently charge Petitioner 

with a violation of Charter § 2604(b)(2) and Board Rules § 1-13(b), as it did here. He also points, 

for the same reasons, to other alleged out-of-City, overnight trips that he took during his time in 

office for political purposes. Finally, Petitioner contends that this Court should accept as true, 

pursuant to CPLR 3211, Petitioner’s allegations concerning previous Mayors’ travel outside of the 

City to campaign for non-City elective office. 

Initially, the Court need not accept as true Petitioner’s allegations concerning previous 

Mayors’ trips. Respondents rely on extrinsic evidence to support their motion, thus Petitioner’s 

allegations in the Verified Petition are not deemed true and can be negated by the evidence sub-

mitted. Basis Yield Alpha Fund (Master), 115 A.D.3d at 135. Respondents submit both the transcript 

of the December 22, 2022 evidentiary hearing before OATH and the OATH R&R. Both demon-

strate, as Respondents argue, that Petitioner did not introduce any argument or factual support 

before OATH concerning the previous Mayors’ trips that Petitioner now seeks to rely upon. 

Therefore, because the Court’s consideration is limited to evidence and arguments that Petitioner 

raised before OATH, Levine v. N.Y.S. Liquor Auth., 23 N.Y.2d 863, 864 (1969); Peckham v. Calogero, 

54 A.D.3d 27, 31 (1st Dep’t 2008), aff’d, 12 N.Y.3d 424 (2009); HLV Assocs. v. Aponte, 223 A.D.2d 362, 

363 (1st Dep’t 1996), Respondents have demonstrated that the Court cannot properly consider 



155404/2023 Bill de Blasio v. New York City Conflict of Interest Board et al. Page 45 of 81 

Mot. Seq. No. 002 

these previous Mayors’ trips in determining whether the 2019 AO, the OATH R&R, and the COIB 

Order are valid. 

The Court may also consider the OATH R&R in deciding the motion without turning to 

Respondents’ submissions. The OATH R&R is unquestionably incorporated by reference into the 

Verified Petition because it is attached to the Verified Petition as an exhibit and repeatedly refer-

enced throughout the Verified Petition. See Dragonetti Bros. Landscaping Nursey & Florist, Inc., 71 

Misc. 3d at *2. Additionally, Petitioner separately submitted the OATH R&R as a document at-

tached to an affidavit in support of the Verified Petition. (Celli Sept. Aff., Ex. G) See Siegel, New 

York Practice § 552 (“The sufficiency of a pleading in a special proceeding . . . should be measured 

by the supporting affidavits as well as by the pleading itself.”). 

As for Petitioner’s family trip to Italy, it bears no relevance to the issues in dispute here. 

The 2019 AO embodies the Board’s advice concerning Petitioner’s exclusively political travel in-

cident to his campaign for President of the United States, and the OATH R&R and COIB Order 

upheld charges against Petitioner related to that conduct only. A personal vacation punctuated 

by official City business, as Petitioner alleges occurred in 2014, is an altogether different type of 

travel than addressed by the 2019 AO, the OATH R&R, and the COIB Order. The 2012 AO artic-

ulates an absolute ban on the use of City time and resources for political activity, not for mixed 

personal and official activity. Accordingly, the 2014 Italy trip cannot support a determination that 

the Board has now, in the 2019 AO and the COIB Order, taken a position so inconsistent as to be 

arbitrary and capricious. 

As for the out-of-City, overnight political trips that Petitioner allegedly took while in office 

without a reimbursement request from the City or the NYPD and without charge from the Board, 

the Court does not find this argument persuasive. The factual allegations underlying the argu-

ment consist of a single paragraph in the Verified Petition: 

During [Petitioner’s] tenure, he also travelled outside the City, on over-

night trips, for political purposes, including political fundraising, support 

for other candidates or the Democratic Party, and political meetings. 

NYPD provided a full-time NYPD protective detail to [Petitioner] on all 

of those occasions, and all of the expenses for this protective detail were 

borne by the City of New York. There was never a request from the NYPD 

or any other City agency otherwise. 
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(Pet. ¶ 46) Nowhere does this paragraph provide any specific details about the alleged trips, such 

as the “where,” “when,” and specific purpose of each. The Court is therefore not obligated to 

accept these allegations, which are not well-pleaded, as true. Wilson, 43 A.D.2d at 234. Missing 

from the allegations is another piece of critical information:  whether the Board had knowledge 

of each of the unidentified trips. Without knowledge of conduct, the Board obviously cannot take 

exception to it. 

Going outside of the pleading itself, the Court has reviewed Mr. Berger’s testimony dur-

ing the December 22, 2022 evidentiary hearing. During his testimony, Mr. Berger was questioned 

about five out-of-City trips that Petitioner took that were allegedly political in nature and on 

which Petitioner was accompanied by his security detail, without request for reimbursement or 

charge of a violation of the City’s conflicts-of-interest laws:  (1) a trip to Manchester, England in 

2014 to “meet with some sort of lefty group” (OATH Hrg. Tr. at 159:14-160:12); (2) a trip to Wis-

consin in 2015 at the invitation of “a political group,” potentially a “state democratic party or an 

affiliated group” (id. at 160:13-161:3); (3) a trip to Iowa in 2016 to “promot[e] the [progressive] 

agenda and try[] to make it an issue in the Democratic presidential primaries” (id. at 161:4-162:1); 

(4) a trip to Philadelphia, Pennsylvania in 2016 to attend the Democratic National Convention (id. 

at 162:2-17); and (5) a trip to Berlin and Hamburg, Germany in 2017 for an unspecified “political” 

purpose (id.). Nowhere in his testimony does Mr. Berger provide any further explanation of the 

purpose of any of these five trips. There is no record support, therefore, for Petitioner’s allegation 

that his out-of-City political trips were for political fundraising purposes or to support other po-

litical candidates—and only minimal support for the other allegations concerning the trips’ pur-

poses. Nor did Mr. Berger testify that he spoke to or alerted the Board about any of these trips, 

either before or after they occurred, or that he was personally aware that the Board knew about 

the trips through another source, such as the press. The lack of any real utility in Mr. Berger’s 

testimony may explain why, in his opposition memoranda, Petitioner does not cite Mr. Berger’s 

testimony to support the only instance in which Petitioner refers—in an entirely perfunctory man-

ner—to these alleged trips. (See Pet’r’s Mem. at 5) 

In the OATH R&R, ALJ Casey addressed Petitioner’s arguments relating to his Italy trip 

and his alleged out-of-City political trips. The Board had argued to ALJ Casey that “seeking 

broader support for policies may serve a City purpose and a Mayor can be reinvigorated by 
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vacations, but a candidate’s personal quest for the presidency does not serve a City purpose and 

‘a successful campaign would deprive the City of its duly elected leader.’” (OATH R&R at 13) ALJ 

Casey expressed skepticism of some of the Board’s arguments, positing that the City might ben-

efit more from “a Mayor’s participation in a policy discussion at a campaign forum than would 

result from the Mayor’s beach vacation” and from “having a former Mayor in the White House.” 

(Id. at 14) Nevertheless, ALJ Casey concluded that “the fact that reasonable people may interpret 

the Charter and Board’s rules differently does not render the Board’s analysis irrational or unrea-

sonable.” (Id. (citations omitted)) 

ALJ Casey’s conclusion is the correct one under the law and cuts to the heart of this matter. 

Petitioner’s position is essentially that if traveling outside of the City to campaign for President 

of the United States is not a City purpose, then traveling outside of the City for other political 

reasons and for personal reasons surely must also not be City purposes. That is, indeed, one ra-

tional interpretation of Charter § 2604(b)(2) and Board Rules § 1-13(b). But the existence of one 

rational interpretation—the one that Petitioner happens to prefer—does not foreclose the exist-

ence of other rational interpretations. Since practically the advent of Article 78, the Court’s job 

has not been to decide whether a challenger’s interpretation of a statute or administrative rule is 

“better” than the agency’s (or vice versa); rather, it has been to determine merely whether the 

agency’s interpretation is based in reason. The Board’s competing interpretation and application 

of Board Rules § 1-13(b)—that Petitioner’s campaign for President of the United States did not 

serve a City purpose but that the other allegedly political travel in which Petitioner participated 

while in office and now attempts to rely upon may have served such a purpose—is also rational 

in light of the Board’s explanation of its reasoning before ALJ Casey. Even if the Court were in-

clined to interpret and apply Board Rules § 1-13(b) to these facts differently than the Board did, 

that would not constitute a valid reason under the law to invalidate the Board’s own interpreta-

tion and application. ALJ Casey recognized this fact, despite his own skepticism, and he was right 

to do so. 

Thus, there are no grounds to find that the 2019 AO, the OATH R&R, and the COIB Order 

are arbitrary and capricious as contrary to Respondents’ practice. 
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ii. Respondents’ Distinction Between Salary/Overtime and Travel Expenses Is Ra-

tional 

There is no dispute here that protecting a mayor is a City purpose. Respondents concede 

the point in their moving memoranda. (Resp’ts’ Mem. at 12) Petitioner agrees and argues that 

Respondents’ concession is determinative and requires resolution of this matter in Petitioner’s 

favor. Petitioner’s reasoning brings to the fore the issue upon which, in this Court’s view, this 

dispute truly turns. 

According to Petitioner, if protecting a mayor is, as Respondents concede, a City purpose 

and thus paying the salary and overtime of Petitioner’s NYPD security detail furthers a City pur-

pose, then paying the travel costs that allow the security detail to be physically present with the 

mayor must also be a City purpose. The NYPD cannot protect the mayor, after all, if they are not 

present in the same location. It is the distinction that the Board draws between salary and over-

time, on the one hand, and ancillary but necessary travel expenses, on the other hand, that Peti-

tioner argues is arbitrary and capricious. Nowhere, Petitioner contends, do Board Rules § 1-13(b) 

or the 2012 AO allow for such “line drawing” between the use of City time and City resources for 

a non-City purpose such as political activity. 

As an initial matter, Petitioner’s contention that the 2012 AO does not permit the Board’s 

disparate treatment of City time and City resources vis-à-vis their use for political activity is be-

lied by the 2009 AO and the 2012 AO itself. As the Court just discussed extensively, in the 2009 

AO, the Board permitted the use of City-owned vehicles and accompanying NYPD personnel for 

unofficial business, including political activity, within driving distance of the City without reim-

bursement. Again, the justification relied upon by the Board was that Category 1 elected officials 

like the mayor required around-the-clock security in all circumstances and were provided City-

owned vehicles and NYPD security details for that reason, thus there could be no effective re-

striction on the officials’ use of either. The Board further explained that reimbursement for the 

use of the City vehicles was not required because it not only would be unfair (because Category 

1 elected officials were strongly encouraged to follow the NYPD’s security recommendations and 

make use of the vehicles for all local travel) but distinguishing between those parts of the officials’ 

activities that were official and unofficial and then accounting and reimbursing the City pro rata 

for the unofficial use would be impracticable. Implicit in the Board’s analysis was a distinction 
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between City resources—the use of the City-owned vehicles—and City time—the use of the ac-

companying NYPD security personnel. The 2009 AO made no mention whatsoever of potential 

reimbursement for the use of the NYPD security personnel. Then, in the 2012 AO, the Board itself 

expressly recognized that the 2009 AO created a limited exception to the blanket prohibition 

against using City time and resources for political activity. Thus, the argument that the Board did 

not permit exceptions to its blanket prohibition that treated City time and City resources differ-

ently is unsupported. 

The question remains, however, whether the Board had the authority to engage in the 

“line drawing” that it did in the 2009 AO and the 2019 AO. ALJ Casey held that the Board did, in 

fact, possess such authority as the entity empowered to interpret and enforce the City’s conflicts-

of-interest laws, and that “[t]o hold otherwise would give [Petitioner], rather than the Board, the 

sole power to decide that City resources can be expended for his presidential campaign.” (OATH 

R&R at 13-14) The Court agrees. 

First, a point of clarification. Board Rules § 1-13(b) concerns the use of City resources for a 

non-City purpose. Board Rules § 1-13(a), by contrast, concerns the use of City time “to pursue 

personal or private activities”—i.e., for a non-City purpose. This is the Board’s own interpretation 

of these rules. (See 2009 AO at 3 (“In Board Rules section 1-13, the Board has specified certain 

conduct that constitutes a violation of [Charter] Section 2604(b)(2). That rule prohibits public 

servants from, among other things, performing personal and private activities on City time and 

using City letterhead, personnel, equipment, resources, or supplies for any non-City purpose.”); 

2012 AO at 2 (“Pursuant to [Charter § 2604(b)(2)], the Board has adopted Rules of the Board Sec-

tions 1-13(a) and (b), which prohibit the use of City time and City resources for any non-City 

purpose.”)) So, when Petitioner argues that the text of Board Rules § 1-13(b) does not permit a 

distinction between the use of City time and City resources for political activity, Petitioner is cor-

rect. But he is correct only because Board Rules § 1-13(b) does not address the use of City time; 

Board Rules § 1-13(a) does. 

Putting that misapprehension aside, there can be no doubt that the Board is empowered 

to interpret the Charter and its own Board Rules. And such interpretation must include determin-

ing when the Board Rules do and do not apply in particular circumstances, otherwise the Board’s 

Charter-granted power would be greatly diminished. Petitioner has not come forward with any, 
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let alone sufficient, legal basis upon which the Court could, or should, curtail the Board’s power 

in such a manner. Indeed, the standards inherent in a court’s review of an agency’s actions under 

Article 78 are specifically meant to avoid a court encroaching on an agency’s power in its area of 

expertise. See Mantilla, 230 A.D.3d at 1008. 

Significantly, it is possible to read the 2009 AO and the 2019 AO as if the Board is not even 

treating City time and City resources differently. Pursuant to that reading, in either advisory 

opinion, the Board is not saying that Board Rules § 1-13(a) and (b) do not apply in the circum-

stances at issue. Rather, in the 2009 AO, the Board is saying that, in the circumstances at issue, the 

public official’s conduct must be excepted from the prohibitions because (a) otherwise a public 

official whom the NYPD has determined requires around-the-clock protection regardless of loca-

tion would not receive that protection and (b) requiring the public official to make distinctions 

between the official and unofficial nature of his or her travel would be asking him or her to do 

something unfair and impracticable. In the 2019 AO, the Board is saying the same thing with 

regard to (a) but not with regard to (b), because, in the circumstances at issue, Petitioner can read-

ily identify the unofficial aspects of his travel, because all of it is political. Thus, in the circum-

stances considered by the Board in the 2019 AO, the exception to Board Rules § 1-13(b) is not 

justified. It is a subtle but significant distinction:  Board Rules § 1-13(a) and (b) do in fact apply 

but the circumstances, for other compelling reasons, do or do not call for exceptions to their ap-

plication. The Court does not find anything irrational about the Board’s reasoning underlying its 

determination that the travel costs of the mayor’s security detail should not be excepted from 

application of Board Rules § 1-13(b). 

But even if the Court is incorrect in this characterization of the 2009 AO and the 2019 AO, 

the question that still remains is whether the Board’s so-called line-drawing was arbitrary or ca-

pricious. After adopting ALJ Casey’s finding of fact and conclusions of law in full, the Board ex-

plained in the COIB Order, expressly without limiting the OATH R&R, that while “there is a City 

purpose in the City paying for an NYPD security detail for the City’s Mayor, including the secu-

rity detail’s salary and overtime, there is no City purpose in paying for the extra expenses in-

curred by that NYPD security detail to travel at a distance from the City to accompany the Mayor 

or his family on trips for his campaign for President of the United States.” (COIB Order at 2) For 

the reasoning underlying this conclusion, the Court must turn to the OATH R&R, wherein ALJ 
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Casey summarized the Board’s argument before OATH. According to ALJ Casey, “[t]he Board’s 

conclusion turned on three factors”: 

1) salaries and overtime for the NYPD security detail would generally be 

the same wherever the Mayor and the Mayor’s immediate family were lo-

cated; 2) additional costs to put security in place at a distance from the 

City (including airfare, hotels, rental cars) may require substantial public 

expenditure to support purely political activity; and 3) ordinarily, those 

additional costs would not be incurred for political travel within the City, 

but would be incurred as part of the Mayor’s campaign for non-City elec-

tive office for himself. 

(OATH R&R at 9 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted)) ALJ Casey would go on to ac-

cept the Board’s arguments, writing: 

The Board is responsible for interpreting and enforcing the City’s conflicts 

of interest laws. In its 2019 advisory letter, the Board rationally distin-

guished between costs associated with local security needs and substantial 

out-of-state travel costs associated with a presidential campaign. The 

Board found that those additional costs were for a non-City purpose. That 

conclusion is consistent with the Board’s long-standing interest in limiting 

the extent to which public servants use City resources for political activity. 

. . . . 

It is within the Board’s authority to conclude that using City funds to pay 

out-of-state travel costs associated with a presidential campaign does not 

serve a City purpose and violates section 1-13 of the Board’s rules. . . . To 

hold otherwise would give [Petitioner], rather than the Board, the sole 

power to decide that City resources can be expended for his presidential 

campaign. 

(Id. at 13-14 (citing Golden v. Clark, 76 N.Y.2d 618, 623 (1990); In re Hynes, COIB Case No. 2013-771 

(Mar. 23, 2018), available at https://www1.nyc.gov/assets/coib/downloads/pdf4/enf-dis/2013-

771.pdf; COIB v. Oberman, COIB Case No. 2013-609, OATH Index No. 1657/14 (Nov. 6, 2014), aff’d, 

148 A.D.3d 598 (1st Dep’t 2017))) 

Even if the Court harbored misgivings about the policy implications of the Board’s and 

ALJ Casey’s conclusions, the Court must exercise caution not to second-guess them just to sub-

stitute the Court’s own policy preferences. Here, applying the proper deference, the Court deter-

mines that the Board’s and ALJ Casey’s conclusions are not arbitrary or capricious. In sum and 

effect, the Board reasoned that the City paying the salary and overtime for Petitioner’s security 

detail during out-of-state political travel furthered a City purpose because it constitutes protect-

ing the mayor (which all parties agree is a City purpose) and the costs would have been incurred 
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regardless of the mayor’s location. By contrast, the Board reasoned that the security detail’s travel 

costs incurred during the same trips do not further a City purpose because they would not have 

been incurred but for Petitioner’s out-of-state travel in service of his own interests in seeking non-

City elective office and, furthermore, are substantially more than any that Petitioner’s security 

detail might have incurred if the travel was for local political activity. ALJ Casey found the 

Board’s reasoning permissible. Similarly, the Court cannot say that the Board or ALJ Casey acted 

arbitrarily or capriciously or without authority to engage in such line-drawing under the Board 

Rules. 

Petitioner’s argument that the security detail’s ancillary travel costs must also be consid-

ered as for a City purpose because they are necessary for the detail to carry out its City purpose 

of protecting the mayor certainly has a logical simplicity and appeal. But, in the end, it is still just 

another example of a difference of opinion as to how Board Rules § 1-13(a) and (b) should be 

interpreted and applied. That Petitioner’s proffered interpretation could be a rational interpreta-

tion—indeed, the interpretation that may make the most sense—does not mean that the Board’s 

and ALJ Casey’s interpretation is invalid or, as Petitioner also argues, “unmoored” from the text 

of the rules. There is nothing in the language of Board Rules § 1-13(a) and (b) indicating that it 

would be improper for the Board, under the appropriate circumstances, to treat the City time in-

volved as being used for a City purpose while treating the City resources involved as not being 

used for a City purpose. Always the issue will be whether the reasoning that the Board or OATH 

uses to justify doing so is based in fact and is rational. Here, the Board and ALJ Casey essentially 

adopted a “but for” test:  The City time (the detail’s salary and overtime) would be expended 

regardless of Petitioner’s political activity, since protecting a mayor at all times and in all circum-

stances is a separate City purpose and policy. The City resources (the ancillary campaign-related 

travel costs), however, would not be expended “but for” Petitioner’s political activity, a non-City 

purpose. The Court cannot conclude that this is an irrational method of determining whether 

Board Rules § 1-13(a) and (b) should or should not apply in the particular circumstances in ques-

tion here. 

The Court likewise rejects Petitioner’s contention that the Board has created through its 

actions the same kind of unworkable analysis that it rejected in the 2009 AO. The 2019 AO, the 

OATH R&R, and the COIB Order all address one specific type of prospective conduct only:  



155404/2023 Bill de Blasio v. New York City Conflict of Interest Board et al. Page 53 of 81 

Mot. Seq. No. 002 

Petitioner’s out-of-City travel to campaign for non-City elective office. Petitioner never disputed 

before OATH  that each of the 31 trips that he took that are the subject of this proceeding were 

solely campaign trips, and he  never alleges to the contrary in his Verified Petition. In other words, 

neither the Board nor ALJ Casey ever considered a scenario involving out-of-state travel during 

which both official and unofficial business occurred. Respondents nevertheless offer a response 

to Petitioner’s hypothetical imagining official business being conducted on a plane trip to a cam-

paign stop in Iowa. Respondents argue that, even in that scenario, a mayor’s security detail’s 

travel costs would not have been incurred but for the campaign travel, making them an expendi-

ture for a non-City purpose, without any accounting burden, consistent with the Board’s position 

concerning the actual travel costs in question in this proceeding. Again, the Court cannot con-

clude that this analysis is irrational. 

Accordingly, Petitioner has failed to demonstrate that the 2019 AO, the OATH R&R, or 

the COIB Order are arbitrary and capricious because they engage in arbitrary and illogical line-

drawing that conflicts with the text of the applicable Board Rules. 

iii. Respondents’ Actions Do Not Conflict With or Supersede the NYPD’s Own Au-

thority Under the Charter 

Petitioner next makes a series of arguments that stem from his position that the NYPD’s 

security decisions are part of its Charter-mandated function and thus beyond the Board’s power 

to question. Specifically, Petitioner contends that the “Charter confers upon the NYPD the duty 

and responsibility to protect City officials from physical harm.” (Pet’r’s Mem. at 8). For that as-

sertion, Petitioner relies upon Charter § 435(a), which provides, in relevant part, that the NYPD 

“shall have the power and it shall be their duty to preserve the public peace, prevent crime, detect 

and arrest offenders . . . ; protect the rights of persons and property, [and] guard the public 

health.” 

ALJ Casey rejected Petitioner’s argument that the Board had somehow interfered “with 

the NYPD’s assessment of security threats or questioned NYPD’s security expertise.” (OATH 

R&R at 13) Rather, ALJ Casey noted that the Board did not dispute the need for Petitioner’s secu-

rity detail or that the City should pay the security detail’s salaries but, instead, merely “main-

tain[ed] that [Petitioner] should not expect the City to assume the substantial additional travel 
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expenses caused by his presidential campaign.” (Id.) The Court finds ALJ Casey’s conclusions in 

the OATH R&R to be reasonable. 

Petitioner’s position that the NYPD’s security decisions are unquestionable is not in dis-

pute because the Board does not, in fact, question them. To the contrary, the Board expressly 

“takes no position whatsoever on how the NYPD protects the Mayor.” (Resp’ts’ Mem. at 12). The 

Court does not view, as Petitioner’s argument suggests, that the Board’s determination that the 

City’s conflicts-of-interest laws require Petitioner to bear the ancillary travel costs of his security 

detail as questioning or interfering with the NYPD’s security decisions. The NYPD remains free 

to evaluate any threats that an official like the mayor may face and assign that official security as 

it deems necessary. Nothing about the Board’s interpretation of Board Rules § 1-13(b) here 

changes that fact. 

While Petitioner argues that the Board’s conclusions in this matter would effectively su-

persede the NYPD’s authority under the Charter, the effect of Petitioner’s argument would be the 

opposite:  the Board’s ability to interpret and enforce the City’s conflicts-of-interest laws would 

be subordinated to the NYPD’s security decisions. Nothing in Charter § 435(a)’s general grant of 

power to the NYPD suggests that the NYPD’s powers and duties were meant to be exclusive or 

to supersede all other agencies’ Charter-granted powers and duties in all circumstances. Indeed, 

expressly to the contrary, Charter § 435(c) provides that, “[e]xcept as specifically provided herein, 

nothing contained in this section shall be deemed to limit, restrict, divest, transfer or supersede 

the powers or the jurisdiction of any agency as defined in section eleven hundred fifty of the 

charter.” No provision of Charter § 435 appears to specifically “limit, restrict, divest, transfer or 

supersede the powers or the jurisdiction” of any other City agency. Petitioner provides the Court 

with no caselaw in which Charter § 435 is otherwise interpreted. See Riccardi v. City of N.Y., 76 

Misc. 2d 629, 630-31 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. N.Y. Cty. 1973) (“The powers vested in the Police Department 

by City Charter chapter 18, section 435, subd. a are not exclusive with respect to the enforcement 

and the prevention of the violation of laws and ordinances in force in the city where the Charter 

itself or other legislation lawfully confers specific power to enforce such laws on other agencies 

of the city having regulatory functions.”). Nevertheless, the Board, an “agency” within the mean-

ing of Charter § 1150, clearly recognizes the importance of the NYPD’s role in protecting a mayor. 

Hence its recognition in the 2009 AO and the 2019 AO of an exception to the Board Rules to allow 
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the City to pay the salary and overtime of Petitioner’s security detail. But the Board rationally 

determined that the security detail’s ancillary travel costs exist only because of Petitioner’s personal 

choice to serve his own interests in pursuing non-City office. The Board’s determination, based 

on its reasoning, does not invade an exclusive province of the NYPD but merely constitutes an 

exercise of its own concurrent, Charter-granted power to interpret and enforce the City’s conflicts-

of-interest laws. 

This leads directly to Petitioner’s contention that it was not his own choice that led to the 

travel costs in question but the NYPD’s choice to protect Petitioner as they saw fit. This contention 

is meritless. Again, it was not irrational for the Board and ALJ Casey to conclude that Petitioner’s 

choice to campaign out-of-state for non-City elective office is the sine qua non for the security de-

tail’s travel costs, as opposed to its salary and overtime costs, which would have been incurred 

regardless of Petitioner’s location. Petitioner’s position essentially eliminates his own agency in 

the choices he made. 

The same can also be said more generally because Petitioner’s argument also ignores the 

fact that his own witness, Mr. Miller, testified during the OATH hearing that Petitioner could 

reject NYPD security altogether in order to pursue a personal endeavor. (See OATH Hrg. Tr. at 

142:16-143:6) Petitioner did not dispute or attempt to correct or discredit Mr. Miller’s testimony 

or allege here that he did not have the power, as Mayor, to reject NYPD protection or require 

alterations to it, albeit against the NYPD’s recommendation. Thus, ultimately, the Board’s inter-

pretation and application of Board Rules § 1-13(b) present City mayors like Petitioner with a 

choice between alternatives:  if they wish to run for non-City elective office, then (a) they or their 

campaign must pay the ancillary travel costs of their NYPD security detail during out-of-state 

campaign travel; (b) they must forego their NYPD security detail on out-of-state campaign travel 

or otherwise work with the NYPD to reduce costs to an acceptable level; (c) they must forego out-

of-state campaign travel; or (d) they must resign to run for non-City office. Whether a mayor 

should, as a policy matter, face such choices is—once again—not the Court’s question to decide 

here. All that matters in resolving this matter is that, for the reasons discussed above, the Board’s 

reasoning for requiring City mayors to make such choices is not an arbitrary and capricious in-

terpretation of the Charter or Board Rules § 1-13 (b). 
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Finally, Petitioner argues that his security detail’s travel costs during out-of-state travel 

cannot be considered a campaign cost because they are costs of the NYPD’s responsibility to pro-

tect the mayor. In the OATH R&R, ALJ Casey found that Petitioner and his campaign indirectly 

benefited from the City bearing the ancillary travel costs of his security detail because Petitioner’s 

campaign was left with more money to spend elsewhere. (OATH R&R at 22) The Court cannot 

conclude that this is an irrational determination.8 

iv. Respondents’ Actions Were Otherwise Authorized 

In addition to arguing that the 2019 AO, the OATH R&R, and the COIB Order are arbitrary 

and capricious for the reasons just discussed, Petitioner argues, in some form or another, that the 

Board’s interpretation and enforcement of the City’s conflicts-of-interest laws in this matter ex-

ceeded the Board’s authority because:  (a) the City’s conflicts-of-interest laws do not apply to City 

mayors; (b) neither the City nor the NYPD ever sent Petitioner or his campaign a bill for the se-

curity detail’s campaign-related travel costs; (c) the Board failed to first promulgate an adminis-

trative rule that articulated the specific prohibition being enforced; (d) the Board identified Peti-

tioner’s campaign as being responsible for reimbursing the City, and the Board has no jurisdiction 

over a federal campaign committee; and (e) the Board failed to satisfy Chapter 68’s consultation 

requirement. 

The Court rejects each of these arguments, for the reasons discussed below. 

1. The Conflicts-of-Interest Laws Apply to City Mayors 

Initially, to the extent that Petitioner claims that he, as Mayor, was not subject to Chapter 

68 and the Board Rules, he is mistaken. There is no basis in the text of the Charter or in caselaw 

to conclude otherwise. 

As Respondents correctly contend, both Charter § 2604(b)(2) and Board Rules § 1-13(b) 

expressly apply to a “public servant,” which term is defined in Charter § 2601(19) as “all officials, 

officers and employees of the city, including members of community boards and members of 

 
 8 Petitioner’s analogy of presidential candidates who visit the City receiving NYPD protection without bearing 

any of the costs of that protection is inapt. First of all, that candidate, not being a public servant of the City, would not 

be subject to the City’s conflicts-of-interest laws. Second, that candidate would be in the City. The entire focus of this 

dispute is costs associated with out-of-state travel. The actions of the candidate in question would not have forced 

NYPD personnel to travel at a distance from the City, unlike Petitioner’s actions here. 
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advisory committees, except unpaid members of advisory committees shall not be public serv-

ants.” The term “elected official” is separately defined as “a person holding office as mayor, comp-

troller, public advocate, borough president or member of the council.” Charter § 2601(10). Cer-

tainly, “all officials,” as used in the definition of “public servant,” includes an “elected official.” 

Petitioner concedes this point. (See Pet’r’s Mem. at 14) Thus, as an official within the meaning of 

Chapter 68, and as “the chief executive officer of the city,” Charter § 3, the mayor is clearly and 

indisputably a “public servant” subject to the provisions of Chapter 68. The Charter Revision 

Report only further confirms this interpretation of the plain text of § 2601(19), because it expressly 

states that the term “public servant” “includes “all elected officials.” (Charter Revision Report at 

153) 

The general powers of the Mayor granted to him in Charter § 8 do not conflict with the 

mayor being subject to Chapter 68, and indeed § 8 specifically states that the Mayor’s powers are 

“subject to this charter.” 

There is no merit, therefore, to Petitioner’s remarkable contention that he is somehow not 

subject to the City’s conflicts-of-interest laws. 

2. An Agency Is Not Required to Bill an Official for His or Her Use of 

City Time or Resources In Violation of the City’s Conflicts-of-Inter-

est Laws 

Petitioner’s contention that the COIB Order is arbitrary and capricious because it seeks 

reimbursement of costs for which neither the City nor the NYPD ever sent a bill to Petitioner or 

to his campaign is also meritless. As ALJ Casey found, of course a City agency need not have sent 

a bill, invoice, or any other similar writing to a public servant subject to the City’s conflict-of-

interest laws before the Board may charge him or her with a violation of those laws and seek 

reimbursement for any improperly used City time or resources. Petitioner cites to no provision 

in the Charter or any other City or state law or to caselaw or Board precedent to support his 

contention. Nor does Petitioner provide any example in which the civil enforcement powers of a 

government agency, at either the local, state, or federal level, have been limited in such a manner. 

To the contrary, ALJ Casey found that the Board’s precedent instead supports its actions here and 

that Petitioner should not be treated any differently or held to lesser ethical standards than the 
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lower-level City employees involved in prior Board actions. (See OATH R&R at 23) That is not 

arbitrary or capricious. 

Notwithstanding its complete lack of support in the law, Petitioner’s contention also 

makes little sense within the scheme created by City voters in the Charter. It would require the 

City agency whose employee violated the conflict-of-interest laws to identify the violation, inves-

tigate it, and then effectively treat it as nothing more than a debt owed by the employee to the 

agency in the normal course. But that is not what the Charter envisions. The Board was created 

with the express purpose of implementing and enforcing the City’s conflict-of-interest laws. See 

Rosenblum, 18 N.Y.3d at 432 (“[A] major reason for the 1988 Charter revision [was] to create COIB 

as an entity with the power, which its predecessor Board of Ethics lacked, to commence adminis-

trative actions to enforce the Conflicts of Interest Law.”). No other City agency was invested with 

those powers and responsibility.9 As part of its enforcement powers, the Board can direct the DOI 

to investigate suspected violations to determine their existence and extent, including monetary 

value. Once probable cause for a violation has been established, and the DOI or the Board has 

ascertained the value of the City time or resources involved, the Board does not then ask another 

City agency to bill the employee; rather, the Board charges the employee with a violation and 

commences an enforcement action. 

Even more egregious, Petitioner’s position, if accepted, would effectively divest him or 

any other official who violates the City’s conflicts-of-interest laws of individual responsibility for 

their transgression. It was the official’s conduct that resulted in the misuse of City time or re-

sources. Petitioner seemingly suggests that if the transgressing official is not first told the value 

 
 9 This is not to say that another City agency should or need overlook a clear violation of the conflicts-of-interest 

laws and forego any internal discipline of the offending employee. It goes without saying that any agency should do 

so—and perhaps must, but that question is not currently before the Court. The Commission clearly contemplated that 

an agency would maintain concurrent jurisdiction with the Board to discipline its employees for violations of Chapter 

68. (See Charter Revision Report at 166-67) But only the Board was expressly empowered to enforce Chapter 68 and to 

direct the DOI in doing so. 

  Still another circumstance that makes it clear that the Board bore the investigatory and enforcement responsi-

bility in the instant matter is the fact that Petitioner was Mayor. As Mayor, Petitioner was the highest ranking executive 

official in the City. He oversaw City Hall and, through appointment of the Police Commissioner, the NYPD. To suggest 

that either would have sent Petitioner a bill seeking reimbursement for services rendered or otherwise would have 

attempted to discipline Petitioner—which they would not even have had the power to do—is unbelievable. That is the 

entire point of investing the Board with the power to enforce the City’s conflict-of-interest laws. 
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of their violation of law and asked to reimburse the City for it, he or she cannot be held account-

able by the Board. That is nonsense. 

Here, especially, Petitioner cannot reasonably object to the COIB Order. The Board ex-

pressly and specifically informed him, through the 2019 AO, which costs of his security detail the 

City could not lawfully bear. As ALJ Casey determined based on Petitioner’s own testimony, 

which determination this Court finds reasonable, Petitioner knew or should have known of the 

Board’s advice in the 2019 AO. (OATH R&R at 16) Yet Petitioner would have this Court endorse 

the idea that his failure to heed the Board’s advice and account for the security detail’s campaign-

related travel costs is a bar to the Board’s authority to seek reimbursement of those costs, the 

amount of which the Board was only able to determine after an extensive investigation by the 

DOI, including a subpoena to Petitioner’s campaign. That position is meritless, and the Court will 

not endorse it by finding that the NYPD or the City was obligated to present Petitioner with a bill 

prior to the Board commencing the underlying enforcement action. 

3. The Board Already Promulgated a Controlling Administrative Rule 

Equally meritless is Petitioner’s contention that the COIB Order is invalid because the 

Board did not first promulgate an administrative rule requiring reimbursement in the specific 

circumstances at issue here. 

Petitioner’s argument relies, at least in part, if not fully, on the premise that the OATH 

R&R and, by extension, the COIB Order are “predicated” on the 2019 AO—i.e., that the Board 

used the 2019 AO as a “sword” rather than its intended purpose as a “shield.” That premise is 

entirely baseless, however. True, the Board’s arguments in the OATH enforcement proceeding 

corresponded with the advice that the Board gave Petitioner in the 2019 AO. Also true, ALJ Casey 

accepted those arguments in rendering the OATH R&R and recommending that the Board’s 

charges be sustained. But that does not make the OATH R&R “predicated” on the 2019 AO. All 

three—the Board’s analysis in the 2019 AO, its arguments before OATH, and ALJ Casey’s analysis 

in the OATH R&R—are instead expressly “predicated” on an interpretation and application of 

Board Rules § 1-13(b). It is unclear how the Board could, under Petitioner’s view of law and pro-

cedure, ever maintain an enforcement proceeding where it had issued an advisory opinion to an 

official and the official then took action that failed to comply with the Board’s advice. An advisory 

opinion by definition contains the Board’s interpretation and application of the Charter and Board 
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Rules to a specific factual scenario. Petitioner would seemingly bar the Board from making argu-

ments in an enforcement proceeding reflecting its analysis in an advisory opinion, because, ac-

cording to Petitioner, that would constitute wielding the advisory opinion as a “sword.” That, 

too, is nonsense. 

Both Petitioner and Respondents agree that an advisory opinion like the 2019 AO can only 

be used as a “shield[] that protect[s] public servants who proactively seek guidance from the 

Board.” (Resp’ts’ Mem. at 17) But Petitioner attempts to distort the meaning and scope of that 

protection in this matter in more ways than just the foregoing one. Petitioner also points to the 

following sentence in the 2019 AO and contends that he was entitled to rely on it “as a shield 

against the Board’s later attempt to assert that such a rule does exist”:  “The questions [that Mr. 

Longani has] asked are ones of first impression for the Board, not clearly covered by any Board 

Rules or prior advisory opinions.” (2019 AO at 2; Pet’r’s Mem. at 12) This argument is also merit-

less. 

Initially, accepting Petitioner’s position requires ignoring every other sentence in the mul-

tipage 2019 AO. In the remainder of the 2019 AO—i.e., every part of it other than the one sentence 

on which Petitioner relies—the Board explains that Board Rule § 1-13(b) in fact applies to the Mr. 

Longani’s questions and how. ALJ Casey reached the same conclusion in the OATH R&R, and he 

further concluded that the Board, pursuant to Charter § 2606(d), “fairly identified the specific rule 

that prohibited [Petitioner’s] proposed conduct.” (OATH R&R at 18-19) This is neither arbitrary 

nor capricious. Petitioner’s attempt to focus on that single introductory sentence, while under-

standable, is nothing more than an attempt to shift the focus away from the actual analysis set 

forth in the 2019 AO. 

The Board’s analysis is, furthermore, consistent with its statement that Mr. Longani’s 

questions are not “clearly covered by any Board Rules or prior advisory opinions.” The operative 

word in that statement is “clearly.” Board Rule § 1-13(b) does not clearly cover the campaign-

related ancillary travel costs of a Mayor’s security detail in the same way that it does not clearly 

cover many or all of the specific scenarios addressed in the 2012 AO, in the sense that the rule 

does not specifically say that X use of Y resources for Z purposes is or is not the use of City 

resources for a non-City purpose. The same is true of the 2009 AO. It would be difficult to argue 

that § 1-13(b) clearly covers a City official’s use of City-owned vehicles and accompanying 
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personnel in the sense that Petitioner appears to contend is necessary before the Board may en-

force the rule. A prohibition against use of City resources for a non-City purpose is necessarily 

broad—it is, after all, a rule of general applicability—and as such can apply in many different 

circumstances. It thus requires interpretation and application. Although perhaps inartfully ex-

pressed, it appears that all the Board’s statement in the 2019 AO meant to convey was that Mr. 

Longani’s questions required the Board to interpret and apply its rules in ways that it had not yet 

had occasion to do. 

Petitioner’s position also misconstrues the nature of the safe harbor provided by an advi-

sory opinion. The purpose of the Board’s obligation (not just ability) under the Charter to issue 

advisory opinions is so that public servants can come to the Board and request its interpretation 

of how Chapter 68 and the Board Rules apply to the specific circumstances raised by the public 

servant. Upon receiving the advisory opinion, the public servant can then be assured that he or 

she will not face civil prosecution for violating the City’s conflicts-of-interest laws if he or she acts 

in accordance with the Board’s advice. Petitioner’s position here is essentially that a single state-

ment from an advisory opinion may be plucked from its surrounding context and relied upon to 

take action that is directly contrary to the advisory opinion’s overall analysis and advice. Little 

additional comment is needed other than that Petitioner’s position is clearly contrary to the Char-

ter’s intent. 

Turning to Petitioner’s claim that the 2019 AO created a rule of general applicability for 

which formal administrative rulemaking was required, ALJ Casey rejected this contention, find-

ing that the 2019 AO instead applied preexisting Board Rules to a specific set of circumstances. 

Not only is ALJ Casey’s analysis not arbitrary or capricious, but it is also correct. The Board did 

not create a new rule of general applicability via the 2019 AO; it merely applied an existing rule 

of general applicability, Board Rules § 1-13(b), to the specific circumstances raised by Mr. Lon-

gani’s questions. Notably, the 2019 AO is no different than the 2009 AO in that regard. The 2009 

AO was also an advisory opinion applying Board Rules § 1-13(b) to specific circumstances. No-

where does Petitioner claim that the Board publicly identified the advice set forth in the 2009 AO 

as “establish[ing] a test, standard or criterion” and subsequently initiated rulemaking to adopt 

the 2009 AO as an administrative rule, as required under Charter § 2603(c)(4). Yet Petitioner relies 

heavily on the 2009 AO in this matter as if that opinion did establish a generally applicable rule. 
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His conflicting positions on the two advisory opinions only further demonstrates the incorrect-

ness of his position. 

To the extent that Petitioner argues that Board Rules § 1-13(b) does not expressly permit 

the Board to require reimbursement in these circumstances, that contention is meritless for the 

additional reason that Charter § 2606(b-1) expressly authorizes the Board “to order payment to 

the [C]ity of the value of any gain or benefit obtained by the respondent as a result of the viola-

tion,” subject to the hearing requirements set forth in Charter § 2603(h). The Court, therefore, 

cannot fault the Board for not spelling out its already clear authority to seek reimbursement from 

a public official who is found, after hearing, to have violated Chapter 68 in a separate, obviously 

superfluous rulemaking. 

In conclusion, the 2019 AO specifically identified the already existing Board Rule that the 

Board was interpreting and applying to Mr. Longani’s questions and did not separately create a 

new rule of general applicability requiring the Board to engage in formal administrative rulemak-

ing procedure. ALJ Casey’s conclusion to that effect in the OATH R&R, therefore, was not arbi-

trary or capricious. 

This determination has the further effect of disposing of Petitioner’s argument that the 

$155,000 penalty that the Board imposed on Petitioner was improper pursuant to Charter 

§ 2606(d). The prohibited conduct—the use of City resources for a non-City purpose—was iden-

tified in Board Rules § 1-13(b). Petitioner’s argument, taken to its natural end, would seemingly 

require the Board to promulgate administrative rules prohibiting all specific iterations of broader 

conduct prohibited by Board rule. Petitioner provides no legal support for that contention, and it 

nevertheless makes little sense as it would require the Board to foresee every single way in which 

a public servant could use City resources for a non-City purpose and codify a separate prohibition 

against each one. If a public servant engaged in conduct that violated the prohibition in an unpre-

dicted way, the Board would, in Petitioner’s view, be unable to enforce the Charter or its Board 

Rules. This cannot be the Charter’s intent. 

Moreover, because the Court finds that Petitioner’s prohibited conduct was adequately 

specified by Board rule and that the 2019 AO unambiguously put him on notice of the prohibition, 

and additionally that the potential penalty for a violation of Chapter 68 was set forth in Charter 
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§ 2606(b), the rule of lenity does not apply here to bar the $155,000 penalty. Petitioner, in any 

event, does not make any effort in his opposition to defend that rule’s application in these cir-

cumstances, whether on substantive grounds or by demonstrating that the rule applies outside 

of the criminal context. See People v. Badji, 36 N.Y.3d 393, 404 (2021) (discussing rule of lenity’s 

application to interpretation of ambiguous criminal statutes); People v. Green, 68 N.Y.2d 151, 153 

(1986) (“[I]f two constructions of a criminal statute are plausible, the one more favorable to the 

defendant should be adopted in accordance with the rule of lenity.” (internal quotation marks 

and citation omitted)). (See generally Pet’r’s Mem.) 

4. The Board’s Identification of Petitioner’s Campaign as an Entity 

that Could Pay the Security Detail’s Travel Costs Does Not Invali-

date Respondents’ Actions 

Petitioner next contends that Respondents’ actions are invalid because the 2019 AO iden-

tified Petitioner’s campaign as the entity that must pay Petitioner’s security detail’s ancillary 

travel costs. ALJ Casey rejected this argument in the OATH R&R, determining that the Board’s 

statement in the 2019 AO “should not be construed as a waiver of [the Board’s] authority to seek 

repayment of City resources” and that “[r]equiring repayment from one who benefits from the 

misuse of City resources for a non-City purpose is consistent with the statute and Board’s prece-

dents.” (OATH R&R at 22-23) The Court concludes that ALJ Casey’s determinations are not arbi-

trary or capricious. 

Petitioner’s argument again demonstrates his fundamental misapprehension of the pur-

pose and effect of the Board’s advisory opinions. Advisory opinions inform an inquiring public 

servant of the Board’s interpretation and application of Chapter 68 and the Board Rules to the 

specific factual scenarios presented to it in the public servant’s inquiry. If the inquiring public 

servant follows the Board’s advice in the responsive opinion, he or she is shielded from penalty 

or sanction. Here, when the Board advised Mr. Longani—and, in effect, Petitioner—in the 2019 

AO that Petitioner’s security detail’s travel costs “must be paid or reimbursed by the Mayor’s 

campaign committee” (2019 AO at 5), the Board’s advice came in the context of an analysis ex-

pressly constrained to whether the City could bear all costs associated with “out-of-City travel 

incident to the Mayor’s pursuit of non-City elective office for himself.” (Id. at 3) Contrary to Peti-

tioner’s assertion, the Board did not purport to exercise any jurisdiction over Petitioner’s 
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campaign—a jurisdiction that, as Petitioner correctly notes, the Board does not possess. But Peti-

tioner’s campaign committee is the vehicle through which he acts in relation to his seeking of 

elective office, and he controls it. It should, therefore, come as no surprise that the Board framed 

its advice as if Petitioner’s campaign committee would be paying on his behalf the costs that the 

City could not properly bear. And if Petitioner’s campaign committee had paid those costs, as the 

Board advised, then Petitioner could not have been found in violation of Board Rules § 1-13(b). 

That is the 2019 AO’s only significance. To have interpreted the 2019 AO in any other way is 

simply unreasonable. 

As ALJ Casey rationally determined, the 2019 AO did not constitute a waiver of the 

Board’s ability to enforce Chapter 68 and the Board Rules against Petitioner, who bore ultimate 

responsibility for his use of his NYPD security detail in compliance with the City’s conflicts-of-

interest laws and benefited from its misuse. Petitioner, not his campaign committee, was subject 

to Chapter 68 and the Board Rules; the Board could thus never have maintained an enforcement 

action against the campaign if it failed to reimburse the City for Petitioner’s security detail’s travel 

costs. The Board advising in the 2019 AO that Petitioner’s campaign committee could satisfy his 

obligations to the City under Chapter 68 on his behalf does not alter the fact that Petitioner is the 

party ultimately responsible for those obligations and subject to a Board enforcement action 

should he fail to meet them. 

For these reasons, the Court also does not perceive any due-process concern created by 

the 2019 AO. As ALJ Casey determined, based on Petitioner’s own testimony, Petitioner was 

aware or should have been aware of the Board’s advice in the 2019 AO. In light of the proper 

interpretation of the 2019 AO, there is no plausible claim that Petitioner was not on notice that he 

could be subject to an enforcement action by the Board for a violation of Board Rules § 1-13(b) if 

he ignored the Board’s advice. 

5. The Board Did Not Fail to Satisfy Chapter 68’s Consultation Re-

quirement 

Petitioner next contends that the penalty portion of the COIB Order is invalid because the 

Board failed to satisfy the consultation requirement contained in Charter §§ 2603(h)(3) and 

2606(b). Section 2603(h)(3) provides, in relevant part, that if the Board determines that a violation 

of Chapter 68 has occurred, the Board 
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shall, after consultation with the head of the agency served or formerly 

served by the public servant, or in the case of an agency head, with the 

mayor, issue an order either imposing such penalties provided for by this 

[Chapter 68] as it deems appropriate, or recommending such penalties to 

the head of the agency served or formerly served by the public servant, or 

in the case of an agency head, to the mayor . . . . 

Likewise, § 2606(b) conditions the Board’s authority to issue fines of up to $25,000 per violation 

on satisfaction of the same consultation requirement. Petitioner contends that the Board did not 

consult with either him or his successor, Mayor Eric Adams, prior to imposing penalties against 

him, thus invalidating that portion of the COIB Order. 

ALJ Casey rejected this argument, finding that “[t]he obvious design of the consultation 

requirement is to allow for input from the City official responsible for overseeing a public serv-

ant’s work.” (OATH R&R at 19) “When a Mayor, Comptroller, or Borough President violates the 

conflicts of interest laws,” ALJ Casey observed, “ there is no higher-ranking person to consult.” 

(Id.) Instead, these elected officials may, “[l]ike any other public servant,” “submit comments to 

the Board before imposition of a penalty.” (Id.) Petitioner’s contrary interpretation—effectively, 

that the Board “can never fine a former Mayor, Comptroller, or Borough President without con-

sulting with them before they leave office”—was, according to ALJ Casey, an illogical interpreta-

tion of the statutory language and not required by law. (Id.) 

Although it adopted the OATH R&R’s conclusions of law in full, the Board also wrote 

separately on the question in the COIB Order. The Board concluded that “because [Petitioner] 

was an executive branch elected official, [the consultation] requirement does not apply here.” 

(COIB Order at 2) 

Initially, Petitioner’s argument is not properly before the Court. Nowhere in the Verified 

Petition’s first or second causes of action does Petitioner allege that the Board’s failure to consult 

with him pursuant to Charter §§ 2603(h)(3) or 2606(b) constitutes grounds to invalidate the pen-

alty imposed by the COIB Order. (See generally Pet. ¶¶ 82-128) See Gonzalez v. Annucci, 171 A.D.3d 

1265, 1266 (3d Dep’t 2019) (“[P]etitioner’s claim that the Hearing Officer failed to address peti-

tioner’s asserted mental health issues was not raised in the verified petition and, as such, is not 

properly before this Court.”) Indeed, the Verified Petition makes no reference to Charter 

§§ 2603(h)(3) or 2606(b), and Petitioner only alleges that the Board failed to consult with him or 

“any of his Deputy Mayors, or the City Corporation Counsel” while Petitioner was in office or 
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with the current Mayor thereafter in the Verified Petition’s Statement of Facts section. (Pet. ¶ 77) 

Although Petitioner subsequently raised the argument in Petitioner’s Article 78 Brief (see NYSCEF 

Doc. 15 at 27-28), that is insufficient to properly put the issue before the Court. In an Article 78 

proceeding, the verified petition sets forth the grounds upon which the petitioner seeks review 

and reversal of the agency action, and a supporting memorandum of law, if one is even filed 

(nowhere in CPLR Article 78 is one required), may only provide the legal support for those 

grounds. A memorandum of law may not introduce new alleged grounds for reversal not in-

cluded in the verified petition. 

To the extent that it can be said that Petitioner has properly raised the issue through his 

allegation in the Statement of Facts, that allegation alleges that the Board failed to consult Peti-

tioner or “any of his Deputy Mayors, or the City Corporation Counsel . . . before levying its 

charges.” (Pet. ¶ 77) Neither Charter §§ 2603(h)(3) nor 2606(b) require consultation with a re-

spondent before the Board brings “charges” against a public servant.10 Rather, Charter 

§§ 2603(h)(3) and 2606(b) expressly require consultation only after hearing and before imposing 

any penalties. 

Respondents, however, do not raise any argument in their motion based on these issues. 

They instead address Petitioner’s non-consultation argument on substantive grounds. The Court 

will, therefore, do the same. 

“[A]s a general rule, the practical construction of the statute by the agency charged with 

implementing it, if not unreasonable, is entitled to deference by the courts.” Vill. of Scarsdale v. 

Jorling, 91 N.Y.2d 507, 516 (1998) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). “Deference is 

generally accorded to an administrative agency’s interpretation of statutes it enforces when the 

interpretation involves some type of specialized knowledge.” Belmonte v. Snashall, 2 N.Y.3d 560, 

565-66 (2004) (citation omitted). “By contrast, where the question is one of pure statutory reading 

and analysis, dependent only on accurate apprehension of legislative intent, there is little basis to 

rely on any special competence or expertise of the administrative agency. . . . In such circum-

stances, the judiciary need not accord any deference to the agency’s determination, and is free to 

 
 10 Chapter 68 does not use the term “charges,” so Petitioner must be referring either to the service of a Notice of 

Initial Determination of Probable Cause, pursuant to Charter § 2603(h)(1), or the initiation of an enforcement action 

before OATH by petition, pursuant to § 2603(h)(2). 
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ascertain the proper interpretation from the statutory language and legislative intent.” Id. at 566 

(internal quotation marks and citation omitted). 

Here, the Board, which was created by the 1988 Charter Revision to interpret and enforce 

Chapter 68, has interpreted Charter §§ 2603(h)(3) and 2606(b) not to require consultation after 

hearing and before the imposition of a penalty against a public servant who, like Petitioner, is an 

executive branch elected official. To the extent that any consultation is required, the Board has 

also interpreted that requirement to be satisfied by the public servant’s ability to participate in 

the enforcement proceeding and to submit comments on OATH’s report and recommendation 

prior to issuance of the Board’s order. 

In the COIB Order, the Board cites two prior Board decisions in support of its interpreta-

tion of the Charter. In COIB v. Markowitz, COIB Case No. 2009-181, OATH Index No. 1400/11 (July 

25, 2011), available at https://www.nyc.gov/assets/coib/downloads/pdf4/enf-dis/2009-181.pdf, the 

Board imposed a $20,000 fine against the then–Brooklyn Borough President Marty Markowitz for 

a violations of Charter § 2604(b)(3) resulting from his accepting of free travel and other accom-

modations for his wife to accompany him during international travel. Mr. Markowitz had re-

quested that the Board consult with the Mayor, pursuant to Charter § 2603(h)(3), before imposing 

the penalty. The Board declined to do so, writing in its Final Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, 

and Order: 

It is the view of the Board that the requirement of Charter Section 

2603(h)(3) that the Board consult with the Mayor before imposing a pen-

alty on an “agency head” was plainly not intended to include elected offi-

cials, such as Respondent, who are not appointed by, or responsible to, the 

Mayor. The clear purpose of the consultation requirement was to afford 

the City official directly responsible for overseeing a respondent’s work, 

and with the power to retain or discharge the respondent, the opportunity 

to weigh-in [sic] on the appropriate penalty, before final Board action. 

Consultation with the Mayor would not serve that purpose where, as here, 

the Respondent is an elected official not subject to oversight or removal by 

the Mayor. In such a case, any requirement to consult is with the elected 

official himself or herself, a consultation afforded Respondent here in his 

opportunity to submit a comment to the Board on the Report. . . . 

Id. at 4. Mr. Markowitz does not appear to have commenced an Article 78 proceeding challenging 

the Board’s order. 



155404/2023 Bill de Blasio v. New York City Conflict of Interest Board et al. Page 68 of 81 

Mot. Seq. No. 002 

The Board also relies on its prior decision in COIB v. Holtzman, COIB Case No. 93-121, 

OATH Index No. 581/94 (Apr. 3, 1996), available at https://www1.nyc.gov/assets/coib/down-

loads/pdf4/enf-dis/1993-121.pdf, wherein the Board fined then-Comptroller Elizabeth Holtzman 

$7,500 for violations of Charter § 2604(b)(3). In a footnote to its Decision and Order, the Board 

noted Charter § 2606(b)’s consultation requirement but concluded that, “[a]s the Respondent was 

an elected official, this requirement does not apply.” Id. at 41 n.3. There is no indication from the 

Board’s order, however, that Ms. Holtzman ever raised the consultation requirement in her argu-

ments before OATH or the Board. Mr. Holtzman subsequently commenced an Article 78 proceed-

ing challenging the Board’s order, but the First Department, Holtzman v. Oliensis, 240 A.D.2d 254 

(1st Dep’t 1997), and the Court of Appeals, Holtzman v. Oliensis, 91 N.Y.2d 488 (1998), both upheld 

it. Again, however, it does not appear that Ms. Holtzman ever challenged the Board’s order on 

the grounds that the Board had failed to satisfy the consultation requirement of Charter 

§§ 2603(h)(3) and 2606(b), because neither the First Department nor the Court of Appeals ever 

discusses that requirement. 

This Court, then, is seemingly the first to consider the validity of the Board’s interpretation 

of the consultation requirement in Charter §§ 2603(h)(3) and 2606(b), insofar as it applies to 

elected officials. 

To the extent that the Board has interpreted the consultation requirement not to apply to 

Petitioner because he was an executive branch elected official (i.e., the Mayor)—the only question 

actually before the Court—the Court determines that the Board’s interpretation is not only rea-

sonable but also correct. To decide questions of statutory interpretation, courts “turn first to the 

plain language of the statute as the best evidence of legislative intent.” Malta Town Centre I, Ltd. 

v. Town of Malta Bd. of Assessment Review, 3 N.Y.3d 563, 568 (2004); Belmonte, 2 N.Y.3d at 566 (en-

gaging in a “plain language reading” of the statute in question). It is the “accepted rule that all 

parts of a statute are intended to be given effect and that a statutory construction which renders 

one part meaningless should be avoided.” Artibee v. Home Place Corp., 28 N.Y.3d 739, 749 (2017) 

(internal quotation marks and citations omitted). At the same time, it is “a well-settled principle 

of statutory construction . . . [that] courts . . . will not blindly apply the words of a statute to arrive 

at an unreasonable or absurd result.” People v. Santi, 3 N.Y.3d 234, 242 (2004) (internal quotation 

marks and citations omitted); R.A. Bronson, Inc. v. Franklin Corr. Facility, 255 A.D.2d 723, 724 (3d 
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Dep’t 1998) (“It is axiomatic that in interpreting a statute, we should not do so in such a way as 

to reach an absurd result.”). 

The plain language of Charter §§ 2603(h)(3) and 2606(b) demonstrates that the consulta-

tion requirement does not apply to a mayor. Contrary to Petitioner’s contention, it is not a ques-

tion of whether a mayor qualifies as a “public servant” within the meaning of either section. As 

already determined herein, a mayor unquestionably is a “public servant” as that term is used 

throughout Chapter 68. The question, instead, is whether City voters and the Legislature intend 

for the mayor to be consulted when the mayor is the subject of the Board’s proposed penalties. The 

provisions in question clearly envision consulting with an official ranking higher than the public 

servant subject to the proposed penalties:  where the public servant subject to penalty is not an 

agency head, then the agency head is to be consulted; and where the public servant is an agency 

head, the mayor is to be consulted. The only way to read the relevant language of Charter 

§§ 2603(h)(3) and 2606(b), therefore, is that the intended purpose of the consultation requirement 

is to allow an official who oversees the work of a public servant subject to the Board’s enforcement 

action to provide input on the Board’s proposed or recommended penalties. No other agency 

official oversees the mayor’s work. 

The relevant language of Charter §§ 2603(h)(3) and 2606(b) must also be interpreted to 

mean that the mayor is not an “agency head” for purposes of the consultation requirement. The 

manner in which these two terms are juxtaposed in the language of the provisions—"in the case 

of an agency head, to the mayor”—suggests that one is not the other. This is significant because 

these provisions only contemplate consultation where the public servant is either a non–agency 

head or an agency head. Because the mayor is neither, based on a plain reading of the text of the 

relevant provisions, then the Board need not consult any other official when the mayor is the 

offender. 

Requiring the Board to consult with the mayor concerning penalties to be levied against 

him, therefore, does not comport with the consultation requirement’s purpose, is contrary to the 

plain text of the provisions in question, and is otherwise an absurd result that should be avoided. 

To the extent that the language of Charter §§ 2603(h)(3) and 2606(b) can be said to be am-

biguous, the Court’s and the Board’s interpretation of these provisions is consistent with the 
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purpose of the consultation requirement as explained by the Commission. In the Charter Revision 

Report, the Commission wrote that the consultation requirement “recognizes that agencies have 

a strong interest in the disciplining of their officers and employees.” (Charter Revision Report at 

166) “While the board is not required to adopt the views expressed by the agency,” the Commis-

sion wrote, “the agency head may raise issues or concerns the board will wish to consider in 

rendering a decision concerning the imposition of penalties.” (Id.) Thus, Charter § 2603(h)(3) re-

quires that the Board “consult with the head of the agency involved, [sic] (or if the public servant 

is an agency head, with the mayor), prior to imposing any penalties.” (Id. at 165-66) Again the 

intent, as expressed by the Charter Revision Commission, appears to be to allow a higher-ranking 

agency official to provide nonbinding input to the Board on its proposed penalties against a 

lower-ranking agency official over whom the former has disciplinary power. There is no higher-

ranking official to consult when the mayor is the subject of the Board’s enforcement action. And, 

again, there appears to be a distinction between the mayor and agency heads, with the former 

being distinct from the latter, and an intent that consultation only be required when the offending 

public servant is an agency head or lower-ranking public servant. 

Petitioner also contends that a failure to consult as required under Charter §§ 2603(h)(3) 

and 2606(b) raises due-process concerns. Even if mayors, and thus Petitioner, are subject to the 

consultation requirement, however, the Court does not perceive any due-process concerns arising 

from the Board’s failure to comply. Clearly, the consultation requirement is not meant to protect 

the offending public servant; rather, as the Charter and the Charter Revision Report indicate, the 

requirement recognizes the agency’s interest in the disciplining of its employees and the Board’s 

interest in considering the agency’s views when imposing penalties on the public servant. As Re-

spondents point out, the consultation is an ex parte discussion, the results of which (either favor-

able to the public servant or not) need not be disclosed under any provision of Chapter 68. This 

also strongly indicates that the consultation requirement is not related to the due-process rights 

of the offending public servant. 

More significantly, as Charter § 2603(h)(3) and (6) and the Charter Revision Report make 

clear, the Board is not required to adopt the consulted agency’s views. Petitioner fails to explain 

how his due-process rights could be impaired by failing to consult with him (or the current 
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mayor) when the Board can completely ignore his (or the current mayor’s) views for any reason 

or no reason at all. 

In any event, as the Court has determined, the consultation requirement of Charter 

§§ 2603(h)(3) and 2606(b) does not apply to Petitioner. Any complaints that Petitioner may other-

wise have about the due process afforded him by the underlying proceedings are meritless. Peti-

tioner was provided with notice of his alleged violations through service of a Notice of Initial 

Determination of Probable Cause and an opportunity to respond, which opportunity Petitioner 

took by filing an extensive response via the experienced and able counsel representing him 

herein. (PC Notice; Reisbaum Aff., Ex. H) Petitioner was then able to respond to the petition that 

the Board filed before OATH commencing the underlying enforcement action. Rules of Practice 

§ 1-24, OATH, https://www.nyc.gov/site/oath/trials/chapter-i-subchapter-c.page (last visited Jan. 

5, 2025). A hearing was subsequently held before an OATH ALJ, during which hearing Petitioner 

was again represented by experienced and able counsel and was able to, and did, present wit-

nesses, documentary evidence, and argument and cross-examine the Board’s witnesses. (See gen-

erally OATH Hrg. Tr.) The OATH ALJ then issued a comprehensive report and recommendation. 

(See generally OATH R&R) Significantly, Petitioner was then afforded the opportunity to submit 

a response to the OATH R&R within 30 days, pursuant to Board Rules § 2-03(h). (COIB Order at 

1) Petitioner, for whatever reason, did not do so. (Id.) Given the many opportunities that Petitioner 

had to present his case, there is no reasonable grounds to find that he was not afforded due pro-

cess of law here. 

v. Respondents’ Investigation Did Not Prejudice Petitioner 

Petitioner contends finally that he suffered prejudice because of the delay in the Board 

bringing this matter to hearing. Specifically, Petitioner contends that he was deprived of an ad-

vice-of-counsel defense by the delay in this matter proceeding to hearing before OATH until after 

Petitioner’s second, and last, term as Mayor ended. 

ALJ Casey rejected Petitioner’s arguments concerning both the delay and Petitioner’s 

claimed advice-of-counsel defense. As to the delay, ALJ Casey found that Petitioner had failed to 

demonstrate that it was attributable to the Board’s actions and not to the DOI’s investigation, and 

that the evidence in any case demonstrated that the DOI acted diligently and properly. As to the 

advice-of-counsel defense, ALJ Casey found that, essentially, such a defense was not available to 
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Petitioner, that Petitioner knew of the Board’s advice in the 2019 AO and acted in deliberate in-

difference to it, and that, in any event, Petitioner was not prevented from raising such a defense 

before OATH.  

For the reasons that follow, the Court finds that ALJ Casey, and thus the Board, did not 

act unreasonably in reaching these conclusions. 

1. The DOI’s Investigation Was Proper 

As ALJ Casey found, the Board asked the DOI to investigate Petitioner’s use of his security 

detail on campaign trips only a few months after he launched his campaign. (OATH R&R at 4) 

Indeed, the DOI launched its investigation contemporaneously with Petitioner ending his cam-

paign after four months in or about late August or early September 2019. The DOI, upon receiving 

the Board’s request, determined that it would be most efficient to investigate the matter in con-

junction with other matters that had been brought to the DOI’s attention involving the use of 

NYPD security details by Petitioner’s immediate family. The DOI explained that combining the 

investigations into one made sense because each would involve interviewing overlapping wit-

nesses. The DOI almost immediately requested that the NYPD provide it with documents con-

cerning their officers’ expenses incurred as a consequence of Petitioner’s campaign trips. The 

NYPD would not produce responsive documents until months later, in mid-March 2020, and its 

production was determined by the DOI to be incomplete. At that point, the onset of the COVID-

19 pandemic halted further NYPD cooperation with the DOI. After the pandemic subsided, the 

DOI followed up with the NYPD on outstanding requests, which were finally fulfilled on or about 

May 28, 201. The DOI also subpoenaed Petitioner’s campaign for documents relating to Peti-

tioner’s campaign trips. Additionally, the DOI interviewed perhaps dozens of individuals, in-

cluding, after multiple attempts to schedule their interviews, Petitioner and his wife in July 2021. 

The DOI then issued its 47-page report in October 2021, only three months after completing those 

interviews. 

Nothing about how the DOI conducted the investigation into Petitioner’s use of his secu-

rity detail strikes this Court as unreasonable or improper, especially in light of the unavoidable 

delay engendered by the COVID-19 pandemic. 
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Petitioner’s main criticism of the DOI’s investigation is that it could have been avoided 

altogether if the DOI had simply relied on Petitioner’s campaign’s filings with the FEC. ALJ Casey 

rejected that argument, concluding that Petitioner’s “campaign filings did not show the travel 

expenses that NYPD incurred,” and, thus, “[f]or that information,” ALJ Casey concluded that 

“DOI needed documents from NYPD[,] and it needed to compare the information that it received 

from NYPD with the information provided by [Petitioner] and his campaign.” Petitioner does not 

allege or argue that the FEC filings included the NYPD’s expenses information, only that they 

showed that the campaign had not made any payments or reimbursements to the NYPD. That 

information, however, only gets the Board and the DOI part of the way; they clearly needed in-

formation directly from the NYPD and Petitioner’s campaign to determine the total number of 

campaign trips on which Petitioner or his immediate family were accompanied by an NYPD se-

curity detail and the NYPD’s expenses incurred for providing protection on such trips. ALJ Ca-

sey’s conclusion, therefore, was reasonable. 

Indeed, even if the FEC filings had shown the security detail’s travel-related expenses, this 

Court is not prepared to hold that it was unreasonable for the Board and the DOI to conduct their 

own investigation to verify the veracity of the filings based on firsthand NYPD and campaign 

documents. 

2. Respondents Did Not Deprive Petitioner of an Advice-of-Counsel 

Defense 

Petitioner has failed to demonstrate that he would have been entitled to an advice-of-

counsel defense in these circumstances. Strikingly, in every submission that Petitioner has made 

here—his Verified Petition, his memorandum in support thereof, and his memorandum in oppo-

sition to the motion—Petitioner has not once supported his claim that he was entitled to an ad-

vice-of-counsel defense by reference to law. He has not presented the Court with any caselaw 

setting forth a standard for when an advice-of-counsel defense is available or showing—by, at the 

very least, analogy—that such a defense is available in the circumstances at issue in this matter. 

He instead simply makes the claim that he would have been entitled to such a defense and ex-

pects—or hopes—that the Court accepts it. But the Court is not inclined to do so without some 

basis in law and analysis particular to the circumstances in question put forward by Petitioner, 

the party claiming the availability of the defense. 
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Respondents, by contrast, claim that no such defense would have been available to Peti-

tioner for a number of reasons. One speaks directly to the Court’s concern. Respondents argue 

that Petitioner’s alleged advice-of-counsel defense “would fail since the Charter does not counte-

nance reliance on advice from a City employee that conflicts with [Board] guidance.” (Reply 

Mem. at 12) To support their argument, Respondents rely on a number of Board orders, including 

COIB v. Capetanakis, COIB Case No. 99-157, OATH Index No. 604/01, 2001 WL 34036600 (July 16, 

2001). In that proceeding, the respondent argued that his actions found to have violated the City’s 

conflicts-of-interest laws were authorized by the Chairman of Community Board 10. Id. at 4. The 

Board rejected that defense, holding that “no community board chair or, indeed, any other public 

servant, except the Board, may authorize an action otherwise prohibited by conflicts of interest 

law.” Id. In support of its holding, the Board cited to Charter § 2603(c), which authorizes and 

requires the Board to “render advisory opinions with respect to all matters covered by this chap-

ter.” 

In the Court’s view, Respondents’ argument is correct. The Charter created an entity, the 

Board, specifically charged with interpreting and enforcing the City’s conflicts-of-interest laws 

and, additionally, provided a mechanism by which public servants, like Petitioner, could directly 

request the Board’s interpretation and application of those laws to particular contemplated ac-

tions. The advisory opinions that the Board is obligated to issue, furthermore, are binding to the 

extent that a public servant cannot be held liable for violating the City’s conflicts-of-interest laws 

if he or she follows the Board’s advice. In these unique circumstances, wherein any public servant 

can seek and receive binding advice on the meaning and application of the City’s conflicts-of-

interest laws from the very entity charged by the Charter to interpret and enforce those laws, and 

wherein Petitioner in fact sought and received such an opinion, an advice-of-counsel defense—which 

would simply assert that another attorney disagreed with the Board’s advice—does not appear 

to be justified. This conclusion is especially appropriate here, based on Capetanakis, because the 

attorney who allegedly offered the contradictory advice was Mr. Longani, counsel to the Mayor 

and himself a public servant of the City—a public servant not charged with interpreting the City’s 

conflicts-of-interest laws. 
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In the absence of any contradictory, on-point legal analysis from Petitioner, the Court is 

constrained to conclude that Respondents have demonstrated that no advice-of-counsel defense 

was legally available to Petitioner. 

Petitioner’s attempt to invoke an advice-of-counsel defense fails on an additional ground. 

Petitioner’s argument that the delay in the underlying proceeding until he was no longer Mayor 

prevented him from asserting an advice-of-counsel defense presumes that he could have waived 

the attorney-client privilege protecting his communications with Mr. Longani from disclosure 

while he was still Mayor. It is axiomatic that the attorney-client privilege belongs to the client and 

can only be waived by him or her. CPLR § 4503(a); People v. Shapiro, 308 N.Y. 453, 459 (1955). So, 

did the privilege belong to Petitioner when he was Mayor? Petitioner never specifically alleges 

that it did in his Verified Petition, and he never specifically argues that it did, with appropriate 

legal support, in any of his supporting papers in this matter. Just like his conclusory assertion that 

he was legally entitled to an advice-of-counsel defense here, Petitioner’s right to waive any appli-

cable privilege—one of the foundational premises of his argument—is completely unsupported. 

It is Petitioner’s burden to demonstrate “the existence of circumstances justifying its recognition.” 

Bloodgood v. Lynch, 293 N.Y.308, 314 (1944); In re Nassau Cty. Grand Jury Subpoena Duces Tecum 

Dated June 24, 2003, 4 N.Y.3d 665, 678 (2005). 

In fact, the only documents in the record on this motion that even speak to who held the 

privilege, and thus who could have waived it, indicate that the privilege belonged to the City, not 

to the office of the Mayor. (de Blasio Interview Tr. at 68:4-16 (DOI Commissioner Garnett states, 

“So I just want to clarify for the record that the conversations between Mr. Longani and yourself, 

the privilege belongs to the City, and DOI is incorporated within that privilege. . . . We just can’t 

disclose them to the public or any third party without the permission of corporation coun-

sel. . . .”); OATH Hrg. Tr. at 125:3-16, 126:2-6 (“I can state that the . . . transcript says, that former 

commissioner says that . . . the privilege belongs to the city.”), 128:7-11 (“[S]he stated that the 

privilege belonged to the city.”)) Petitioner has not even attempted to demonstrate that, assuming 

the privilege belonged to the City, that his ability to waive the privilege was coextensive with the 

City’s—i.e., that he was “the City” for purposes of holding and waiving the privilege. 

Petitioner’s counsel’s communications with the New York City Law Department (the 

“Law Department”) also do not provide any support for his position. In those communications, 
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Petitioner’s counsel requested confirmation that the Law Department’s “position that a former 

mayor may not, as a now private citizen, waive attorney-client privilege to permit such testimony 

from his former Counsel to the Mayor,” and the Law Department confirmed only “that former 

mayor may not waive attorney-client privilege in the circumstances you have described.” (Celli 

Dec. Aff., Ex. B (“Law Dep’t Email”) (NYSCEF Doc. 46)) Nowhere does the Law Department con-

firm that Petitioner held the privilege when he was Mayor and could have waived it then—prob-

ably because that was not the question that Petitioner’s counsel asked. Petitioner himself seems 

to allude to this fact, because he argues that “later communications with the [Law Department] 

all but confirmed . . . [that] the attorney-client privilege created by the Mayor’s counsel’s [sic] be-

longed to the sitting Mayor.” (Pet’r’s Mem. at 18 (emphasis added)) “All but confirmed” means, 

of course, that it was not expressly confirmed. 

Even if an advice-of-counsel defense were legally available to Petitioner here, and even if 

Petitioner had demonstrated that he could have waived while he was still Mayor the privilege 

protecting his communications with Mr. Longani from disclosure, Petitioner’s attempt to invoke 

an advice-of-counsel defense fails on yet another ground. The transcript of Petitioner’s own in-

terview with the DOI—a document that Petitioner himself submitted in opposition to the mo-

tion—demonstrates that he does not have a valid advice-of-counsel defense. As Respondents ar-

gue, Petitioner never testified that he received clear advice that his conduct contrary to the Board’s 

advice in the 2019 AO was legal. Markowski v. S.E.C., 34 F.3d 99, 105 (2d Cir. 1994) (holding that 

invoke an advice-of-counsel defense, a party must, among other things, show that he “received 

advice that his conduct was legal”). Instead, as ALJ Casey found, he “repeatedly told interviewers 

that he had received conflicting advice” and that he “did ‘not have a 100% clear understanding’ 

of the Board’s position.” (OATH R&R at 5-6) Contrary to Petitioner’s claim, his testimony that “I 

remember [Longani] reporting what he regarded as a very clear conversation with the counsel to 

the Conflicts of Interest Board. . . . [and] reporting what he viewed as absolutely contradictory or 

different” (de Blasio Interview Tr. at 67: 10-22) in no way shows that Petitioner received clear 

advice from Mr. Longani that Petitioner’s proposed conduct would be legal. 

Finally, Petitioner’s counsel’s communications with the Law Department show that he 

never actually requested that the City waive the attorney-client privilege as it applied to Peti-

tioner’s communications with Mr. Longani. (See generally Law Dep’t Email) Petitioner cannot, 
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therefore, demonstrate that he was actually prevented from presenting Mr. Longani as a witness 

at the OATH hearing. 

3. Petitioner Has Failed to Demonstrate That Any Delay Prejudiced 

Him 

Respondents contend that the Court of Appeals requires a court to evaluate the reasona-

bleness of an administrative delay pursuant to four factors:  “(1) the nature of the private interest 

allegedly compromised by the delay; (2) the actual prejudice to the private party; (3) the causal 

connection between the conduct of the parties and the delay; and (4) the underlying public policy 

advanced by governmental regulation.” Cortlandt Nursing Home v. Axelrod, 66 N.Y.2d 169, 178 

(1985). Petitioner does not dispute that the analysis is conducted by weighing these four Cortlandt 

factors. 

“Critical to an assessment of the reasonableness of administrative delay is whether the 

private party has incurred substantial prejudice by reason of the delay.” Id. at 180. Petitioner al-

leges that the delay prejudiced him because he was unable to assert an advice-of-counsel defense. 

But, as the Court has just explained above, Petitioner fails to demonstrate that he was entitled to 

such a defense or that he was deprived of it by the Board’s actions. The first and second factors 

weighs so heavily in Respondents’ favor, therefore, that the Court’s consideration of the other 

factors should not even be necessary. 

Nevertheless, the third factor also ways heavily in Respondents’ favor. As ALJ Casey 

found, Petitioner did not demonstrate that the Board was responsible for any delay in commenc-

ing the enforcement action. Indeed, the testimony adduced during the OATH hearing, which tes-

timony Petitioner has submitted nothing to refute, demonstrates that the overwhelming majority 

of the delay in commencing the enforcement action was attributable to the DOI’s investigation—

which, again, was reasonable and proper. The Board received the DOI’s report in October 2021, 

only approximately two months before Petitioner was to leave office. The Board then followed 

the procedures set forth in Chapter 68 and the Board Rules, designed to provide respondents like 

Petitioner due process. Petitioner cannot plausibly claim that the Board engaged in an unjustified 

and improper delay by following those procedures. And it is unreasonable to expect that the 

Board could have followed those procedures, commenced an enforcement action, and brought 

that enforcement action to a hearing before OATH—an aspect of this whole process that Petitioner 
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has failed to demonstrate that the Board had any control over—within the two months in which 

Petitioner remained in office. 

Accordingly, the Court concludes that ALJ Casey and the Board acted rationally and in 

line with the facts when they rejected Petitioner’s claims concerning any delay and any prejudice 

resulting therefrom. 

C. Section 1983 

Petitioner argues that the failure of the City to pay the travel costs of his security detail in 

connection with his presidential campaign violates his First and Fourteenth Amendment Rights. 

Respondents, in turn, argue that Petitioner never raised his constitutional claims before OATH or 

the Board and thus they are unpreserved for review by this Court. Peckham, 12 N.Y.3d at 430 (“As 

it is well settled that an argument may not be raised for the first time before the courts in an article 

78 proceeding, this argument is not properly before us.” (internal quotation marks and citation 

omitted)). Petitioner essentially concedes that these arguments were not raised below but con-

tends that they could not have been raised then because they were not yet ripe. The Court is not 

convinced by Petitioner’s argument. 

According to Petitioner, his constitutional claims are “challenges to the [COIB] Order as 

applied.” (Pet’r’s Mem. at 20) As such, “these claims did not ripen until the administrative pro-

ceedings were complete, the Board had adopted the ALJ’s finding, and the penalty became final 

binding.” (Id.) Petitioner claims that he “was not constitutionally aggrieved until the Order was 

issued.” (Id.) The only case that Petitioner relies on for the substantive proposition that he was 

not constitutionally aggrieved until the COIB Order was issued is Calvey v. Town Board of North 

Elba, No. 8:20-CV-711 (TJM/CFH), 2021 WL 1146283 (N.D.N.Y. Mar. 25, 2021). The circumstances 

of that case, however, are distinguishable. There, the question was whether an as-applied takings 

claim was ripe for challenge in federal court. In reciting the applicable law, the district court noted 

that a “plaintiff is no longer required to exhaust state procedures for obtaining just compensation 

before bringing her takings claim to federal court,” id. at *5 (quoting Martell v. City of St. Albans, 

441 F. Supp. 3d 6, 21 (D. Vt. 2020)), but was instead required to show only “that a state regulatory 

agency . . . render[ed] a final decision on the matter before a takings claim can proceed,” id. (quot-

ing Sagaponack Realty, LLC v. Vill of Sagaponack, 778 F. App’x 63, 64 (2d Cir. 2020)). This case has 

nothing to do with whether Petitioner could have challenged the Board’s proposed application 
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of the Chapter 68 and the Board Rules to the facts of his case in the OATH proceeding, or whether 

failure to do so preserves those claims for review in this subsequent Article 78 proceeding. Peti-

tioner has made no attempt to explain why the “specific ripeness requirements applicable to land 

use disputes” developed for and applied in the federal courts, Sunrise Detox V, LLC v. City of White 

Plains, 769 F.3d 118, 122 (2d Cir. 2014), should apply to his claims here. As Respondents point out, 

New York State courts regularly dismiss constitutional claims raised for the first time in Article 

78 petitions. See Schulz v. Sate, 86 N.Y.2d 225, 232 (1995) (“A constitutional claim that may require 

the resolution of factual issues reviewable at the administrative level should initially be addressed 

to the administrative agency . . . so that the necessary factual record can be estab-

lished. . . . [M]erely asserting a constitutional violation will not excuse a litigant from first pursu-

ing administrative remedies.” (citations omitted)); Esperon v. Kelly, 125 A.D.3d 460, 460 (1st Dep’t 

2015) (“To the extent that petitioner frames his arguments as constitutional claims that his rights 

under the Second Amendment were violated, they are unpreserved; such arguments were not 

advanced at the agency level.” (citation omitted)); Health Tea Corp. v. N.Y.C. Loft Bd., 162 A.D.2d 

152, 153 (1st Dep’t 1990) (“The landlord’s constitutional argument was not raised before the ad-

ministrative body, and is therefore not preserved for review by an article 78 court.” (citation omit-

ted)). Petitioner provides no countervailing caselaw that is not distinguishable.  

The Court sees no reason why Petitioner could not have argued before OATH that the 

manner in which the Board was attempting to enforce Charter § 2604(b)(2)  and Board Rules § 1-

13(b) against him would constitute violations of his constitutional rights in the same manner that 

Petitioner now argues that they do. A claim that the Board was seeking to apply the Charter and 

Board Rules to Petitioner in an unconstitutional manner—i.e., an as-applied challenge—would 

seem to necessitate the building of a factual record just as Petitioner actually did during the OATH 

hearing. Schulz, 86 N.Y.2d at 232. Indeed, the factual allegations underlying Petitioner’s constitu-

tional claims are the same facts that he elicited, or attempted to elicit, during the OATH hearing. 

Petitioner should have made these claims below, and because he did not, they are unpreserved 

for review. 

Even if Petitioner’s constitutional claims are preserved for review, they are meritless. In-

deed, Petitioner barely defends those claims against Respondents’ arguments for dismissal, 

spending all of a single paragraph in his memorandum of law addressing Respondents’ extensive 



155404/2023 Bill de Blasio v. New York City Conflict of Interest Board et al. Page 80 of 81 

Mot. Seq. No. 002 

argument why they should be dismissed on the merits. (Pet’r’s Mem. at 20-21) That paragraph, 

furthermore, makes perfunctory arguments only concerning the substantive validity of Peti-

tioner’s First Amendment claim; it makes no mention whatsoever of his Fourteenth Amendment 

claim. Thus, the Court concludes that Petitioner has, wisely, chosen not to defend that claim and 

only addresses the First Amendment claim. 

Petitioner’s single argument in opposition to dismissal of his First Amendment claim is 

that, contrary to Respondents’ position, the COIB Order served no legitimate state interest “in 

ensuring government resources are not put towards non-government purposes,” because Re-

spondents concede that protecting the mayor is a legitimate government purpose. (Id. at 20) But 

that argument depends entirely on the invalidity of the Board’s distinction between the salary 

and overtime of Petitioner’s security detail serving the City purpose of protecting the mayor and 

its ancillary travel costs only serving Petitioner’s personal interest in seeking non-City elective 

office. The Court has already decided that the Board’s distinction, based on its proffered reason-

ing, is not arbitrary or capricious. Petitioner may not have asked the NYPD to provide him with 

the security detail during his campaign trips, but the Board unequivocally informed him prior to 

his campaign launch that the City’s conflicts-of-interest laws required reimbursement of the se-

curity detail’s travel expenses. This did not unduly burden Petitioner’s First Amendment rights—

he was still free to campaign; he simply had to pay for the ancillary travel costs of his security 

detail personally or through his campaign funds, or otherwise choose not to have the detail ac-

company him. As Respondents rightly argue, the Supreme Court has repeatedly “reject[ed] the 

notion that First Amendment rights are somehow not fully realized unless they are subsidized by 

the State.” Regan v. Tax’n With Representation of Wash., 461 U.S. 540, 546 (1983); Fed. Election Comm’n 

v. Mass. Citizens for Life, Inc., 479 U.S. 238, 256 n.9 (1986) (“[T]here is no right to have speech sub-

sidized by the Government.”). 

The Court has considered the additional contentions of the parties not specifically ad-

dressed herein. To the extent that any relief requested by the parties was not addressed by the 

Court, it is hereby denied. 

Accordingly, it is hereby: 






